### TECHNISCHE UNIVERSITÄT MÜNCHEN Lehrstuhl für Robotik, Künstliche Intelligenz und Echtzeitsysteme

### Heterogeneous Computing for Advanced Driver Assistance Systems

Xiebing Wang

Vollständiger Abdruck der von der Fakultät der Informatik der Technischen Universität München zur Erlangung des akademischen Grades eines

Doktors der Naturwissenschaften (Dr. rer. nat.)

genehmigten Dissertation.

Vorsitzender:	Prof. Dr. Daniel Cremers
Prüfer der Dissertation:	1. Prof. DrIng. habil. Alois Knoll
	2. Assistant Prof. Xuehai Qian, Ph.D
	3. Prof. Dr. Kai Huang

Die Dissertation wurde am 25.04.2019 bei der Technischen Universität München eingereicht und durch die Fakultät für Informatik am 17.09.2019 angenommen.

#### Abstract

Advanced Driver Assistance Systems (ADAS) is an indispensable functionality in state-ofthe-art intelligent cars and the deployment of ADAS in automated driving vehicles would become a standard in the near future. Current research and development of ADAS still faces several problems. First of all, the huge amount of perception data captured by massive vehicular sensors have posed severe computation challenge for the implementation of real-time ADAS applications. Secondly, conventional automotive Electronic Control Units (ECUs) have to cope with the knotty issues such as technology discontinuation and the consequent tedious hardware/software (HW/SW) maintenance. Lastly, ADAS should be seamlessly shifted towards a mixed and scalable system in which safety, security, and real-time critical components must coexist with the less critical counterparts, while nextgeneration computation resources can still be added flexibly so as to provide sufficient computing capacity.

This thesis gives a systematic study of applying the emerging heterogeneous computing techniques to the design of an automated driving module and the implementation of real-time ADAS applications. First of all, this thesis proposes a high-performance and heterogeneous ECU called h<sup>2</sup>ECU, for automated driving. By incorporating multiple Multi-Processor System-on-Chips (MPSoCs), Graphic Processing Units (GPUs), and Field Programmable Gate Arrays (FPGAs) into the module, h<sup>2</sup>ECU can provide sufficient computing power while maintaining high scalability. With this platform, several typical ADAS applications are customized to investigate the performance and energy tradeoff in the heterogeneous system. Subsequently, this thesis gives a detailed procedure that helps guide the performance optimization of parallelized ADAS applications in the heterogeneous system. Last but not least, a hybrid framework that combines source-level static code analysis and trace-based dynamic simulation is proposed to fast and accurately predict the performance of running parallel kernels on the representative GPU accelerator. Based on this framework, this thesis further gives a solution to efficiently prune the vast program design space in order to locate the optimal program design configurations.

#### Zusammenfassung

Advanced Driver Assistance Systems (ADAS) ist eine unverzichtbare Funktion in intelligenten Automobilen auf dem neuesten Stand der Technik. Der Einsatz von ADAS in automatisierten Fahrzeugen würde in naher Zukunft zum Standard werden. Die derzeitige Forschung und Entwicklung von ADAS ist nach wie vor mit mehreren Problemen verbunden. Vor allem die enorme Menge an Wahrnehmungsdaten, die von massiven Fahrzeugsensoren erfasst werden, stellte die Implementierung von Echtzeit-ADAS-Anwendungen vor große Herausforderungen. Zweitens müssen herkömmliche Automobilindustrie Elektronische Steuergeräte (ECUs) der Automobilindustrie mit den kniffligen Problemen wie der Einstellung der Technologie und der damit verbundenen langwierigen Wartung von Hardware/Software (HW/SW) fertig werden. Schließlich sollte ADAS nahtlos auf ein gemischtes und skalierbares System umgestellt werden, in dem Sicherheit und kritische Echtzeitkomponenten mit den weniger kritischen Pendants zusammenleben müssen, während die Rechenressourcen der nächsten Generation noch flexibel hinzugefügt werden können, um ausreichend Rechenleistung bereitzustellen Kapazität.

In dieser Arbeit wird systematisch untersucht, wie die aufkommenden heterogenen Computertechniken auf den Entwurf eines automatisierten Fahrmoduls und die Implementierung von Echtzeit-ADAS-Anwendungen angewendet werden können. In dieser Arbeit wird zunächst ein hochleistungsfähiges und heterogenes Steuergerät mit dem Namen h<sup>2</sup>ECU für automatisiertes Fahren vorgeschlagen. Durch die Integration mehrerer Multi-Prozessor-System-on-Chips (MPSoCs), Grafikprozessoreinheiten (GPUs) und Feldprogrammierbare Gate-Arrays (FPGAs) in das Modul kann das Steuergerät h<sup>2</sup>ECU eine ausreichende Rechenleistung bei hoher Skalierbarkeit bereitstellen. Mit dieser Plattform werden mehrere typische ADAS-Anwendungen angepasst, um die Leistung und den Energiekompromiss im heterogenen System zu untersuchen. Anschließend wird in dieser Arbeit ein detailliertes Verfahren beschrieben, das die Leistungsoptimierung parallelisierter ADAS-Anwendungen im heterogenen System unterstützt. Zu guter Letzt wird ein hybrider Rahmen vorgeschlagen, das statische Quellcode-Analyse und dynamische Simulation auf Basis von Spuren kombiniert, um die Leistung von parallelen Kerneln auf dem repräsentativen GPU-Beschleuniger schnell und genau vorherzusagen. Basierend auf diesem Rahmen bietet diese Arbeit eine Lösung, um den großen Programmdesignbereich effizient zu beschneiden, um die optimalen Programmdesignkonfigurationen zu finden.

#### Acknowledgements

Time flies. Four years of the PhD study has thoroughly remoulded myself and endowed me with the dedication to scientific research and the passion to life. I would like to give my sincere thanks to those who help and accompany me during my PhD life.

The foremost thanks go to my supervisor, Prof. Dr. Alois Knoll, for offering me the opportunity of pursuing the PhD study and giving me continuous guidance and encouragement on my research topic. Without his support, this thesis would not have been possible.

I would also like to thank Prof. Dr. Kai Huang for his inspirations and constructive suggestions on the research direction.

I would like to thank: Dr. Biao Hu, Dr. Long Cheng, Dr. Gang Chen, Dr. Guang Chen, Dr. Feihu Zhang, and Dr. Caixia Cai for their valuable advices on my research; Zhenshan Bing, Mingchuan Zhou, Xiang Gao, and Zhuangyi Jiang for their companionship.

Special thanks go to Amy Bücherl, Ute Lomp, Gertrud Eberl, and all my former and current colleagues in the Chair of Robotics, Artificial Intelligence and Real-time Systems for their help and support.

Last but not the least, I would like to thank my beloved family for supporting me spiritually throughout my PhD study and my life in general.

The work presented in this thesis is supported in part by the China Scholarship Council (CSC) under the Grant Number 201506270152. This support is gratefully acknowledged.

## Contents

Li	List of Abbreviations ix				ix		
Li	ist of Figures xiii						
Li	List of Tables						
1	Intro	oductio	n		1		
	1.1	Motiva	tions		. 3		
	1.2	Thesis	Contributi	ons	. 4		
	1.3	Thesis	Structure		. 6		
2	h²E0	CU: a H	igh-perfo	ormance and Heterogeneous ECU for Automated Driving	9		
	2.1	Overvi	.ew		. 10		
	2.2	Related	l Work		. 11		
	2.3	System	n Architect	ure and Implementation	. 12		
		2.3.1	Architect	ure Design	. 12		
		2.3.2 Hardware Implementation					
		2.3.3	On-vehic	le Connection	. 15		
	2.4	Evalua	tion and D	viscussion	. 16		
		2.4.1	Evaluatio	n Setup	. 16		
			2.4.1.1	Road Lane Detection (RLD)	. 17		
			2.4.1.2	Traffic Sign Recognition (TSR)	. 18		
		2.4.2	Results a	nd Analysis	. 18		
			2.4.2.1	Road Lane Detection (RLD)	. 18		
			2.4.2.2	Traffic Sign Recognition (TSR)	. 19		
		2.4.3	Discussio	n	. 21		
	2.5	Summa	ary		. 21		

#### CONTENTS

3	Desi	ign of A	ADAS Ap	plications on Heterogeneous Platforms	23
	3.1	Overv	iew		24
	3.2	2 Related Work			
		3.2.1	Lane De	tection Techniques	25
		3.2.2	Accelera	tion of ADAS Applications on Heterogeneous Platforms	26
	3.3	p-LDA	: Particle-	filter-based Lane Detection Algorithm	27
		3.3.1	Algorith	m Design	27
			3.3.1.1	Pre-processing	27
			3.3.1.2	Lane Detection	28
			3.3.1.3	Lane Tracking	29
			3.3.1.4	Redetection Checking	30
		3.3.2	Parallel	and Heterogeneous Implementation	30
			3.3.2.1	Parallel Implementation	30
			3.3.2.2	Heterogeneous Implementation	31
			3.3.2.3	Workload Balance Scheme	33
	3.4	r-LDA	: Ransac-b	based Lane Detection Algorithm	34
		3.4.1	Algorith	m Design	34
			3.4.1.1	Vanishing Point Estimation	35
			3.4.1.2	ROI Bounding	36
			3.4.1.3	Top-view Mapping & Homography Matrix Adaption	38
			3.4.1.4	On-line Iterative Processing	39
		3.4.2	Parallel	and Heterogeneous Implementation	40
			3.4.2.1	Parallel Implementation	40
			3.4.2.2	Heterogeneous Implementation	41
			3.4.2.3	Optimization for Heterogeneous Executions	42
	3.5	Evalua	tion Resu	lts	43
		3.5.1	Evaluati	on Setup	43
		3.5.2	Results a	and Analysis	44
			3.5.2.1	<i>p</i> -LDA: Particle-filter-based Lane Detection Algorithm	44
			3.5.2.2	<i>r</i> -LDA: Ransac-based Lane Detection Algorithm	48
	3.6	Summ	ary		52

#### CONTENTS

4	Perf	forman	ce Optim	ization of ADAS Applications in Heterogeneous Systems	55
	4.1	Overvi	iew		56
	4.2	Related	d Work		57
	4.3	Optim	ization Pro	ocedure	58
		4.3.1	Profiling		59
		4.3.2	Compute	e Unit Replication (CR)	59
		4.3.3	Loop Un	rolling and Memory Access Coalescing (LU)	59
		4.3.4	Accelera	tor Execution Overlapping (EO)	60
		4.3.5	Dynamic	cal Workload Tuning (DT)	61
		4.3.6	Applicat	ion-oriented Optimization (AO)	62
			4.3.6.1	<i>p</i> -LDA: Particle-filter-based Lane Detection Algorithm	62
			4.3.6.2	<i>r</i> -LDA: Ransac-based Lane Detection Algorithm	64
		4.3.7	Discussio	on	64
	4.4	Evalua	tion Resul	lts	64
		4.4.1	Evaluatio	on Setup	64
		4.4.2	Profiling	Results	66
			4.4.2.1	<i>p</i> -LDA: Particle-filter-based Lane Detection Algorithm	66
			4.4.2.2	<i>r</i> -LDA: Ransac-based Lane Detection Algorithm	66
		4.4.3	Optimiza	ation Results	66
			4.4.3.1	Compute Unit Replication (CR)	66
			4.4.3.2	Loop Unrolling and Memory Access Coalescing (LU)	69
			4.4.3.3	Accelerator Execution Overlapping (EO)	70
			4.4.3.4	Dynamical Workload Tuning (DT)	71
			4.4.3.5	Application-oriented Optimization (AO)	72
		4.4.4	Discussio	on	72
			4.4.4.1	Performance Benefit	72
			4.4.4.2	Scalability Analysis	74
	4.5	Summ	ary		75
5	Perf	forman	ce Estima	ation for OpenCL Kernels on GPUs	77
	5.1	Overvi	iew		78
	5.2	Related	d Work		79
	5.3	Frame	work Over	rview	81
	5.4	Source	-level Ana	alysis	82

6

	5.4.1	LLVM analyzeKernel Pass
		5.4.1.1 IR Instruction Pruning 82
		5.4.1.2         Loop Bound Analysis         83
		5.4.1.3 CFG Branch Extraction
	5.4.2	Runtime Behavior Analysis    84
		5.4.2.1 Warp-based Branch Analysis
		5.4.2.2 Execution Trace Generation
		5.4.2.3 Cache Behavior Analysis
		5.4.2.4 Discussion
5.5	Trace-	pased Simulation
	5.5.1	IR Instruction Pipeline
		5.5.1.1 Determining the Number of Active Work Groups
		5.5.1.2 Determining the Latencies of the Arithmetic and Memory Access
		Operations
	5.5.2	Calculating the Trace Simulation Time
	5.5.3	Discussion and summary
5.6	Evalua	tion Results
	5.6.1	Evaluation Setup    95
	5.6.2	Prediction Results
		5.6.2.1 Accuracy
		5.6.2.2         Simulation Time Cost         100
5.7	Case S	udy with Lane Detection
5.8	Summa	102
Des	ign Spa	ce Pruning for OpenCL Kernels on GPUs 103
6.1	Overvi	ew
6.2	Related	l Work
6.3	Proble	n Statement
6.4	Frame	vork
	6.4.1	Framework Overview
	6.4.2	Static Analysis Module
		6.4.2.1 Duplicated Trace Pruning
		6.4.2.2 Inferior Pipeline Elimination
	6.4.3	Dynamical Simulation Module

#### CONTENTS

		6.4.4	Discussio	on				 	 	 •••	 	112
	6.5	Evalua	tion Resul	ts				 	 	 	 	112
		6.5.1	Evaluatio	on Setup				 	 	 	 	112
		6.5.2	Results .					 	 	 	 	113
			6.5.2.1	Design Spac	e Reduct	ion .		 	 	 	 	113
			6.5.2.2	Search Qua	ity			 	 	 	 	115
			6.5.2.3	Search Cost				 	 	 	 	115
	6.6	Summa	ary					 	 	 	 	116
7	Con	clusion	and Futu	ıre Work								117
	7.1	Main C	Contributio	ons				 	 	 	 	117
	7.2	Discus	sion					 	 	 	 	118
	7.3	Future	Work					 	 	 	 	119
Lis	t of I	Publica	tions									121
Re	References 12:							123				

# List of Abbreviations

ACC	Adaptive Cruise Control
ADAS	Advanced Driver Assistance Systems
BEV	Bird-Eye View
CAN	Controller Area Network
CES	Consumer Electronics Show
CFG	Control Flow Graph
CNN	Convolutional Neural Network
COTS	Commercial Off-The-Shelf
CPU	Central Processing Unit
DAG	Directed Acyclic Graph
DIP	Digital Image Processing
ECU	Electronic Control Unit
EMS	Engine Management System
EPS	Electric Power Steering
ESC	Electronic Speed Control
FPGA	Field Programmable Gate Array
FPU	Floating Point Unit
GCDC	Grand Cooperative Driving Challenge

#### LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

GPS	Global Positioning System
GPU	Graphic Processing Unit
HD	High Definition
HPC	High Performance Computing
HW	hardware
ICD	Installable Client Driver
ICT	Information and Communication Technology
IPM	Inverse Perspective Mapping
IR	Intermediate Representation
LDA	Lane Detection Algorithm
LDW	Lane Departure Warning
LIDAR	Light Detection And Ranging
LKA	Lane Keep Assistance
LOC	Lines Of Code
LRU	Least Recently Used
MPSoC	Multi-Processor System-on-Chip
OpenCL	Open Computing Language
PCA	Principle Component Analysis
PCIe	PCI Express interface
RANSAC	RANdom SAmple Consensus
RLD	Road Lane Detection
ROI	Region Of Interest
RTE	Run Time Environment

- SE Scalar Evolution
- **SFU** Special Function Unit
- SIMD Single Instruction Multiple Data
- **SM** Streaming Multiprocessor
- **SSA** Static Single Assignment
- **SURF** Speeded Up Robust Features
- SW software
- **TSR** Traffic Sign Recognition
- **WPM** Warp Perspective Mapping

# List of Figures

1.1	Overview of ADAS features and functionalities (figure from [1])	2
1.2	Overview of the heterogeneous system studied in this thesis	5
1.3	The structure of this thesis.	7
2.1	Sketch overview of $h^2$ ECU	12
2.2	Hardware layout of the $h^2 ECU\text{-}based$ evaluation board	14
2.3	Abstraction of the layout of the testbed vehicle.	16
2.4	Performance of the RLD application in different video resolutions	19
2.5	Speedup of the TSR application over customized baseline in different video resolutions.	20
3.1	General processing flow of camera-based lane detection algorithms	25
3.2	Flow chart of <i>p</i> -LDA.	27
3.3	Overview of the execution of $p\text{-LDA}$ in heterogeneous context	32
3.4	Processing flow of <i>r</i> -LDA overview.	35
3.5	Vanishing point estimation steps.	36
3.6	ROI extraction from the reference frame to compute WPM	38
3.7	Overview of the designs of <i>r</i> -LDA on different platforms	41
3.8	Parallel design of the WPM transformation in <i>r</i> -LDA	42
3.9	Kernel execution time of $p\text{-}LD\!A$ in the different scenarios. $\hdots\hdddt\hdddt\hdddt\hdots\hdots\hdots\hdddt\hddt$	45
3.10	Real-time task rates of the test videos	45
3.11	Performance of $p$ -LDA in the different scenarios	46
3.12	Energy cost of $p$ -LDA in the different scenarios.	47
3.13	Energy efficiency comparison of $p$ -LDA in the different scenarios	48
3.14	Execution time of the homogeneous execution on CPU	49
3.15	Time cost of CPU-GPU executions.	50
3.16	Time cost of CPU-FPGA executions.	51

#### LIST OF FIGURES

3.17	Performance with different parallel configurations.	52
3.18	Energy efficiency comparison of $r$ -LDA with different parallel configurations	53
41	Optimization procedure for parallelized ADAS applications in EPCA CPU betarage	
4.1	optimization procedure for paramenzed ADAS applications in FFGA-GFO neteroge-	<b>-</b> 0
	neous platform.	58
4.2	A sample heterogeneous execution with different call order of OpenCL API functions	
	for FPGA and GPU.	61
4.3	Normalized execution time distribution of the profiled code blocks in $p$ -LDA and $r$ -LDA.	65
4.4	Performance comparison of $p$ -LDA when replicating different number of compute units.	68
4.5	Performance comparison of $r$ -LDA when replicating different number of compute units.	68
4.6	Performance comparison of $p\text{-}LDA$ using different loop unrolling factors	69
4.7	Performance comparison of $r$ -LDA using different loop unrolling factors, the FPGA	
	task proportion is 50%.	70
4.8	Performance comparison with different call order of OpenCL API functions.	71
4.9	Performance comparison with and without dynamical workload tuning.	72
4.10	Performance comparison with and without AO optimization	73
4.11	Performance comparison overview with step-by-step optimizations	74
5.1	Overview of the performance estimation framework.	81
5.2	Simulation of a sample execution trace on the warp pipeline	93
5.3	Comparison of the estimated and measured execution time of the test kernels (Quadro	
	K620)	97
5.4	Comparison of the estimated and measured results of KERNEL_PRE on different GPUs.	101
5.5	Comparison of the estimated and measured results of KERNEL_LD on different GPUs.	101
5.6	Comparison of the estimated and measured results of KERNEL_PF on different GPUs	102
6.1	Overview of the hybrid search framework.	105
6.2	Best case of the pipeline execution.	109
6.3	Sample cases of the memory component pipeline.	110
6.4	Design space reduction results of the hybrid search framework on the test GPUs.	114
6.5	Normalized execution time of the selected design on the test GPUs.	115
6.6	Normalized time costs of the exhaustive simulation search and the hybrid search on	
	the test GPUs.	116

# List of Tables

2.1	Detailed information of the test videos for RLD.	17
2.2	Execution time of the TSR application using OpenCL kernels.	20
3.1	Detailed specification of the hardware platforms	44
3.2	Task partitions of $r$ -LDA	48
3.3	Configurations of the single-accelerator execution.	50
4.1	Detailed specification of the evaluation platform	65
4.2	List of main code blocks in $p$ -LDA	66
4.3	List of main code blocks in $r$ -LDA	67
4.4	CR and LU configurations of the FPGA design.	67
5.1	List of profiled arithmetic operation types.	92
5.2	Summary of the parameters used in the performance estimation framework. $\ldots$ .	95
5.3	Hardware specification of the test GPUs	96
5.4	Accuracy and simulation time consumption of testing the performance estimation	
	framework on the Rodinia [2] benchmark.	96
5.5	Comparison of the simulation time costs of GPGPU-Sim [3] and the proposed frame-	
	work in this chapter.	100
5.6	Configuration of the lane detection kernels	101
6.1	Hardware specifications of the test GPUs	112
6.2	Design configurations of the test OpenCL kernels	113

### Chapter 1

### Introduction

Self-driving cars would be possible in the foreseeable future, with the maturity of multi-sensor fusion technology and the ever-increasing data processing capability. The development of electric vehicles has become a consensus for academia and industry, not merely because of the advantages, such as energy conservation and environment protection, over the conventional fuel cars, but also due to the reason that electric vehicles is able to serve as the infrastructure for intelligent transportation and autonomous driving. However, current research and development of autonomous driving still stays at the early stage as it faces several problems including technology, ethics, law, and management issues. Before deploying a real self-driving car, on modern vehicles a more common way is to use an embedded but powerful module to assist drivers in driving and decision-making. This module is called the Advanced Driver Assistance Systems (ADAS).

ADAS is originally developed to adapt vehicle systems for safety and better driving [4]. Specifically, the system collects environmental data by use of miscellaneous vehicular sensors (seen in Figure 1.1) and then processes the captured data as real-time as possible so as to make an evaluation of current vehicle runtime status. Afterwards, with the aid of different control strategies, the system either takes emergency measures by itself when necessary or gives response to drivers to assist their driving decisions. In this scenario, the time constraint is extremely strict and therefore hardware components with high computing power are required. As seen in Figure 1.1, typical ADAS essentially includes several functionalities, such as Adaptive Cruise Control (ACC), Lane Departure Warning (LDW), Lane Keep Assistance (LKA), Traffic Sign Recognition (TSR), etc.

The electronic component count and associated wiring content within modern vehicles have skyrocketed as the automobile continues its transformation into an electronic computing system. Nowadays a typical car contains dozens of Electronic Control Units (ECUs) while the premium ones could have more than 100 ECUs [5] [6]. These ECUs are used for diverse functionalities such as driving, park-

#### 1. INTRODUCTION



Figure 1.1: Overview of ADAS features and functionalities (figure from [1]).

ing, safety, air conditioning, navigation, and in-car entertainment, etc. This rapidly growing number of ECUs per vehicle has caused a paradigm shift in Information and Communication Technology (ICT) architectures by reversing the growth trend of dedicated ECUs for specific functions towards integrating more and more disparate functions into one or a few control units. This is the so-called ECU consolidation. The trend is not only adding more ECUs but also more computing power. Such consolidated ECUs must provide not only multiple functionalities but also significantly more performance in terms of computation resources. For instance, ADAS requires more and more computation resources as massive multi-sensor information needs to be aggregated and efficiently processed, within a short time period, to assist in-car and on-road safety control.

From an overall perspective, the automobile is a progressively complex system and it is posing a big threat to utilize limited computing power to deal with various real-time and safety-critical tasks on the vehicles. To improve on-board computation capacity, lots of early efforts have been paid by means of continuously increasing the quantity and improving the quality of the ECU components. However, this proved to be both unrealistic and minimal due to the limitation of financial cost and Amdahl's law [7]. Along with the widespread use of High Performance Computing (HPC) techniques, heterogeneous computing becomes a feasible method to solve this computation bottleneck since it is highly flexible and scalable. Heterogeneous computing system is defined as a unified platform on which different kinds of processors are integrated to leverage their unique capabilities. As accelerators or co-processors for Central Processing Units (CPUs), Field Programmable Gate Arrays (FPGAs) and

Graphic Processing Units (GPUs) are commonly used in heterogeneous systems due to their outstanding performance in high-speed computing and task parallelism.

#### 1.1 Motivations

ADAS is an indispensable functionality in contemporary intelligent cars and the deployment of ADAS in automated driving vehicles would become a standard in the near future. State-of-the-art research and development of ADAS still faces several challenges:

- Performance demand. In 2015, each vehicle has an average of 60-100 sensors on board and this
  number is projected to reach as many as 200 sensors per car by 2020 [8]. These sensors would
  produce a huge amount of car- and road-related data and how to efficiently process these data
  in order to ensure real-time constraint becomes an urgent issue for the development of nextgeneration ADAS products.
- Scalability. Conventional vehicle contains lots of ECUs with dedicated functionalities to handle
  safety, security, and real-time critical tasks. However, the number of ECUs is gradually exceeding the finite space able to house all the electronics and associated cabling required to connect
  everything together [9]. Future ECU consolidation requires not only combing more ECUs but
  also adding scalable hardware components that can be easily adapted for ease of technology
  update and product upgrade.
- *Hardware/Software (HW/SW) maintenance.* Over the production time of a car model, not all the ECUs originally chosen are available in the market over the whole production period. Some of them will no longer be produced and have to be replaced by newer counterparts due to discontinuation of an ECU's specific technology [5]. Moreover, over the past 30 years, the software has evolved from nearly zero to tens of millions of Lines Of Code (LOC). For a consolidated ECU, how to cope with this trend still remains a pendent issue.

For ADAS applications, guaranteeing real-time performance is crucial as it can provide as much time as possible for drivers to make better decisions in a relatively short time frame. This bound not only comes from the inherent time-criticality of ADAS tasks, but also stems from the demand of efficiently processing the massive amount of data captured by the various types of sensors equipped in modern vehicles. In this context, it is inevitable that high-performance accelerators are used to promote the development and deployment of advanced applications in ADAS. For instance at the Consumer Electronics Show (CES) 2017, Intel announced the GO automotive 5G platform [10], which

#### 1. INTRODUCTION

would incorporate Xeon Phi processors and Cyclone V Soc FPGA, to accelerate automotive computing applications. Such heavy-computing functional components would become standard equipment for future self-driving vehicles.

With the continuously emerging effort of using Commercial Off-The-Shelf (COTS) components for ADAS development [11] [12] [13], both GPUs and FPGAs are ready to be deployed in automated driving systems, due to their significantly higher computational capacity and lower research and development cost compared to the dedicated ECU/ASIC-implemented counterparts. Meanwhile, during the last decade, utilization of GPUs, FPGAs, and other co-processors in academia and industry has spawned the advent of generic standardization for cross-platform parallel programming, such as the popular use of Open Computing Language (OpenCL) [14]. On the basis of this programming model, different accelerators can leverage their respective advantages to complete the computational tasks in a collaborative way. Especially for such a heterogeneous computing system, how to consider the real-time performance and low energy tradeoff would be a very interesting topic [15].

The motivation of this thesis is to give a systematic study of applying heterogeneous computing techniques to the design of an automated driving module and the implementation of real-time ADAS applications. In this thesis, a rich set of COTS components are used for the development of ADAS applications, due to the following reasons: ① The time-to-market and development cost of COTS devices is much lower than the traditional dedicated ECU/ASIC implementations. ② COTS components can provide sufficient computing power and the performance per price is magnitude higher than automotive-specialized ones [16]. ③ The wide support of COTS devices for cross-platform programming has promoted program developers and board vendors to pay great attention to exploring the opportunity of applying heterogeneous computing to the development of future ADAS.

This thesis is intended to give partial answers to the following questions:

- 1. How could future ADAS applications benefit from heterogeneous computing?
- 2. How to apply heterogeneous computing to the development of future ADAS?
- 3. What needs to be taken into consideration, from a programmer's perspective, when the heterogeneous computing architecture is deployed to accelerate ADAS applications?

#### **1.2 Thesis Contributions**

With the challenges and questions in Section 1.1 in mind, this thesis first investigates the feasibility of using heterogeneous computing architecture to accelerate parallel ADAS applications. The overview



**Figure 1.2:** Overview of the heterogeneous system studied in this thesis. Dashed single-arrow lines are the task assignment flow, while the solid double-arrow lines refer to data communication between different types of processors or accelerators.

of the heterogeneous system studied in this thesis is shown in Figure 1.2. In this system, the CPU acts as the host scheduler and the hardware accelerators (GPU, FPGA) are used to accelerate the computational tasks. The tasks are typical ADAS applications, such as lane detection, pedestrian detection, traffic sign recognition, etc. During the processing of the tasks, the host CPU can assign the workloads to either of the accelerators, based on the scheduling policy and the runtime status of the system. Obviously in this system, how computational workloads are formed, scheduled, and executed on the hardware accelerators is critical to the overall system runtime performance.

First of all, this thesis proposes to use a high-performance and heterogeneous ECU called h<sup>2</sup>ECU, for automated driving. By incorporating multiple Multi-Processor System-on-Chips (MPSoCs), GPUs, and FPGAs into the module, h<sup>2</sup>ECU can provide sufficient computing power, while maintaining high scalability. With this platform, several typical ADAS applications are then customized to investigate the performance and energy tradeoff in the heterogeneous system. Evaluation results show that heterogeneous computing is a promising solution for the research and development of future ADAS. Subsequently, this thesis gives a detailed procedure that helps guide the performance optimization of parallelized ADAS applications in the FPGA-GPU combined heterogeneous system. Last but not least, a hybrid framework that combines source-level static code analysis and trace-based dynamic simulation is proposed to fast and accurately predict the performance of running parallel kernels on the representative GPU accelerator. Based on this framework, this thesis further gives a solution to efficiently prune the vast program design space in order to locate the optimal program design configurations. The contributions of this thesis can be summarized as follows:

1. This thesis proposes to use a novel ECU architecture called h<sup>2</sup>ECU for future automated driving vehicles. The architecture is universal w.r.t. functionality, i.e., the different functionalities scattered on different ECUs can be assembled into this h<sup>2</sup>ECU. By integrating multiple hardware accelerators, the h<sup>2</sup>ECU can provide sufficient computing power. In addition, adding new functionality is cost-free in terms of computing resources.

- 2. Typical lane detection algorithms are studied to probe the feasibility of using FPGA-GPU heterogeneous architecture for accelerating ADAS applications. Specifically, two different implementations of the lane detection algorithm are presented and afterwards customized into data-level parallel programs to enable the executions in heterogeneous context. Experimental results reveal that the heterogeneous architecture resolves both the performance and energy bottlenecks caused when using homogeneous accelerators.
- 3. A detailed procedure is proposed to help guide the performance optimization of parallelized ADAS applications in an FPGA-GPU combined heterogeneous system. The procedure consists of one intra-accelerator and two inter-accelerator sub-optimization methods, as well as both FPGA-specific and application-oriented optimization strategies, to boost the program runtime performance.
- 4. A hybrid framework that combines source-level static code analysis and trace-based dynamic simulation is given to fast and accurately predict the performance of running parallel kernels on the representative GPU accelerator. The high-level source code is analyzed to extract the kernel execution trace, which is used to dynamically mimic the kernel execution behavior to deduce the kernel execution time. The framework requires no prior knowledge about hardware performance counter metrics or pre-executed measurement results.
- 5. Based on the hybrid performance estimation framework, this thesis further gives a hybrid search framework to efficiently prune the vast program design space of OpenCL applications in order to locate the optimal program design configurations. By combing both static analysis and dynamical simulation methods, the framework can efficiently prune the program design space and notably it needs no program runs to find the optimal or near-optimal configurations.

#### 1.3 Thesis Structure

The structure of this thesis is depicted in Figure 1.3. Chapter 1 summarizes the motivations and contributions of this thesis. Chapter 2 and 3 illustrate the design of the h<sup>2</sup>ECU platform and the development of the ADAS applications, respectively. Afterwards, Chapter 4 performs the performance analysis of



Figure 1.3: The structure of this thesis.

the ADAS applications when they are deployed in the heterogeneous context, and further gives a detailed performance optimization procedure. Taking GPU as the representative accelerator, Chapter 5 models the execution of the parallel kernels and proposes a hybrid performance estimation framework. Based on this framework, Chapter 6 further gives an approach to efficiently prune the program design space of OpenCL applications in order to locate the optimal program design configurations. Finally, Chapter 7 concludes with a summary of the main results presented in this thesis. It also gives an outlook on future research directions of using heterogeneous computing for ADAS development.

To be specific, the details of the subsequent chapters are listed below and their contributions are summarized as well.

Chapter 2 presents the architectural design of the proposed h<sup>2</sup>ECU and its hardware implementation. We implemented a prototype evaluation board to demonstrate the proposed architecture design and we also used a real-life electric vehicle as a testbed to harness the board. We modified a COTS sport utility vehicle DFM AX7 and deployed multiple sensors which are connected via Controller Area Network (CAN) bus with the board, so that output signals can be directly transmitted and converted to control the vehicle. At last, two frequently-used ADAS applications, namely road lane detection and traffic sign recognition, are presented to verify the efficiency and high flexibility of the h<sup>2</sup>ECU.

Chapter 3 provides two different implementations of the widely-used lane detection application on heterogeneous commodity hardware. This chapter illustrates in details how the lane detection tasks are abstracted, implemented, and parallelized for ease of execution on the hardware accelerators. The performance and energy efficiency of the applications are demonstrated with experiments on different COTS heterogeneous platforms.

#### 1. INTRODUCTION

Chapter 4 proposes a systematic procedure that helps guide the performance optimization of parallelized ADAS applications in an FPGA-GPU combined heterogeneous system. The optimization takes into consideration both intra- and inter-accelerator workload processing, as well as FPGA-specific and application-oriented optimization strategies, to enhance the program runtime performance. The optimization results are demonstrated by applying the proposed procedure to the two case study applications presented in Chapter 3.

Chapter 5 gives a hybrid framework that combines source-level analysis and trace-based simulation to predict the performance of running GPU kernels. The framework contains a loop-based bidirectional branch search algorithm to extract the kernel execution trace, and a lightweight simulator to mimic the kernel execution so as to predict the runtime performance results. The accuracy and practicability of the framework are evaluated with benchmarks and a real-world application, on four Nvidia GPUs across two generations of recent architectures.

Based on the work in Chapter 5, Chapter 6 proposes a hybrid search framework to prune the design space of work-group sizes for OpenCL kernels running on GPUs. The framework first analyzes the source code statically to filter out redundant designs with duplicated execution traces and inferior pipelines, and then produces the estimated optimal design by searching the work-group sizes that yield the minimum predicted kernel execution time. The framework does not require any program runs to find the optimal or near-optimal configurations. Experiments show that the framework can significantly reduce the program design space and generate the estimated work-group size which can deliver runtime performance comparable to that with the truly optimal configuration.

At last, Chapter 7 summarizes the main results of this thesis and puts forward future research directions of using heterogeneous computing for the development of ADAS.

### Chapter 2

# h<sup>2</sup>ECU: a High-performance and Heterogeneous ECU for Automated Driving

Nowadays, the massive sensor information poses huge computation challenge for the design of a realtime automated driving module. Meanwhile, conventional automotive ECUs cannot fulfill this objective due to technology discontinuation and the consequent tedious HW/SW maintenance. As an auxiliary but essential part for autonomous driving, ADAS is one of the computing-power demanding functionalities and this system requires more and more computation resources as massive multi-sensor information needs to be aggregated and efficiently processed to better assist in-car and on-road safety control. In 2012, Continental rolled out a schedule for autonomous driving, sketching a roadmap that fully automatic driving at higher speeds and in complex driving situations could be ready for mass deployment by 2020 and 2025, respectively [17]. Therefore, an ideal ECU module that demonstrates high performance but consumes low energy is imperative for automotive computing.

Traditional ECUs are not able to meet the requirements of autonomous driving not merely due to the huge performance demand, but also with the following reasons. First of all, over the production time of a car model, not all the ECUs originally chosen are available in the market over the whole production period. Some of them will no longer be produced and have to be replaced by newer counterparts due to discontinuation of an ECU's specific technology [5]. Additionally, over the last 30 years, the amount of software has evolved from nearly zero to tens of millions of LOC. A current premium car, for instance, implements about 270 functions deployed over about 70 embedded platforms. Altogether, the software amounts to about 100MB of binary code [5]. The next generation of upper class vehicles is expected to run up to 1GB of software. The problem here is how to design an ECU to seamlessly cope

## 2. H<sup>2</sup>ECU: A HIGH-PERFORMANCE AND HETEROGENEOUS ECU FOR AUTOMATED DRIVING

with such combination of mix-critical software as processor consolidation is closely aligned with the trend towards mixed criticality systems in which safety, security, and real-time critical components must coexist with the less critical counterparts.

#### 2.1 Overview

This chapter illustrates the software design and hardware implementation of a novel architecture called h<sup>2</sup>ECU—a high-performance and heterogeneous ECU for future automated driving. The h<sup>2</sup>ECU is a modular and reconfigurable architecture in which accelerators can be flexibly embedded to achieve high computation power. The spatial redundancy of computing resources allows the coexistence of both safety and non-safety critical applications, providing appropriate partitioning mechanisms. Based on this architectural design, we implement a prototype evaluation board which incorporates state-of-the-art MPSoCs, GPUs and FPGAs into a heterogeneous system. The board is designed in modular manner, where multiple GPUs and FPGAs are connected via the PCI Express interface (PCIe), depending on the required computation power. In this way, next generation of GPUs and FPGAs can be used while the ECU architecture remains unchanged. To program the on-board software, OpenCL is adopted as the programming framework. Applications programmed with OpenCL can be seamlessly exploited on both GPU and FPGA devices. Finally, two frequently-used ADAS applications are given to demonstrate the practical use of the board in real world. The main contributions of this chapter can be summarized as follows:

- This chapter proposes a novel ECU architecture called h<sup>2</sup>ECU for future automated driving vehicles. The architecture is universal w.r.t. functionality, i.e., the different functionalities scattered on different ECUs can be assembled into this h<sup>2</sup>ECU. By integrating multiple hardware accelerators, the h<sup>2</sup>ECU can provide sufficient computing power. In addition, adding new functionality is cost-free in terms of computing resources.
- A prototype evaluation board is implemented to demonstrate the proposed architecture. Additionally, a real-life electric vehicle is modified as a testbed to harness the board. On the vehicle, multiple sensors are connected via CAN bus with the board, so that output signals can be directly transmitted and converted to control the vehicle.
- Last but not least, two frequently-used ADAS applications, namely road lane detection and traffic sign recognition, are presented to verify the efficiency and high flexibility of the h<sup>2</sup>ECU. Experimental results demonstrate the high performance and flexible reconfigurability of the h<sup>2</sup>ECUbased evaluation board.

The remainder of this chapter is organized as follows: Section 2.2 reviews state-of-the-art work-inprogress of on-vehicle ECUs for autonomous driving. Section 2.3 overviews the architecture, hardware components, and on-vehicle connection of the  $h^2$ ECU. Section 2.4 discusses evaluation results and Section 2.5 summarizes the work in this chapter.

#### 2.2 Related Work

Most of the traditional ECU products are for commercial use and consequently they scarcely release details about the technical implementations. At present the industry is pushing ahead to the development of ADAS ECUs for large-scale deployment. At CES 2016, Qualcomm released its prototype product based on snapdragon SoC 820A [18] for next-generation automotive applications. Meanwhile NXP unveiled MPC577xK series microcontroller [19] for ADAS and industrial radar applications. At CES 2017, Intel announced its GO automotive 5G platform [10] which would incorporate Xeon Phi processors and Cyclone V Soc FPGA, while Nvidia continues its promotion of the Drive PX 2 platform [20] and DriveWorks software.

The general use of autonomous driving vehicles is still not yet mature and the majority work lies in academic field. Earlier studies about on-vehicle autonomous driving modules mainly focus on the ADAS implementation, i.e., whether autonomous driving tasks can be fulfilled by virtue of COTS components. In this case, portability, thermal constraint and power consumption issues are entirely overlooked. For instance, the Caroline [21] developed by TU Braunschweig employs an array of automotive PCs to function as the hardware platform. Similar configuration can also be found in the KTH Scania tractor unit [22], which has participated the Grand Cooperative Driving Challenge (GCDC) in 2011. Meanwhile, the KIT AnnieWAY [23], which is the winner of GCDC 2011, even uses a customized Intel Xeon-based server which incorporates two six-core CPUs and a high-end GPU. The well-known Google driverless car does not publicly reveal any information about its computing system. However, the predecessor of the Google car, the Stanford Junior [24], who won the second place of the DARPA Urban Challenge 2007, is embedded with two Intel quad core workstations. The winner of the same race, the CMU Boss [25], is equipped with ten 2.16GHz Core2 Duo processors. As can be seen, such heavy-computing components will become standard equipment for future vehicles.

Autonomous driving component should, and must cooperatively work with off-the-shelf automotive ECUs and microcontrollers, which is presented in the previous work in [26], [27], and [28]. It has been a consensus that the functionalities of conventional on-vehicle ECUs have to remain unchanged in order to guarantee the hard real-time control of the vehicle, while new modules should be introduced to handle computing-power demanding automatic driving workload. From this point of view, due to

## 2. H<sup>2</sup>ECU: A HIGH-PERFORMANCE AND HETEROGENEOUS ECU FOR AUTOMATED DRIVING



**Figure 2.1:** Sketch overview of  $h^2$ ECU. The components within red dashed line are fixed while the components within blue dashed line are reconfigurable.

the high performance and scalability, accelerators such as GPUs and FPGAs tend to be more active in future autonomous driving system since this solution can meet both the portability and real-time requirement of the autonomous driving module.

Following the above-mentioned trend, the work in this chapter proposes a new ECU architecture for future automated driving. By integrating multiple GPUs and FPGAs into an embedded platform, the execution of automated driving tasks is effectively accelerated while the whole system can be reconfigured, i.e., heterogeneous cores can be easily replaced without changing the ECU architecture. Additionally, a real-life COTS vehicle is modified and two typical ADAS applications are developed to demonstrate the proposed h<sup>2</sup>ECU architecture.

#### 2.3 System Architecture and Implementation

#### 2.3.1 Architecture Design

In general, an autonomous driving module is used to execute ADAS applications and then translate the results to trigger the launch of lower-level hardware execution units. These applications are diverse functionalities that implicate different criticality levels, such as lane detection, pedestrian detection, vehicle identification, traffic sign recognition and so on.

Figure 2.1 reveals the sketch overview of the h<sup>2</sup>ECU architecture. The system consists of a *fixed* 

module where fundamental runtime infrastructures (host scheduler, runtime environment, OS support, I/O management, etc.) are rooted and a *reconfigurable* module which enables the computation power tuning by utilizing flexible hardware accelerators. As an abstraction, each ADAS application is treated as a stand-alone task which would be executed on certain reconfigurable processing core, subjected to the task scheduling on the host. The host scheduler allocates computation tasks to different processing units according to both the scheduling policy and the working status of the processors. The reconfigurable processors are potentially high performance accelerators that contain hundreds of parallel cores. Normally, host CPU behaves as the scheduler while the processors are GPUs, FPGAs or CPUs as well.

To coordinate the computing of these heterogeneous processors, OpenCL is chosen as the Run Time Environment (RTE). OpenCL is an industrial standard for heterogeneous computing managed by Khronos Group [29]. By defining a high level abstraction layer for low level hardware instructions, it enables cross-platform execution from general purpose processors to massively parallel devices. In this way, autonomous driving tasks programmed with OpenCL can be seamlessly scaled and executed on a bundle of devices without any source code modification. Additionally, general-purpose operation system can be used to support the RTE and maintain the I/O communication of each component. With this design, adding new functionalities is cost-free, in terms of computing resources, as long as the RTE compatibility is met.

The benefit of this architectural design is multi-fold. First, the spatial redundancy of the computing resources allows the coexistence of both safety and non-safety critical applications, thus providing appropriate partitioning mechanisms. Secondly, this modular design shows high flexibility as multiple GPUs and FPGAs can be tuned depending on the required computing power. In this manner, next-generation GPUs and FPGAs can be used while the ECU architecture can remain unchanged. Lastly, by virtue of high performance accelerators, the execution of automated driving tasks are effectively accelerated to meet real-time constraint.

#### 2.3.2 Hardware Implementation

Based on the proposed architecture, in the last few years several generations of the prototype product have been designed. The prototype evaluation board is a portable embedded platform where multiple MPSoCs, GPUs, and FPGAs can be assembled together. Figure 2.2 gives the top and side view of the third generation platform. The board is based on modular design so that as many components as possible can be reused in case of technology update and product upgrade. At run-time, the evaluation board is connected to another CAN communication board, which directly interacts with the auxiliary

## 2. H<sup>2</sup>ECU: A HIGH-PERFORMANCE AND HETEROGENEOUS ECU FOR AUTOMATED DRIVING



**Figure 2.2:** Hardware layout of the  $h^2$ ECU-based evaluation board. (a) Top view of the board, part 1 is power interface, part 2 are two PCIe slots and part 3 is peripheral interface. (b) Side view of the board, the listed peripheral interfaces are (1) mini-HDMI, (2) HDMI, (3) Audio port, (4) USB 3.0 and 2.0 ports, (5) Ethernet port, and (6) CAN.

controllers within a vehicle. The prototype product receives standard 12V DC as working voltage and currently the overall system is running under Linux OS.

The prototype evaluation board has five main components:

- Power supply. The power interface consists of two TPS54386 dual 3-A non-synchronous converters to ensure the stable and adequate dual power supply.
- Host scheduler. In current generation, the board employs an Intel Core<sup>TM</sup> i5-3360M processor to schedule the ADAS applications. Although this power consumption is not suitable for practical use, it is sufficient for prototype development.
- Processing unit. The h<sup>2</sup>ECU architecture supports a vast of PCIe-based hardware accelerators and at present several low-energy-cost GPUs and FPGAs are equipped to handle the parallel computation workload.
- RTE. In order to aggregate different devices, an Installable Client Driver (ICD) loader is constructed and this loader acts as a proxy between the user program and the actual implementations. It employs the C programming language library *dl* that is used on Linux to dynamically load libraries at runtime. In this way, OpenCL implementations of different vendors can be smoothly invoked without any conflicts.
- Data communication. The standard end-to-end PCIe data transfer protocol is used to facilitate the I/O interaction between the host CPU and computation devices.

Considering the component placement and space limit, the evaluation board consists of a 165mm× 165mm mainboard, a thermal module, and extra PCIe accelerators. The mainboard provides a power interface, which consumes external power supply, and several peripheral ports used to connect external sensors. In current generation, the mainboard contains two 16x PCIe slots which support major state-of-the-art COTS accelerators. The platform is equipped with 128GB SSD used for disk storage and 8GB DDR3 RAM used for internal storage. The host processor is located on the other side of the mainboard (not visible in Figure 2.2), due to the need of heat dissipation. The heat of the CPU is both actively and passively dissipated by the thermal module which is made up of an aluminum heat sink and a cooling fan.

#### 2.3.3 On-vehicle Connection

We refitted COTS sport utility vehicle DFM AX7 to support the use of the evaluation board. Figure 2.3 gives the logic layout of this testbed vehicle. The testbed contains mainly four layers:

- The *upper layer* consists of a series of external sensors, such as ultrasound sensor, lidar sensor, stereo camera, etc. In this layer, the sensors capture the environmental information around the vehicle for further processing.
- The *h*<sup>2</sup>*ECU-based platform* is used to handle ADAS tasks real-timely and gives response signal to the next layer.
- The *middle layer* includes an array of auxiliary controllers aiming at Engine Management System (EMS), Electric Power Steering (EPS), Electronic Speed Control (ESC), etc. These subcontrollers receive the command signals from the h<sup>2</sup>ECU-based platform and transmit them to the microcontrollers and hardware components.
- The *lower layer* is made up of ① microcontrollers which correspond to the subcontrollers in middle layer and ② lower-level execution units like engine, steering motor, brake solenoid valve,

# 2. H<sup>2</sup>ECU: A HIGH-PERFORMANCE AND HETEROGENEOUS ECU FOR AUTOMATED DRIVING



**Figure 2.3:** Abstraction of the layout of the testbed vehicle. The upper layer counts as the input for the  $h^2$ ECU-based platform. The ECU platform performs data processing and generates outputs to the middle layer, which drives the concrete execution units in the lower layer.

etc. This layer controls the actual driving of the vehicle.

In the upper layer, the sensors acquire the environmental information and then transmit the data to the h<sup>2</sup>ECU-based platform. The ECU performs a series of ADAS algorithms and outputs the result, in form of command signals, to the middle layer. Afterwards each auxiliary controller invokes specific execution unit in the lower layer to control the driving of the vehicle. For instance, in Figure 2.3 the EMS controller receives throttle commands from the EMS subcontrol and then regulate the engine. Then the consequent torque and position signals generated by steering wheel and pedal are received by EPS and ECS controller, respectively. Subsequently EPS and ECS controller drive the steering motor and brake solenoid valve, together with the steering and braking commands from the EPS and ECS subcontrollers.

The connection protocols between the upper sensors and the h<sup>2</sup>ECU-based platform are miscellaneous, while the communication between the ECU and the auxiliary controllers is via CAN bus.

# 2.4 Evaluation and Discussion

#### 2.4.1 Evaluation Setup

Several low-end GPUs and FPGAs are integrated into the evaluation board to ensure sufficient computing performance with rather low energy cost. In particular, Nvidia Quadro K600, Quadro K620 and Nallatech PCIe-385N FPGA are used as the test PCIe accelerators. To demonstrate the proposed  $h^2$ ECU architecture and the use of the evaluation board, two commonly used ADAS applications are employed on the prototype product. The details of the applications are described as follows.

#### 2.4.1.1 Road Lane Detection (RLD)

This application is used to detect the lane markings while the car is driving along the road. The algorithm processes video stream captured by a camera on a moving vehicle and highlights the positions of the lanes in the output stream. First of all, the image frames are pre-processed and transformed into gray-scale format so that the pixel intensity can be calculated. Then, by calculating the pixel weights of the lines from a randomly sampled line set, each of the lane markers is detected by selecting the line with the highest pixel weight. Afterwards the lanes are tracked by applying a particle filter over the candidate lines from the previous frame, to predict the positions of lanes in the current frame. The details of this algorithm can be referred in [30].

In this application, the lane markings in each frame are either detected by the pixel weight ranking of the candidate lines or tracked by virtue of the particle filter which predicts the positions of the lanes based on the position information of the previous detected frame. This functionality is implemented by an OpenCL kernel which can be computed across the different accelerators.

A series of videos recorded in different scenarios is used to reveal real-life road condition. Table 2.1 gives detailed information about the test videos. These videos represent various road situations

Videos	Resolution	Total frames	Scenario
1	480  imes 320	2287	broken lane
2	480  imes 360	4601	crossing lane
3	640  imes 360	899	dark light
4	640  imes 360	1289	rural area
5	640  imes 480	232	blur lane
6	640  imes 480	250	bus view
7	640  imes 480	337	street shade
8	640  imes 480	406	blur lane
9	640  imes 480	1718	high way
10	640  imes 480	1897	broken lane
11	640  imes 480	2654	heavy traffic
12	640  imes 480	2799	night highway
13	640  imes 480	3056	street road
14	640  imes 480	4944	light disturbance
15	640  imes 480	4992	night
16	1920  imes 1080	1871	high way

Table 2.1: Detailed information of the test videos for RLD.

# 2. H<sup>2</sup>ECU: A HIGH-PERFORMANCE AND HETEROGENEOUS ECU FOR AUTOMATED DRIVING

including in day and night, with heavy traffic, with blurred and broken lines, in street and highway, in urban and rural areas, etc. To demonstrate the modular and heterogeneous features of  $h^2$ ECU, the experiment is conducted with different configurations where either GPU, FPGA or both are used to consume the kernel tasks. For the GPU-FPGA heterogeneous executions, a dynamic work load balance policy from [31] is used to automatically accelerate the computation. For each configuration, each video is run 10 times and the overall results are collected and averaged.

#### 2.4.1.2 Traffic Sign Recognition (TSR)

This application is used to detect and recognize the traffic signs that appear in the images recorded via the in-car camera. For the detection, based on the Haar-like features extracted from the image, a stage classifier is established and used to judge whether the content of a scaled scanning window within the image is a traffic sign or not. By performing a series of stage classifiers at different hierarchies, an AdaBoost cascade classifier is subsequently generated to collect the classification results of each stage classifier. In this case, the target image window is deemed as a traffic sign only if all the stage classifiers give a positive value. As for the traffic sign recognition, firstly a Gabor filter is adopted to extract features from the detected image windows. Then these Gabor features are rarefied via Principle Component Analysis (PCA) of the feature dimensions. Finally the traffic signs are distinguished by means of linear discrimination analysis and template matching.

The Haar-like feature extraction is observed as the performance bottleneck which can be parallelized to decrease the execution latency. To demonstrate the high performance of the h<sup>2</sup>ECU-based platform, an OpenCL kernel is designed for the Haar-like feature object detection. As comparison, a normal implementation of traffic sign recognition via Haar-like feature extraction is customized as the baseline and another implementation using OpenCV API function cvHaarDetectObjects is proposed to showcase the speedup.

For this algorithm, GPU is used as the accelerator, due to the reason that the OpenCL SDK for Altera FPGA v13.1 does not support images. During the test, the algorithm is evaluated with inputs as images under different resolutions, ranging from  $160 \times 120$  to  $1920 \times 1080$ . For each implementation, the algorithm is run 30 times and the final results are averaged.

#### 2.4.2 Results and Analysis

#### 2.4.2.1 Road Lane Detection (RLD)

The performance of the RLD application is evaluated in terms of input video resolutions. Figure 2.4 summarizes the performance results. As shown, in all resolutions the executions on the evaluation



Figure 2.4: Performance of the RLD application in different video resolutions.

board can achieve real-time performance. Even for high definition  $1920 \times 1080$  videos, the worst case performance is observed as 37.7275 fps, when the tasks are consumed by the single PCIe-385N FPGA card. The results reveal that the h<sup>2</sup>ECU-based platform is able to real-timely handle the RLD application in a robust way.

Another interesting phenomenon shown in Figure 2.4 is the heterogeneity of  $h^2$ ECU. That is, the best performance does not always lie on the single-accelerator execution. The Quadro K620 GPU outperforms all other configurations in most cases when videos with  $480 \times 320$ ,  $640 \times 360$  and  $640 \times 480$  resolutions are tested. However, the heterogeneous execution (Quadro K620 + PCIe-385N FPGA) turns out to be the best solution when processing  $1920 \times 1080$  videos. This is extremely important as state-of-the-art ADAS requires  $1920 \times 1080$  definition. This means that future ADAS applications would favor reconfigurable architecture, such as  $h^2$ ECU, when the single homogeneous processing core cannot meet the performance demand, not to mention the power and energy constraint.

#### 2.4.2.2 Traffic Sign Recognition (TSR)

Table 2.2 gives the execution time of the OpenCL-version TSR application on the evaluation board. It's seen that all the executions can be completed in the second level, for different image resolutions. Although this application cannot fulfill the real-time requirement, the results are justified because the

# 2. H<sup>2</sup>ECU: A HIGH-PERFORMANCE AND HETEROGENEOUS ECU FOR AUTOMATED DRIVING



Figure 2.5: Speedup of the TSR application over customized baseline in different video resolutions.

procedure and data manipulations of TSR are far more complex than RLD. As the consequence, the computation task load of this algorithm is far larger than RLD since totally 14 stage classifiers are pipelined to do the calculation.

To better illustrate the high performance of the  $h^2$ ECU-based platform, Figure 2.5 gives the experimental results when comparing the performance of both the OpenCV- and OpenCL-based implementation of the TSR algorithm over the customized baseline. From the figure, it is seen that the speedup of the OpenCV implementation over the baseline is within 3×, which is rather stable across all image resolutions. However, the OpenCL implementation accelerates the application to a much larger extent and this speedup ratio becomes greater when the image resolution increases. Specifically for

Image resolution	Execution time (ms)			
image resolution	Quadro K600	Quadro K620		
160  imes 120	26.68965	34.29279		
320  imes 240	67.53467	60.93644		
640  imes 480	237.8679	168.7996		
720  imes 480	266.0748	186.1955		
1280  imes 720	699.5103	420.9746		
1920  imes 1080	1612.417	921.8685		

Table 2.2: Execution time of the TSR application using OpenCL kernels.

 $1920 \times 1080$  image, the algorithm can gain a  $11.38 \times$  and  $19.90 \times$  speedup on Quadro K600 and K620, respectively. This reveals a huge potentiality of utilizing h<sup>2</sup>ECU-based platform to accelerate future ADAS algorithms.

### 2.4.3 Discussion

Conventional ECUs for ADAS usually incorporates integrated SoCs to deal with real time workloads. This is, however, hard to scale across different platforms due to the technique upgrade and the consequent tedious software maintenance. By using reconfigurable architecture, the proposed h<sup>2</sup>ECU in this chapter is able to leverage between the tradeoffs of performance demand and scalability design. Although it's hard to use state-of-the-art ADAS ECUs to test the pro and con of the platform, the experimental study depicted in this chapter throws light upon the future ADAS blueprint. The RLD application shows the performance benefit of heterogeneous architecture over state-of-the-art homogeneous counterpart, while the TSR application reveals the huge potentiality to accelerate automated driving tasks via COTS accelerators.

The current generation of the evaluation board is not yet mature and still has some drawbacks. The biggest issue lies on the power consumption of the platform. In the future, more energy-saving techniques and components are expected to be involved to address the power constraint.

### 2.5 Summary

This chapter proposes a new ECU architecture called h<sup>2</sup>ECU and then a prototype platform is designed to facilitate the trend of its mass deployment for automated driving. The architecture consists of a fixed module in which the host can schedule the incoming tasks, and a reconfigurable module in which various COTS hardware can be flexibly inserted to accelerate the computation workload. By integrating multiple MPSoCs, GPUs, and FPGAs into the module, h<sup>2</sup>ECU can provide sufficient computing power, while maintaining high scalability. The proposed architecture is universal w.r.t. functionality and costfree w.r.t. functionality update. We implanted the evaluation board into a real-life sport utility vehicle to verify its feasibility. Finally the h<sup>2</sup>ECU-based platform is tested with typical ADAS applications to reveal its high performance and flexible reconfigurability.

The h<sup>2</sup>ECU presented in this chapter is intended to serve as the hardware platform for the studies in latter chapters. In the next chapter, the detailed implementations of typical ADAS applications and their deployment in heterogeneous context will be illustrated.

# 2. H<sup>2</sup>ECU: A HIGH-PERFORMANCE AND HETEROGENEOUS ECU FOR AUTOMATED DRIVING

# **Chapter 3**

# Design of ADAS Applications on Heterogeneous Platforms

For the automotive industry, ADAS is born to take full advantage of massive multi-sensor information so as to improve in-car and on-road safety. However, the input database space for ADAS applications is so large that it poses a big challenge for software developers to design both real-time and highly efficient algorithms. For these applications, time constraint and reliability guarantee are vital, due to the critical personal property safety.

The work in this chapter focuses on how to implement ADAS applications on heterogeneous platforms. Particularly the widely-used Lane Detection Algorithm (LDA) is chosen as a case study. As a fundamental functionality in ADAS, lane detection is a well-studied algorithm which has attracted much research attention since mid-1980's. Typically for lane detection, camera is the most frequently used sensor type not merely because of its fairly low cost, but also taking into account that roads and lanes are designed to be perceived by human drivers and the perception of visual cues is essentially the same as for human eyes. However, using camera as source of information requires large computational power to handle the amount of data, particularly to meet the state-of-the-art requirement of real-time High Definition (HD) image processing.

Apart from the performance requirement, how to ensure the robust utilization of lane detection application across various on-road scenarios is still nontrivial. For instance, to reduce noise influence and computational complexity, it is typically a pre-step to extract a Region Of Interest (ROI) within the whole image before it is actually analyzed. However, how to obtain an efficient, stable and reliable ROI is often scenario-specific and this size needs to be self-tuned if external on-road condition changes drastically. What's more, given a specific lane detection algorithm, it is often not easy-toevaluate when taking an arbitrary road video stream as input, since camera intrinsic and extrinsic parameters are often unknown and need to be calibrated. On the one hand, this hinders the promotion of the algorithm since the third-party users or other researchers do not always assume the highly practicability of the sample videos provided by the developer. On the other hand, this prolongs the development period since it is time-consuming to construct a technically sound benchmark.

The last important issue lies in the scalability of the application, i.e., how convenient for the endusers to consider the tradeoff between the algorithmic accuracy and execution speed, and how expensive for the developers to transplant the application back and forth, for instance, from simulation environment to real world, and from one platform to another. The bottleneck here is not merely hardware configuration and code modification, but also the burdensome performance optimization across different architectures.

# 3.1 Overview

This chapter presents two different implementations of LDA across heterogeneous platforms. The first application [31] uses particle filter to track the detected lane positions, while the second application [32] detects lane markings via the RANdom SAmple Consensus (RANSAC) approach. For brevity, we use p-LDA and r-LDA to respectively refer to the aforesaid Particle-filter-based and RANSAC-based LDA in latter sections. For both applications, we customize the heterogeneous implementations from the naive parallel designs and then investigate the performance and energy tradeoff in heterogeneous context. The main contributions of this chapter can be summarized as follows:

- This chapter presents two different approaches to implement LDA and then customize their executions on heterogeneous platforms.
- For *p-LDA*, this chapter gives a lightweight workload balance scheme that can significantly increase the performance, while ensuring the low energy cost. The scheme can robustly adjust the workload in diverse road scenarios, based on the computation capacity of each accelerator in use.
- For *r*-*LDA*, this chapter shows how the parallel task loads are implemented and optimized so that they are mapped to the most suitable processor so as to achieve optimal performance. A detailed comparative study of using homogeneous and heterogeneous configurations to accelerate the application across different platforms is conducted.
- Taking real-life road scenarios as input, a series of experiments are performed to execute the LDA implementations on heterogeneous platforms. Experimental results demonstrate the necessity



Figure 3.1: General processing flow of camera-based lane detection algorithms.

of utilizing FPGA-GPU combined heterogeneous architecture for future deployment of ADAS applications.

The remainder of this chapter is organized as follows: Section 3.2 reviews state-of-the-art research about lane detection and its acceleration on commodity hardware. Section 3.3 and 3.4 describe in detail the implementations of the two LDAs and their parallelization in the heterogeneous systems. Section 3.5 gives evaluation results and Section 3.6 summarizes the work in this chapter.

### 3.2 Related Work

#### 3.2.1 Lane Detection Techniques

State-of-the-art methods for lane detection can be classified into two categories: camera-based methods with image stream as input and multiple sensor-based methods which combine a camera sensor and a minimum of one additional source of environmental information such as LIght Detection And Ranging (LIDAR) [33] [34], Global Positioning System (GPS) [35] or other vehicle data received via carto-car communication. The algorithms in this chapter pertain to the camera-based methods and therefore the following paragraphs mainly review the approaches which only use camera as data source of information.

Basically camera-based approach are characterized by similar execution procedures shown in Figure 3.1. First the ROI within the camera-captured image is defined for further processing. This definition of the ROI size is often algorithm-dependent. Some approaches attempt to distinguish and extract the lanes from the whole image [36] [37] [38], while other researchers generate the ROI via either manually setting the ROI boundary [30] [39] [40] or dynamically calculating the lane area with inherent road properties and camera parameters [41] [42] [43].

After the ROI is generated, typical image processing methods are adopted to extract the features of the lane boundaries, such as color, gradients and edges, to distinguish between the markings and non-lane areas inside the image. In this step, the image on which the algorithm is operating can be raw or Bird-Eye View (BEV) images. By using raw image, the lane features can be directly extracted and mapped back to the image so as to highlight the candidate lanes. However, the perspective effect, i.e., the angle of view under which a scene is acquired and the distance of the objects from the camera, in fact must be taken into account in order to weigh each pixel according to its information content. Current researches often use two different approaches, namely Inverse Perspective Mapping (IPM) [36] [40] [41] [44] and Warp Perspective Mapping (WPM) [45] [46], to compute a BEV image from the input image. One advantage of this perspective effect elimination is the possibility to separate the relevant part of the image below the vanishing line from the irrelevant data above the vanishing points that may noise the data without any information gain.

In contrast to IPM which uses intrinsic (focal length, optical center) as well as the extrinsic camera parameters (pitch angle, yaw angle, roll angle, height above the ground) to calculated the required transformation matrix, the WPM method is independent from the camera parameters. However, a minimum of four reference points in the original image as well as the transformed image are required to compute an affine matrix mapping.

The models used to fit the candidate lanes are miscellaneous. The studies in [38] [39] [40] [43] used RANSAC model to perform straight line and spline fitting to refine the detect lanes. In [30] and [47], the authors proposed to use particle filter to predict the lane markings after the previous lanes are detected, while the work in [41] adopted similar Kalman tracking. The biggest advantage of RANSAC is the robust estimation of model parameters, even if the dataset contains a significant amount of outliers [48]. However, the benefit of filter-based lane tracking is the reduction of the execution time cost caused by the iterative lane fitting and detection.

#### 3.2.2 Acceleration of ADAS Applications on Heterogeneous Platforms

State-of-the-art research does not witness too much on the acceleration of lane detection using parallel platforms. The authors in [38] used CUDA and TBB to optimize the processing pipeline of a RANSAC-based road lane detection application. They reported a processing speed of 34.8 ms per frame for  $640 \times 480$  images, with a speedup of around  $3.55 \times$ . The work in [49] proposed a lane departure warning system implemented on an Xilinx FPGA. They used Single Instruction Multiple Data (SIMD) structure to implement vanishing point-based parallel Hough transform and reported a real-time performance of 40 Hz. Another similar study is presented in [50], which reports the performance result of 30 frames per second.

Meanwhile, there exist plenty of researches that propose to utilize COTS components to accelerate other ADAS algorithms, such as pedestrian detection [51], audio sensing [52], traffic sign detection [53], etc. While it is a potential trend to speedup ADAS applications with parallel processors, this chapter presents a comprehensive study of accelerating lane detection with OpenCL. The data-level parallelism is adopted for FPGA and GPU devices so that their performance characteristics can be



Figure 3.2: Flow chart of *p*-LDA.

directly and intuitively compared.

# 3.3 *p*-LDA: Particle-filter-based Lane Detection Algorithm

# 3.3.1 Algorithm Design

This section describes the naive design of *p-LDA* and the procedure is shown in Figure 3.2. As can be seen, the application analyzes the video stream captured by a moving vehicle frame by frame and attempts to extract the exact positions of the lane markings highlighted in output stream. For each frame, the *pre-processing* module extracts information about the lane markings via typical Digital Image Processing (DIP) techniques and then passes the processed image to the next step. Depending on whether or not the estimated state of the lane markings in previous frame can still be applied to the current frame, the image is processed either using *lane detection* module to redetect the positions of the lane markings or using *lane tracking* module to track the previous position of the lane markings.

#### 3.3.1.1 Pre-processing

The *pre-processing* module contains four steps successively applied to the raw images. First a ROI is cropped from the raw image and only this ROI is further processed. This is reasonable since normally only a small part of the image, which shows the street and road condition, contains all the essential information for the subsequent lane detection and tracking steps. Then this ROI is transformed into a grayscale format where each pixel reflects the intensities of the pixel in original image.

After grayscaling, the edges of the lane markings are slightly obvious since they are substantially brighter than the streets and roads around. To enhance this contrast of pixel intensity in ROI, a Sobel filter [54] is applied to the grayscaled image to extract transitions and edges in the image. The Sobel operator can produce optimal results when ① the lane markings in the image are extremely bright, ② the surrounding environment is extremely dark, and ③ there are no noises. However, in real application, images always contain noises whose sources are other road markings, signal posts at roadside,

varying colors of street material and shadows, etc. These disturbances could produce additional and undesired edges in the image.

To avoid the influence of noises in real scenarios, a threshold is used to set the intensity of all pixels whose gradient falls below the threshold as zero and all pixels who has an intensity above the threshold as a maximum value. With thresholding the strong edges created by lane markings are further emphasized and also the computation overhead of the following lane detection and tracking task is alleviated since much of the noises are erased.

#### 3.3.1.2 Lane Detection

Given a ROI with a band of pixels indicating the positions of the lane markings, the *lane detection* module has to extract this information and formulate it. It is assumed that the lane markings within the ROI are straight lines. This assumption can always hold since ① the ROI captures only a small part of the street ahead the vehicles and ② in the vast majority of cases the roads are straight or just moderately bent (i.e. with a small curvature). Moreover, when the road reveals a sharp bend, then the ROI can be horizontally split into several subblocks within which each has a straight lane marking.

Following this assumption, a lane marking can be represented as a 2-tuple  $X : (x_{top}, x_{bottom})$ , where  $x_{top}$  and  $x_{bottom}$  are the x-coordinates of the two points which intersect with the top and bottom border of the ROI. Then the slope of the lane s and any other point on the lane with y-coordinate value  $y_n$  can be determined by

$$s = \frac{x_{bottom} - x_{top}}{ROI\_HEIGHT}$$

$$x_n = x_{top} + s \cdot y_n.$$
(3.1)

Note that Equation (3.1) holds if and only if the lane intersects with the top and bottom borders of the ROI. Therefore to detect lane markings crossing with the left and right borders of the ROI, the ROI is then split into proper *subregions* where each lane marking intersects only with the top and bottom borders of one subregion.

During the detection, a set of *candidate lines* are randomly generated via assigning random values from a normal distribution to the elements in the 2-tuple set  $\mathbb{X} = \{X_1, X_2, \dots, X_n\}$ , where *n* is the number of the candidate lines. For each candidate line  $X_i$ , a weight  $w_i$  is used to reveal how close the line is located to the real lane. This weight is calculated by summing up the intensities of ① all the pixels which belong to part of the candidate line overlapping the ROI and ② pixels in an adjustable neighborhood around the line, accounting for the width of real lane markings. Hence a weight set  $\mathbb{W} = \{w_1, w_2, \dots, w_n\}$  is obtained. With this set, the line with the highest weight is chosen as the *best line* and certain number of candidate lines are also reserved as good lines, which would be further used in the lane tracking module.

#### 3.3.1.3 Lane Tracking

In this step, to find the position of lane markings in current frame, both the ROI of the current frame generated from the *pre-processing* module and the *best line* and *good lines* of the previous frame calculated from the *lane detection* module are considered. The particle filter [55] is adopted to handle the lane tracking. Theoretically speaking, given a series of observable explicit states Y, the filter tries to determine the posterior density distribution P(X|Y) of an implicit state X. With Bayesian recursion equation, the posterior density distribution is calculated as

$$P(X|Y) = \frac{P(Y|X)P(X)}{P(Y)},$$
(3.2)

where P(X) is the prior probability density of state X, P(Y|X) is the likelihood of observation Y subject to condition state X, and P(Y) is the probability of the state Y.

The particle filter extends Equation (3.2) by sampling a range of status values  $X_i$ , i.e., so-called "particles", from the prior probability distribution of state X. Each of these particles is assigned an importance weight  $\omega_i$  to express the likelihood that  $X_i$  is identical with the true state X, given the observation value of Y. Hence it is yielded from Equation (3.2) that

$$P(X_i|Y) = \frac{P(Y|X_i)P(X_i)}{P(Y)}$$
$$= \frac{P(Y|X_i)P(X_i)}{\sum_{i=1}^{N} P(Y|X_i)P(X_i)}$$
$$= \frac{\omega_i}{\sum_{i=1}^{N} \omega_i},$$
(3.3)

where N is the number of the particles.

When applying particle filter to the *lane tracking* method, the 2-tuple set can be seen as the implicit state space, the *good lines* as the set of particles, and the *best line* is used as an approximation of the observation state *Y*. The module mainly consists of three steps:

**Prediction update.** The good lines represent the position of lane markings in the previous frame, but are used as the prior probability distribution of lane markings in the current frame. Therefore some modifications are required and here the good lines are shifted with sample value from a normal distribution  $N(\mu, \sigma^2)$ , with mean  $\mu = 0$  and standard deviation  $\sigma > 0$ .  $\mu = 0$  means no shift is expected in optimal case, while  $\sigma > 0$  reveals a deviation in real scenarios.

Importance weight update. The importance weight of the particles is calculated by fitting the

state of the particles to Gaussian function

$$\omega_i = \frac{1}{\sigma\sqrt{2\pi}} e^{-(X_i - \mu_f)^2 / 2\sigma_f^2},$$
(3.4)

where  $\mu_f = Y$  and  $\sigma_f$  expresses the noise that accounts for a possible error in case the position of the lane marking does not change within two frames. Then each importance weight of the particles is normalized to obtain the updated weight

$$\omega_i^{updated} = \frac{\omega_i}{\sum_{i=1}^N \omega_i}.$$
(3.5)

**Resampling.** This step selects particles from the updated set, according to their importance weights, to generate a new particle set, with the particle number unchanged. The purpose of this is to increase the accuracy of the lane detection and prevent a degeneration of the particle set.

#### 3.3.1.4 Redetection Checking

The redetection checking step verifies whether the detected positions are reasonable and conform to the physical properties of the lane markings themselves. If not, additional detection step is triggered to seek the lane markings again. The criteria of redetection are as follows: ① Lane markings do not cross. ② There exists a minimum distance between each two detected lane markings. This value is adjustable and can be small when lots of lanes have to be detected. ③ There should be a minimum percentage of the lane marking within the ROI. Again this parameter is flexible and can be user-defined.

#### 3.3.2 Parallel and Heterogeneous Implementation

#### 3.3.2.1 Parallel Implementation

The *pre-processing* module presents a high potential of parallelization since each pixel in the ROI can perform grayscaling and thresholding manipulations by itself. Moreover, the Sobel filter only requires knowledge about nine neighbors of the processing pixel. This again implies that all the pixels can be handled independently. Thus an OpenCL kernel kernelPRE is developed to perform the pre-processing operations entirely on hardware accelerators.

As for the *lane detection* module, notice that the *candidate lines* are randomly generated and hence they are mutually independent. However the selection of the *best line* is based on the aggregated result of all the *candidate lines* and consequently should be performed only once on the host. As a result another kernel named kernelLD is implemented to sample the lines and calculate their weights.

As can be seen, similar with lane detection, the prediction and importance weight update steps in the *lane tracking* module are executed on every single particle and therefore are unrelated with others.

Al	Algorithm 1: p-LDA (basic version)				
Ι	Input: raw camera-captured video stream				
(	Output: video stream with lanes marked				
1 i	nitialization				
2 r	2 random number generation > KERNEL_RNG				
3 V	<sup>3</sup> while not the end frame do				
4	ROI image pre-processing	⊳ KERNEL_PRE			
5	if redetection then				
6	lane detection	⊳ KERNEL_LD			
7	<i>candidate line</i> generation				
8	else				
9	lane tracking	⊳ KERNEL_PF			
10	good line resampling				
11	<i>best line</i> extraction and mark lanes in current frame				

The resampling step, in contrast, relies on knowledge from the whole particle set and thus is performed on the host. Again a kernel kernelPF is used to calculate the updated results of the particles.

Furthermore, it should be noted that both the lane detection and tracking module require normally distributed random numbers to process their following tasks. In this algorithm, these numbers are generated by MWC64X [56], which is a small and fast random number generator developed for use with GPUs via OpenCL. As this task is mandatorily executed on hardware accelerators, another kernel called kernelRNG is introduced to realize it. In current work this kernel initializes a stream of random numbers and splits them with a period of 2<sup>40</sup>, which allows the processing of videos lasting far more than 24 hours and even in the worst case scenario where 10<sup>6</sup> random numbers per frame are used.

With above four kernels, the flow chart in Figure 3.2 is abstracted as the pseudo-code shown in Algorithm 1, where the red lines (Line 2, 4, 6, and 9 in Algorithm 1) represent the kernel tasks.

#### 3.3.2.2 Heterogeneous Implementation

The heterogeneous version of the application tries to distribute the kernel tasks among different accelerators. From Algorithm 1 it is seen that for each input video stream, random number generation (KERNEL\_RNG) is run only once and the other three kernels are executed repeatedly inner the frame loop. For this reason, KERNEL\_RNG can be performed on every accelerator since its time cost is rather small, while the other kernels should be scattered across the accelerators as they are the main tasks.

Meanwhile, it is worth noting that two layers of data dependencies exist here: ① both the executions of KERNEL\_LD and KERNEL\_PF use the outputs of KERNEL\_RNG and KERNEL\_PRE, and ② if the current frame is the first tracking frame, then it will need the detected positions of lane markings in the previous frame, in this case the execution of KERNEL\_PF relies on the output of KERNEL\_LD.

#### 3. DESIGN OF ADAS APPLICATIONS ON HETEROGENEOUS PLATFORMS



**Figure 3.3:** Overview of the execution of *p*-LDA in heterogeneous context. Red and blue items are distributed tasks on the FPGA and GPU. The italic items show the transfer of parameters.

Consequently, task-level parallelism for these three kernels is not desirable as it requires the indirect  $Device \rightarrow Host \rightarrow Device$  data transfer, which is considerably time-consuming due to the lack of state-of-the-art commercial direct FPGA-GPU data communication mechanism.

From the above, data-level parallelism of the basic *p*-LDA is used for the heterogeneous context and Figure 3.3 gives the overall processing procedure. In general, the host utilizes an ICD loader to coordinate the tasks executed on FPGA and GPU. When invoking OpenCL API functions, the program runtime passes kernel parameters to the ICD loader and then the ICD loader calls FPGA- and GPUspecific functions with *fpga*- and *gpu*-specific parameters respectively.

The host side is responsible for ① kernel parameters initialization and raw image I/O when the program begins, and ② result collection, weight updating and line resampling during the frame loop. On each hardware accelerator, the ROI of the image is preprocessed and then the detection kernel (KERNEL\_LD) samples a set of *candidate lines* and calculates their intensity weights individually. As shown in Figure 3.3, KERNEL\_LD processes n lines on the FPGA and m lines on the GPU, and subsequently returns the intensity weights to the host. On the host, after extracting a series of *good lines* and one *best line*, the lane detection operation outputs the position of the lane markings as the form of *best line*. Similarly for lane tracking kernel (KERNEL\_PF), a group of particles are extracted from the output data of KERNEL\_LD. Again these particles are scattered and processed on the two accelerators. Here n' and m' particles are respectively disposed on the FPGA and GPU. When the importance weights

#### Algorithm 2: Workload balance scheme

```
Input: m, n, m', n'
    Output: t<sub>kernel</sub>
1 t_{rng_f} \leftarrow funcRNG(m+n), t_{rng_q} \leftarrow funcRNG(m+n)
2 t_{kernel} \leftarrow max(t_{rnq_f}, t_{rnq_g})
3 while not the end frame do
          t_{pre_{g}} \leftarrow funcPRE(m), t_{pre_{f}} \leftarrow funcPRE(n)
 4
          t_{pre} \leftarrow t_{pre_f} + t_{pre_g}
5
         t_{kernel} \leftarrow t_{kernel} + t_{pre}
6
         if redetection then
7
               t_{ld_g} \leftarrow funcLD(m), t_{ld_f} \leftarrow funcLD(n)
8
               t_{kernel} \leftarrow t_{kernel} + max(t_{ld_f}, t_{ld_g})
 9
               m, n \leftarrow funcAdjustWL(t_{ld_f}, t_{ld_g}, m, n)
10
         else
11
               t_{pf_q} \leftarrow funcPF(m'), t_{pf_f} \leftarrow funcPF(n')
12
               t_{kernel} \leftarrow t_{kernel} + max(t_{pf_f}, t_{pf_q})
13
               m', n' \leftarrow funcAdjustWL(t_{pf_f}, t_{pf_g}, m', n')
14
```

of the particles are finished calculating, they are returned back to the host side and new particles are resampled based on the aggregated results to step into the new iteration.

#### 3.3.2.3 Workload Balance Scheme

To get the optimal execution, the workload of KERNEL\_LD and KERNEL\_PF on GPU and FPGA needs to be dynamically assigned since GPU and FPGA show distinct computation capacities in consideration of different types of data manipulations. This is especially important when the application is intended to be scaled across platforms where different FPGA and GPU boards are used. Since time and energy costs are two of the most important indicators when monitoring ADAS applications, this section gives a time optimization based workload balance scheme for the heterogeneous p-LDA and the energy cost is afterwards investigated.

Algorithm 2 briefs the workload balance scheme. Here *funcRNG*, *funcPRE*, *funcLD* and *funcPF* are corresponding kernel functions, from which the timing information can be profiled. The details of function *funcAdjustWL* are shown in Algorithm 3. Assume that the input is the initial task load for FPGA and GPU devices (i.e., m, n, m', n' in Figure 3.3), and the output is the time-optimal executions of the program (indicated as kernel execution time  $t_{kernel}$ ). The idea is that the workload for a device should be proportional to its computation capacity, i.e., its throughput. Hence, after each frame is processed complete, the kernel execution time on each device is recorded (Line 1, 4, 8, and 12 in Algorithm 2) and the throughput is calculated. Then the total work load is re-assigned based on the current throughputs of the computing devices (Line 10 and 14 in Algorithm 2). This scheme assumes that for

Algorithm 3: Function funcAdjustWL in Algorithm 2			
<b>Input:</b> $t_f, t_g, W_f, W_g$			
<b>Output:</b> $W_f, W_g$			
1 $c_f \leftarrow \frac{W_f}{t_f}, c_g \leftarrow \frac{W_g}{t_g}$			
$2 W_f \leftarrow \frac{c_f}{c_f + c_g} (W_f + W_g), W_g \leftarrow \frac{c_g}{c_f + c_g} (W_f + W_g)$			

each frame, the execution times of KERNEL\_LD and KERNEL\_PF are proportional to the current task load size.

# 3.4 *r*-LDA: Ransac-based Lane Detection Algorithm

### 3.4.1 Algorithm Design

This algorithm is based on the previous work in [57], which generates an IPM-based BEV image of a pre-defined, fixed ROI inside the input frame. To extract lanes in the IPM transformed image, this approach filters the image vertically by a smoothing Gaussian filter and horizontally by a second derivative Gaussian filter. Based on the filtered IPM values, a simplified Hough transformation is applied, which gives an initial guess about the position of the lane markings. Two RANSAC iterations are afterwards performed to refine the lane detection. The first step matches linear lines using previous Hough transformation data. After applying geometric checks, the second RANSAC iteration fits the lane to a third degree Bezier spline. The subsequent post-processing step tries to re-localize the matched splines in the original input image and to extend the relocated results.

Although this approach is illumination invariant and provides the capability to detect straight as well as curved lane markings, it still suffers from several crucial drawbacks: ① The pre-defined ROI only provides a limited section of the available lane marking information inside each image frame and neglects other relevant information; ② The proposed IPM resolution of the ROI is downscaled to  $160 \times 120$  pixels, which further decreases the lane information; ③ As the top-view IPM transformation is based on unknown camera parameters, these values have to be guessed, resulting in an inaccurate vanishing point estimation; ④ The vanishing point does not take road changes into account by assuming constant street gradients.

The *r*-LDA tries to overcome the limitations mentioned above. As the camera parameters of the lane detection data set are unknown and have to be guessed, which results in an inaccurate transformation matrix, in order to increase the accuracy of this matrix, in this design the top-view image is processed by a WPM instead, which is based on the reference frame of the video stream. The overall design of the *r*-LDA is shown in Figure 3.4. The homography matrix used in WPM is first generated off-line by virtue



**Figure 3.4:** Processing flow of *r*-LDA overview. The off-line part on the left is executed only once to obtain the homography matrix. The actual detection is performed on-line iteratively over each image frame.

of the vanishing point estimation and top-view mapping of the reference frame. Subsequently, each image is processed on-line via WPM to generate the BEV image. Then the top-view ROI is grayscaled and convoluted to extract the vertical as well as quasi-vertical lane markings. Afterwards, the lane marking is refined with a simplified Hough transformation and two RANSAC fitting, which is similar to the work in [57].

The difference of the improved design with the previous work lies in the off-line homography matrix generation and the on-line WPM transformation, therefore the following sections focus on this part and illustrate in detail the implementations.

#### 3.4.1.1 Vanishing Point Estimation

In contrast to IPM which uses intrinsic as well as the extrinsic camera parameters to calculated the required transformation matrix, the WPM method is independent from the camera parameters. However, a minimum of four corresponding point pairs in the original image as well as the transformed image are required to compute an affine matrix mapping. As the perspective transformation matrix is unknown, these correspondences cannot be calculated directly. To get the corresponding points in the raw image, the *r*-LDA uses a vanishing point based mapping from an arbitrary image to its corresponding top-view on the reference frame. To estimate the vanishing point the approach in [58] is



(c) Vanishing point voting.

(d) Estimated vanishing point.

**Figure 3.5:** Vanishing point estimation steps. Figure (a) shows the dominant orientation ranging from  $[0, \pi)$  quantized in steps of 5°. Darker colors correspond to larger angles. Figure (b) illustrates the computed confidence score. Brighter values correspond to larger scores. The area constrained soft-voting values can be seen in Figure (c). The brightest value is estimated to be the vanishing point (green circle). Figure (d) compares the estimated vanishing point (green) to the one used by [57] based on guessed camera parameters (red).

implemented. The texture orientations are estimated by convoluting the reference image with multiple Garbor filters over 36 orientations from  $[0, \pi)$  quantized with a step size of 5°. After a confidence score is calculated for the 36 values obtained per pixel coordinate for every orientation, a voting map is obtained based on the confidence scores inside a lower semicircle around each coordinate centered at the currently processed pixel. Then the final vanishing point is proposed to correspond to the largest value in the voting map. Figure 3.5 shows the result of the detected vanishing point in the reference frame. As can be seen, the position of the vanishing point (green circle in Figure 3.5d) estimated in this work is far more accurate than the one calculated by [57] (red circle in Figure 3.5d).

#### 3.4.1.2 ROI Bounding

It is assumed there are some reasonable environment-related properties in the reference frame:

1. A minimum of two lanes are included in the reference frame, one to the left side and one to the

right side of the vanishing point.

- 2. The lane boundaries in the reference frame are parallel.
- 3. The intensity values of the lane markings are higher than that of the surrounding road surface.
- 4. The vanishing point lies within the reference frame.
- 5. The roll angle of the camera is close to zero and can be neglected.

Figure 3.6 gives the overall procedure of the ROI initialization. Due to Assumption (5), the vanishing line can be approximated as a parallel to the x axis that intersects the vanishing point. With Assumption (1) and (3), Canny edge detector is applied to extract lane boundary points. To eliminate outliers from the binarized edge data, the image below the vanishing line is sampled with straight lines centered at the vanishing point within an angle of  $[0, \pi)$  between the x axis and the sampling line with an empirically defined step size of 4° (shown in Figure 3.6a). As a result, lines that overlap with a lane boundary edge score best. To compensate small vanishing point errors, this procedure iterates over an offset of three pixels to the left and to the right side of the vanishing point. The final scoring for each line is defined as the maximum response over all offsets. Based on Assumption (1), the set of sampling lines is separated into two equally sized subsets, ranging from  $[0, \pi/2)$  and  $[\pi/2, \pi)$ , respectively, to detect one lane boundary in the left and the right part of the image according to the x coordinate of the vanishing point. Each lane marking is defined as the highest score in the corresponding subset. Additionally, an upper and lower y axis boundary (blue lines shown in Figure 3.6c) is further imposed to neglect image parts without any road information as well as unreliable areas with perspective effects.

As observed in Figure 3.6c, the ROI is bounded by the upper and lower y axis limits (blue lines) and the image border crossing lines (orange lines). The y-coordinates of the upper and lower boundary are calculated by

$$U_y = V_y + \alpha * (H - V_y)$$
  

$$L_y = V_y + \beta * (H - V_y),$$
(3.6)

where  $V_y$  is the *y*-coordinate of the vanishing point, *H* is the image height and  $\alpha$ ,  $\beta$  are the scale factors. The image border meeting points are defined by their equal *y*-coordinates, which is obtained from

$$B_y = U_y + \gamma * (L_y - U_y), \tag{3.7}$$

where  $U_y$  and  $L_y$  are the previously defined upper and lower y axis boundaries and  $\gamma$  is a parameter ranging from [0, 1] to adjust the upper left and right triangles in the original image, which are neglected in the BEV as they are supposed to contain irrelevant information about the environment.





(c) Initialized ROI.

**Figure 3.6:** ROI extraction from the reference frame to compute WPM. Figure (a) is the linear sampling from the previously estimated vanishing point with a step size of  $4^\circ$ . Figure (b) shows the detected lane boundaries (red) for the left and the right part of the image according to the vanishing point and the median line inbetween (yellow), which is required to increase the accuracy of the method. The upper and lower *y* axis limits (blue) as well as the extracted reference image feature points for the each lane boundary (green) and the upper BEV corners in original coordinates (violett) obtained by the defined left and right image border crossing lines (orange) can be seen in Figure (c).

With Equation (3.6) and Equation (3.7), the *y*-coordinate of the image border meeting points is calculated as

$$B_y = V_y + [\alpha + \gamma \times (\beta - \alpha)](H - V_y).$$
(3.8)

That is to say, given image height H, vanishing point y-coordinate  $V_y$  and empirically determined coefficients  $\alpha$ ,  $\beta$  and  $\gamma$ , the ROI size is adaptive to the video streams.

#### 3.4.1.3 Top-view Mapping & Homography Matrix Adaption

The top-view mapping is separated into two steps. Initially, feature point coordinates are obtained from the reference frame to estimate corresponding points in the BEV image. Then the relations between the matching points are constrained by the underlying assumptions to compute the required homography mapping. First the bottom corner distance in the BEV image is assumed to be a fixed value v and thereupon the homography matrix is computed. As the distance between the top-view transformed lane boundary feature points and the medium x axis  $(x_m)$  in the BEV has to be equal for the upper and lower image border according to Assumption (2), the bottom corner distance correction scaling  $s_c$  is calculated as

$$s_c = \frac{1}{n} \sum_{i=0}^n \frac{d_u({}^tP_i, x_m)}{d_l({}^tP_i, x_m)},$$
(3.9)

where *n* is the number of feature points extracted from the input image and  $d_u$ ,  $d_l$  are the upper and lower distances from the current feature point in BEV coordinates  ${}^tP_i$  to  $x_m$ . The final bottom border distance  $d_f$  is computed as

$$d_f = 2 \times v \times s_c. \tag{3.10}$$

The corresponding points in the reference frame and the BEV image are used to compute the corrected homography matrix. To compensate vanishing point fluctuations due to changing road gradients, in each frame the homography matrix is adapted to the current street conditions. If the variance of the lane-to-vanishing point distance exceeds a certain threshold, then Equation (3.9) and Equation (3.10) are reused to adjust the homography matrix and restore parallel lane conditions.

In conclusion, the improved design solved the drawbacks mentioned above by the following: (1) The ROI is adaptive to the captured video, based on the estimated vanishing point. (2) The improved method extracts an isosceles trapezium with an approximated rectangular resolution of  $W \times [1 - \alpha - \gamma(\beta - \alpha)](H - V_y)$  pixels transformed to a WPM with  $W \times H$  pixels, where W, H are the image width and height,  $V_y$  is the *y*-coordinate of the vanishing point and  $\alpha$ ,  $\beta$  and  $\gamma$  are coefficients in Equation (3.6) and Equation (3.7). Consequently more potential lane marking coordinates can be included at a higher BEV resolution. (3) The estimated vanishing point is much more accurate (refer to Figure 3.5d). (4) The road gradient change is taken into consideration by dynamically regulating the homography matrix to restore parallel lane conditions.

#### 3.4.1.4 On-line Iterative Processing

The input of the iterative detection is the cropped ROI based on the boundaries inferred in Section 3.4.1.2. Given homography matrix generated off-line, the main steps performed on-line are WPM, image GrayScaling (GS), Edge Detection (ED), image CONVolution (CONV), Hough Transformation (HT), Linear and Spline RANSAC (LR, SR) model fitting. The details of these steps are illustrated as below.

• WPM is implemented by mapping the pixel value at point  $P_c$  in camera coordinate system to

its corresponding point  $P_g$  in BEV ground plane, with projection relationship as

$$P_g = \mathbf{H}_{\mathbf{a}} P_c, \tag{3.11}$$

where  $\mathbf{H}_{\mathbf{a}}$  is the affine homography matrix.

- **Image GrayScaling (GS)** in this design only takes into account one color channel of the input image, for the sake of efficiency, when calculating the mean image value.
- Edge Detection (ED) of the grayscaled image is implemented by subtracting the intensity of each BEV coordinate by the mean image value to reduce the influence of non-lane marking points in further processing steps, whereby negative values are set as zero.
- **CONVolution (CONV)** of an original image **I** into the convoluted image **J** with a kernel matrix **K** can be represented as

$$\mathbf{J}(x,y) = \mathbf{K} * \mathbf{I} = \sum_{i=-k_x}^{k_x} \sum_{j=-k_y}^{k_y} \mathbf{K}(i,j) \mathbf{I}(x-i,y-j),$$
(3.12)

where  $k_x$ ,  $k_y$  are half of the kernel size in x- and y-direction and x, y are the coordinates of the current processed pixel. In this design, the image is convoluted with a second order Gaussian derivative filter.

- Hough Transformation (HT) is implemented by adding up the pixel values in each column of the convoluted image, assuming that the lane boundaries highlighted by the previous steps achieve the highest values.
- Linear and Spline RANSAC (LR, SR) model fitting can be divided as two stages. First a random subset of the data points are used to compute the model parameters. Then the quality of the postulated model are tested and candidate data points that fit the model within a defined threshold according to a specific loss function are added into the consensus set. The iteration terminates if the cardinality of the consensus set exceeds a second threshold.

#### 3.4.2 Parallel and Heterogeneous Implementation

#### 3.4.2.1 Parallel Implementation

The main steps illustrated in Section 3.4.1.4 can be divided into two categories, namely pixel-wise dependent  $(task_{p.d})$  and independent tasks  $(task_{p.ind})$ . The pixel-wise independent tasks can be highly parallelized since data manipulations over each image pixel do not interfere with each other and the



Figure 3.7: Overview of the designs of *r*-LDA on different platforms.

correctness of the final result can be guaranteed. However, the pixel-wise dependent tasks typically perform atomic data aggregation and therefore might block the parallel processing pipeline, which poses a potential trade-off. The WPM, edge detection, image convolution and RANSAC model fitting steps belong to the pixel-wise independent tasks, while the rest two are pixel-wise dependent.

Figure 3.7 gives an overview of native and parallel implementations of the *r*-LDA. For the native CPU design, a single-core implementation is provided as the baseline and a multi-core design is afterwards proposed to showcase the speedup as well. The *single-core implementation* (Case ①) handles the aforementioned steps sequentially, while the *multi-core implementation* (Case ②) processes WPM and image convolution with multiple threads and executes all RANSAC iterations for one vertical line in a single thread. To ensure the scalability of the parallel implementation, OpenCL is used to program on GPU and FPGA. In the *OpenCL-based implementation* (Case ③), WPM, edge detection, image convolution and two RANSAC model fitting workloads are formulated as 4 kernels. Edge detection and image convolution are combined into one kernel so that the number of writing operations is halved as both steps are performed simultaneously without caching the mean corrected top-view image. Moreover, each of the two RANSAC kernels processes a single iteration of one vertical line per invocation. Each pixel operation on the BEV coordinate is mapped to one work item and all BEV pixel coordinates of the ROI are divided evenly among the work groups. With regards to the pixel-wise dependent tasks, different implementations which either includes or excludes the atomic manipulations are presented in order to test the tradeoff of on-device versus out-of-device data aggregation.

#### 3.4.2.2 Heterogeneous Implementation

In the native design, the *homography matrix calculation* is executed off-line only once and therefore is not parallelized. The *pre-processing* step is characterized as two OpenCL kernels, i.e., kernelWPM and

#### 3. DESIGN OF ADAS APPLICATIONS ON HETEROGENEOUS PLATFORMS



<sup>(</sup>b) Heterogeneous design.

Figure 3.8: Parallel design of the WPM transformation in r-LDA. The areas with slashes represent empty values of the pixels.

kernelCONV, which consume the WPM and image convolution tasks respectively. During the experiments, we found the computation of the RANSAC model fitting were fast enough when processed on CPU side, therefore in the optimized design, the *model fitting* step is performed on the host since its time cost is much smaller than that of the *pre-processing* step.

The heterogeneous execution is developed with data-level parallelism, since both kernelWPM and kernelCONV process the pixels in the ROI independently, and therefore during calculation there is no intra-pixel data dependency. The heterogeneous design vertically divides the ROI into two parts, of which either one is taken as an input workload on one accelerator. Taking WPM as example, Figure 3.8 presents its parallel design in the homogeneous (Figure 3.8a) and heterogeneous (Figure 3.8b) execution scenarios. In the heterogeneous implementation, FPGA and GPU individually transform part of the raw ROI and then piece together the results into the BEV image. It is the same case with the image convolution kernel.

#### 3.4.2.3 Optimization for Heterogeneous Executions

The optimization of both GPU and FPGA kernels is two-fold. First of all, the convolution kernel (kernelCONV) uses pre-computed values to replace memory reading operations by a multiplication with a fixed constant, to avoid expensive global memory access. Secondly, each loop inside the kernels is manually unrolled to ensure the benefit of coalesced memory access.

The main optimization effort lies in the kernel configuration on the FPGA platform. As OpenCL kernel is hardware synthesized and then implemented as dedicated circuit blocks on FPGA, the board

resource limits the actual performance and the resource utilization of each kernel needs to be coordinated. In the design the four OpenCL kernels are included into a single file before they are compiled as the executable binary file, taking into account the fact that on-board kernel switching overhead is significantly expensive and cannot be compensated by the full optimization of each kernel instead, as each frame is processed continuously in a loop manner.

In Intel FPGA SDK for OpenCL [59], several attributes can be used to guide the optimization of the kernel. To increase the data processing efficiency, num\_simd\_work\_items can be used to specify the number of work-items within a work-group so that the kernel is executed in a SIMD manner. num\_compute\_units is another attribute that can instruct the off-line OpenCL compiler to generate multiple kernel compute units capable of executing multiple work groups simultaneously. In addition, max\_unroll\_loops can be indicated to decrease the number of executed iterations at the expense of increased hardware resource consumption. During the implementation of r-LDA, both num\_simd\_work\_items and max\_unroll\_loops are set as 1 since each kernel is thread-ID dependent and each loop is manually unrolled.

The optimization of the aforementioned OpenCL kernels on the FPGA platform is as follows: first it is assumed that each kernel is using the most simplified configuration, i.e., with num\_compute\_units set as 1, to guarantee that the design meets the board resource limitation. Afterwards, each kernel is step by step optimized by assigning more compute units to the most time-consuming task load.

### 3.5 Evaluation Results

#### 3.5.1 Evaluation Setup

The test environment is a heterogeneous system consisting of multi-core CPU, GPU and FPGA. The detail information about the hardware specification is shown in Table 3.1. To evaluate the performance of the implemented algorithm, the runtime as well as detection quality are measured for the manually labeled Caltech dataset [60]. This dataset consists of four clips on various urban street scenarios including straight and curved lane markings, shadows, other vehicles, reflections and street writings to reflect real-world conditions.

During the evaluation, the execution time of each run is measured to calculate the real-time performance. The power estimation method is the same as [61] and Altera PowerPlay power analyzer [62] is used to estimate the power consumption of running each OpenCL kernel on FPGA. As for the power estimation of GPU and CPU, the metric data come from official specifications of the COTS components.

During the runtime evaluation of p-LDA,  $2^{12}$  good lines and  $2^{13}$  candidate lines are used to detect 2

lane markings. As for the parameters of r-LDA, the number of RANSAC iterations is set to an optimal value of 40. Each time the FPGA device is assigned the workload with different proportions, i.e. from 10% to 90% and vice versa, the task proportion on the GPU is from 90% to 10%, with a step of 10%. Each video is run multiple times and the overall results are finally collected and averaged.

#### 3.5.2 Results and Analysis

#### 3.5.2.1 p-LDA: Particle-filter-based Lane Detection Algorithm

In *p-LDA*, totally four scenarios are involved, namely, single FPGA execution (*singleFPGA*), single GPU execution (*singleGPU*), work-load-constant (*heteroConstant*) and work-load-balanced (*heteroBalanced*) heterogeneous execution. In *heteroConstant* scenario, the whole task is partitioned in advance and then fed to FPGA and GPU devices. Thus the task proportions on FPGA and GPU are always constant. While in *heteroBalanced* scenario, with given partitioned task, the workload balance scheme tunes the task proportions on FPGA and GPU during the processing of each frame.

Note that for *singleFPGA* and *singleGPU* scenarios, the task proportions on FPGA are constant 100% and 0%, respectively. Hence the results of *singleFPGA* and *singleGPU* are used as reference for evaluating the heterogeneous executions.

**Workload balance scheme.** The objective of the workload balance scheme is to minimize the kernel execution time ( $t_{kernel}$  in Algorithm 2). To validate the correctness and robustness of this scheme, (1) the kernel execution times of the four designs are recorded and (2) during the *heteroBalanced* run, the real-time task rates on both FPGA and GPU devices are monitored. Figure 3.9 gives the results of the recorded kernel execution time and Figure 3.10 shows the real-time task rates of the test videos.

Figure 3.9 indicates that when compared with *singleFPGA*, both of the *heteroConstant* and *heter-oBalanced* implementations can shorten the kernel execution time to a large degree. The kernel time cost of *heteroBalanced* is 7.171% of that of *singleFPGA* and 245.0% of that of *singleGPU*. It is seen that

Platform	Information			
Host CPU	Intel Xeon E31225 @ 3.10GHz			
Thermal Design Power	95W			
PCIe generation	2.0	)		
Device	FPGA	GPU		
Model	Terasic Arria 10	AMD W7100		
Architecture	Arria 10 AX	FirePro		
OpenCL SDK version	Intel FPGA SDK 16.0	AMD APP SDK 3.0		
Peak GFLOPS	1366	3379.2		
Peak board power (W)	95	150		

Table 3.1: Detailed specification of the hardware platforms.



Figure 3.9: Kernel execution time of *p*-LDA in the different scenarios.



Figure 3.10: Real-time task rates of the test videos.

the time costs of the heterogeneous executions are larger than the *singleGPU* case. This is because the time cost of *singleFPGA* is an order of magnitude larger than that of *singleGPU*. Therefore simply shifting the task a little from GPU to FPGA would incur considerable latency. As can be observed, the



Figure 3.11: Performance of *p*-LDA in the different scenarios.

kernel execution time of *heteroConstant* always surpasses *heteroBalanced*, which verifies the validity of the workload balance scheme. In Figure 3.10, it is seen that the real-time task proportions of all the test videos converge within 5 frames and then keep relatively constant with minor fluctuations. What's more, the workload balance scheme can identify the optimal task distributions on FPGA and GPU, regardless of the input video. This demonstrates the robustness of the workload balance scheme.

**Runtime Performance.** Figure 3.11 depicts the performance results of the four implementations running on the test platforms. From the figure, it is observed that the performance of *singleGPU* outperforms *singleFPGA* and this is reasonable due to the lower computation capacity of FPGA (refer to the peak GFLOPS in Table 3.1). Both of the heterogeneous runs gain a performance increase than *singleFPGA*, which without doubt benefits from the high performance GPU. Intuitively, the performance declines when more and more tasks are shifted to FPGA. As for *heteroBalanced* scenario, the performance turns out very stable since the task load is dynamically allocated and the heterogeneous execution would rapidly converges to equilibrium after several frames, which is verified in the abovementioned results in Figure 3.10.

On the whole, using heterogeneous architecture improves the performance when compared with the *singleFPGA* lower bound. The workload balance scheme reconciles the heterogeneous system and during all task rates, the *heteroBalanced* case increases the performance by an average of 102.1% when compared with the *singleFPGA* case.

**Energy Efficiency.** Figure 3.12 shows the overall energy cost for the four different designs. Figure 3.12a presents the energy cost of the overall system, while Figure 3.12b gives the results of the



**Figure 3.12:** Energy cost of *p*-*LDA* in the different scenarios.

accelerator energy consumption.

As indicated by Figure 3.12a, the system energy is much larger when using a single FPGA, compared with the energy cost of *singleGPU*. This is mainly because the overall execution time of *singleF*-*PGA* is much longer than *singleGPU*, which poses a huge increment of the CPU energy cost. However, the heterogeneous designs are able to consume much less energy than *singleFPGA*. With regards to the on-device energy cost (Figure 3.12b), using a single GPU costs the least device energy and we owe this to the huge speedup of the AMD W7100 card. The energy cost of FPGA is not able to outperform the GPU because the low-power advantage of FPGA over GPU simply cannot compensate for the far-behind performance gap. As the consequence, the device energy increases linearly when tasks are migrated on FPGA, which is clearly observed via the *heteroConstant* curve. Nevertheless, the *heteroBalanced* design commendably suppresses the energy cost, as it manages to identify the powerperformance tradeoff of FPGA and GPU and subsequently always distributes more task load on GPU.

Based on the performance and energy results, the energy efficiency results of the four scenarios are calculated and presented in Figure 3.13. As observed, FPGA turns out a huge advantage over GPU in terms of the energy efficiency. The heterogeneous executions, on the other hand, show values in the middle since they leverage the performance and energy tradeoff of both platforms. The energy efficiency of the *heteroBalanced* design is lower than that of *heteroConstant*, due to the reason that more task load is assigned to the energy-consuming GPU card.

In summary, the heterogeneous executions consume less energy, when compared with the mostenergy-cost single accelerator (i.e., the *singleFPGA* case). Using the workload balanced scheme not only "smoothes" the heterogeneous execution, but also shortens the energy cost regardless of the initial task rates. Moreover, using the heterogeneous architecture improves the energy efficiency when certain performance bound is guaranteed. The heterogeneous implementations could solve both the



Figure 3.13: Energy efficiency comparison of *p*-LDA in the different scenarios.

performance and energy bottlenecks caused when only using a single accelerator.

#### 3.5.2.2 r-LDA: Ransac-based Lane Detection Algorithm

The whole algorithm is partitioned into four parts and each part is recorded with time stamps to obtain the final execution time. Table 3.2 details the information of each partition. **Partition I** includes the WPM transformation, image grayscaling and the computation of the image mean gray value. **Partition II** performs the edge detection, image convolution and the simplified Hough transformation. Subsequently, **Partition III and IV** perform the linear and spline RANSAC model fitting, respectively. The reason for this partitioning is straightforward, since each partition natively corresponds to one OpenCL kernel in the later design.

**Homogeneous Execution.** The performance of the single- and multi-core executions on CPU are evaluated at first. Figure 3.14 exhibits the execution time of each partition with single or multiple

Module	Step	Partition	Category
	WPM	Ι	$task_{p\_ind}$
Proprocessing	Image grayscaling	Ι	$task_{p\_d}$
Teprocessing	Edge detection	II	$task_{p\_ind}$
	Image convolution	II	$task_{p\_ind}$
	Hough transformation	II	$task_{p\_d}$
Model fitting	Linear RANSAC	III	$task_{p\_ind}$
	Spline RANSAC	IV	$task_{p\_ind}$

Table 3.2: Task partitions of *r*-LDA.



Figure 3.14: Execution time of the homogeneous execution on CPU.

threads. Note the logarithmic scale of the *y*-axis. Here the multi-core implementation is tested with 8 threads. From the figure, it is seen that the time costs of Partition III and IV are far less than that of Partition I and II. This can be explained by the reason that the computation load of the linear and spline RANSAC model fitting is rather small, as in practice the number of detected potential lane markings is always below 10. In this case, the benefit of concurrently performing RANSAC model fitting cannot compensate for the overhead of initializing new threads and additional data synchronization, resulting in the longer execution time of the multi-core implementation. However, the preprocessing of the ROI image is computation-intensive and therefore can be accelerated by the parallel implementation. In this design, the multi-core execution outperforms the single-core version and decreases the execution time of Partition I and II by 15.01% and 55.22%, respectively.

**Single-accelerator Execution.** The OpenCL-based implementation follows the top-down design principle. First of all, the naive version wraps each of the aforementioned partition into one kernel. Afterwards, by gradually pruning lightweight and data aggregation task loads, the runtime performance of each kernel is re-evaluated to demonstrate the tradeoff of the parallelization of these lightweight workloads and atomic operations. The step-by-step optimization of the single-accelerator execution (CPU-GPU and CPU-FPGA executions) is shown in Table 3.3. The steps which are marked with ticks are executed on the GPU (or FPGA), while the rest are run on the host CPU. First, all the steps in Table 3.3 are assumed to be parallelized (*heteroGPU*<sub>1</sub>, *heteroFPGA*<sub>1</sub>), then the model computation part in the RANSAC step is excluded to exhibit the pro and con of parallelizing this lightweight task load (*heteroGPU*<sub>2</sub>, *heteroFPGA*<sub>2</sub>). Subsequently, atomic data aggregation tasks are excluded to weigh the benefit of implementing them with OpenCL (*heteroGPU*<sub>3</sub>, *heteroFPGA*<sub>3</sub>). At last, the optimal execution



Figure 3.15: Time cost of CPU-GPU executions.

(*heteroGPU*<sub>4</sub>, *heteroFPGA*<sub>4</sub>) is inferred from the previous contrast tests.

Figure 3.15 gives the runtime results of the CPU-GPU executions. It is clearly seen that in *heteroGPU*<sub>1</sub> the time cost of RANSAC model fitting (Partition III and IV) is nearly two times large as the image preprocessing (Partition I and II), although the input task size of the RANSAC part is rather small. As observed from *heteroGPU*<sub>1</sub> to *heteroGPU*<sub>2</sub>, the execution time is decreased rapidly when shifting the RANSAC model computing part to the CPU side. However, this time cost is still large than that of CPU homogeneous execution (shown in Figure 3.14). Comparing the results of *heteroGPU*<sub>2</sub> and *heteroGPU*<sub>3</sub>, it is seen that the execution of the atomic operations consumes longer time when they are processed on the CPU side, which means the parallelization of these data aggregation tasks are worthwhile on GPU. As a consequence, the optimal *heteroGPU*<sub>4</sub> execution excludes the RANSAC part and processes

Table 3.3: Configurations of the single-accelerator execution.

Configuration	WPM GS	CS	ED	CONV	HT	RANSAC	
Configuration		65				Model Computation	Model Evaluation
$heteroGPU_1$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$
$heteroGPU_2$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$
$heteroGPU_3$	$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$			$\checkmark$
$heteroGPU_4$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$		
$heteroFPGA_1$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$
$heteroFPGA_2$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$
$heteroFPGA_3$	$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$			$\checkmark$
$heteroFPGA_4$	$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$			


Figure 3.16: Time cost of CPU-FPGA executions.

all the other steps on GPU side, which takes an overall time consumption of less than 3 ms.

The runtime evaluation of CPU-FPGA executions is shown in Figure 3.16. Note the logarithmic scale of the *y*-axis. The execution time of Partition III turns out an apparent decline when the model computation of the RANSAC fitting is processed on the host CPU (from *heteroFPGA*<sub>1</sub> to *heteroFPGA*<sub>2</sub>), while there exists a minor increase in the time cost of Partition IV. From the executions of *heteroFPGA*<sub>2</sub> and *heteroFPGA*<sub>3</sub>, it is clearly seen that FPGA suffers much more than GPU when performing the atomic operations on device side. Removing the data aggregation tasks can decrease the runtime cost of Partition I and II by 73.69% and 72.59%, respectively. Different to GPU, the optimal CPU-FPGA execution (*heteroFPGA*<sub>4</sub>) excludes both the aggregation workloads (image grayscaling and simplified Hough transformation) and RANSAC model fitting from the OpenCL kernels.

**Optimal & Heterogeneous Execution.** As observed in Table 3.3 and Figure 3.16, the optimal CPU-FPGA heterogeneous execution contains two kernels and the WPM kernel consumes more time than that of the image convolution kernel. Consequently during the optimization more resources are allocated to the WPM kernel. Specifically in the optimal designs, on the FPGA board, the num\_compute\_units attribute of the WPM and convolution kernel is respectively set as 12 and 4. Figure 3.17 presents the performance of the single- and multi-core implementation, the single-accelerator execution, as well as the heterogeneous GPU-FPGA design.

As depicted in Figure 3.17, all the 5 different implementations are capable of processing  $640 \times 480$  videos real-timely. The CPU-GPU execution achieves the best performance of 169.8 fps, while the CPU-FPGA execution can process the video stream with time cost of 7.07 ms per frame. Nevertheless, the CPU-only implementations cannot handle  $1920 \times 1080$  images with a performance demand of 30



Figure 3.17: Performance with different parallel configurations.

fps. The single-accelerator and the heterogeneous executions can still fulfill this requirement, resulting in speedups of  $8.87 \times$ ,  $5.21 \times$ , and  $4.05 \times$  over the single-core implementation, respectively in the CPU-GPU, CPU-FPGA, and GPU-FPGA-combined scenarios.

The performance of the heterogeneous GPU-FPGA execution is unable to outperform the singleaccelerator executions, due to the reasons that: ① As demonstrated in Figure 3.15 and 3.16 the configurations of the optimal CPU-GPU and CPU-FPGA scenarios are not the same, therefore we applied the same configuration of the CPU-FPGA design to the GPU-FPGA execution in order to ensure the data consistency. This inevitably sacrifices the performance of the GPU side. ② The data communication between the host and devices causes an increasing latency when more accelerators are involved in the system. Moreover, the consumed data in the singe-accelerator case are integrated data blocks and they are split in the GPU-FPGA execution. This results in data transfer of small data fragments, which is considerably time-consuming.

Despite the performance loss, the heterogeneous GPU-FPGA execution still provides a solution of better energy utilization. The results are shown in Figure 3.18. Similar to p-LDA, using heterogeneous architecture for r-LDA also enhances the energy efficiency, which is rather important when performance is not the primary consideration.

### 3.6 Summary

In this chapter, two different approaches to implement the typical LDA in ADAS are presented and their deployment in the heterogeneous context is further illustrated in detail. The evaluation results



Figure 3.18: Energy efficiency comparison of *r*-LDA with different parallel configurations.

reveal that heterogeneous computing is a promising solution for future ADAS since it is able to regulate the performance and energy tradeoff in the system. In the first application, this chapter provides a lightweight workload balance scheme which can robustly tune the tasks between the two accelerators. The optimization results of the second application reveal that GPU and FPGA exhibit different characteristics when performing the same task load. FPGA is more sensitive to atomic data aggregation operations, while both GPU and FPGA are unsuitable to parallelize lightweight workloads. For lightweight workload, both platforms show a larger overhead when transferring data between the host and device, compared to the processing of the task itself. However, the atomic data aggregation operations turn out a severe performance bottleneck for the FPGA platform, which in the other way still deserves to being accelerated by GPU.

Inspired by all these observations, the next chapter focuses on the performance aspect and propose a detailed procedure to optimize the two applications in GPU-FPGA heterogeneous system.

## 3. DESIGN OF ADAS APPLICATIONS ON HETEROGENEOUS PLATFORMS

## Chapter 4

# Performance Optimization of ADAS Applications in Heterogeneous Systems

Chapter 3 investigated how the naive designs of the two LDAs are parallelized to enable their executions on the COTS hardware accelerators. Inspired by the observations, the work in this chapter proposes a detailed procedure that helps guide the performance optimization of parallelized ADAS applications on a heterogeneous platform consisting of GPU, FPGA, and multi-core CPU.

The explosive growth of massive data captured by various sensors on modern vehicles has impelled the deployment of COTS accelerators for the research and development of ADAS. Aiming at HPC applications in ADAS, heterogeneous computing emerges as it leverages different accelerators to strengthen the advantages of the individual counterpart. Moreover, this type of reconfigurable computing framework is very compatible with portable platforms because of its high flexibility and scalability. From 2008, OpenCL arises and turns out to be an ideal heterogeneous programming framework as it specifies a high-level abstraction for low-level hardware instructions, which enables to scale computations among different brands of platforms without changing the source code.

In heterogeneous context, real time constraint is well handled since different accelerators can be arranged to consume the computational tasks that fit their inherent processing characteristics. However, from the host side, how to schedule different accelerators to gain the optimal system performance is nontrivial. Although the advent of cross-platform programming framework such as OpenCL facilitates the programmability of ADAS applications on heterogeneous devices, the performance portability is still vulnerable and subject to the miscellaneous hardware implementations by the respective manufacturers. Program developers always need to elaborately and repeatedly define and assign the workload

on different platforms so as to gain the best possible performance benefit. This error-prone procedure requires a substantial amount of program deploying, debugging, and tuning efforts.

### 4.1 Overview

State-of-the-art studies mainly focus on the implementation and optimization of applications accelerated with a single type of hardware accelerator, such as using GPU [38] [52] [63] or FPGA [51] [53] [64]. This chapter investigates several key factors that influence the performance gain when deploying parallelized ADAS applications in heterogeneous systems. The work in this chapter differs from state-of-the-art with the following aspects:

- The study focuses on the heterogeneous systems with multiple types of hardware accelerator, i.e. with both FPGA and GPU. Therefore, the intra-accelerator workload consumption, which is a different scenario from previous work, is studied carefully and two optimization methods called accelerator execution overlapping and dynamic workload tuning are presented.
- 2. The applications are customized with data-level parallelism and the workloads assigned to different accelerators are identical. In this way, the comparison of the computational capacity of each accelerator is fair and intuitive.
- 3. The proposed procedure contains various approaches to optimize a native parallelized application in a fine-grained manner. Therefore, this procedure applies to any OpenCL application that is developed in the early-design stage and intended to be executed in such an FPGA-GPU heterogeneous system.

After the identification of the performance bottlenecks in the target program, one intra-accelerator and two inter-accelerator sub-optimization methods are taken into consideration so as to increase the task processing efficiency. Moreover, application-oriented optimization of the workload is conducted to further improve the overall runtime performance. The two different implementations of LDA illustrated in Chapter 3 are taken as case studies and experiment results reveal that for *p*-*LDA* and *r*-*LDA*, the optimal designs generated from the procedure can achieve performance gains with an average speedup of  $2.09 \times$  and  $1.83 \times$  over the native parallel implementations, respectively.

The remainder of this chapter is organized as follows: Section 4.2 is related work and Section 4.3 illustrates in detail the proposed procedure and the sub-optimization methods. Section 4.4 presents experimental results and Section 4.5 summarizes the work in this chapter.

### 4.2 Related Work

Lane detection is mostly achieved via filtering techniques to capture lanes, however it is rarely deployed on heterogeneous platforms. The work in this chapter focuses on the optimization of OpenCLbased lane detection applications. The performance portability of OpenCL applications across different platforms remains an open problem. To solve this issue, some researchers have proposed profiling and optimization framework to assist better development of OpenCL applications. The work in [65] provided a generic tool for performance measurement of OpenCL programs. In [66], the authors proposed a framework combining OpenCL application auto-tuning and runtime resource management. The study in [67] presented a transparent OpenCL overlay called Helium, for inter- and intra-kernel optimization. The studies mentioned above are not yet mature and to the best of our knowledge, state-of-the-art research remains at the stage that optimizations are highly dependent on the specific algorithm, architecture, and programming features. In [68], the authors analyzed and profiled the components of the Speeded Up Robust Features (SURF) algorithm. Their work only involved the profiling of the program and this information can be referenced for performance improvement. Recently, FPGA devices are mainly used as the accelerator for Convolutional Neural Network (CNN) like the work in [69] and [70]. In their work, optimizations were mainly performed based on the CNN algorithm itself.

While there exist substantial efforts to parallelize ADAS applications with GPU [38] [52] [63] or FPGA [49] [50] [51] [53] [64], few studies are reported to accelerate them with heterogeneous commodity hardware [71]. The study in [11] investigated the feasibility of using COTS hardware for ADAS development, but the performance optimization is not considered. The work in [63] presented a stepby-step optimization of face detection algorithm in CPU-GPU heterogeneous systems. However, this study considered only the CPU-GPU heterogeneous architecture. Authors in [72] compared the performance of using GPU, FPGA, or both devices to accelerate pedestrian detection applications. Unlike the data-level parallel designs in this work, in [72] GPU and FPGA process different tasks to fulfill task-level parallelism. In [73], the authors exploited FPGA to accelerate a speed-limit-sign recognition application and showcased the performance and energy results compared with the GPU-implemented counterpart. The most related study to the work presented in this chapter is [63], where the authors used optimization methods including CPU execution time hidden, memory coalescing, and variable parallel granularity. The difference of the work in this chapter is that rather than using a single GPU, the FPGA-GPU heterogeneous context is considered so that (1) the execution time of both accelerators can also be hidden via changing build-in function order, (2) parallelism on FPGA side could be further adjusted by using pragma primitives, and (3) other optimization methods like dynamical workload



**Figure 4.1:** Optimization procedure for parallelized ADAS applications in FPGA-GPU heterogeneous platform. The three red dashed boxes indicate the intra-accelerator, inter-accelerator, and FPGA-specific optimization module, respectively.

tuning are also presented.

## 4.3 **Optimization Procedure**

Figure 4.1 exhibits the proposed optimization procedure. First of all, profiling of the application is needed to locate the hotspot kernels so that the bottleneck can be identified and further optimized. Given a native design of the hotspot kernels, generic optimization is utilized on the intra-accelerator side. These optimizations include loop unrolling, memory access coalescing, global memory access elimination, etc. Particularly for the FPGA, since each OpenCL kernel is abstracted as a compute unit and further hardware synthesized as a dedicated circuit block on the board, this compute unit can be replicated multiple times to increase the processing efficiency. With a set of kernel configurations that indicate different combinations of compute unit replication and loop unrolling factors, a resource check is conducted at pre-compilation stage to examine whether the candidate designs can actually meet the on-board resource limitation. The designs that consume more ALMs, registers, RAM blocks, and DSP blocks than the maximal available number of the counterparts are discarded and the remaining designs are passed to the design space exploration module to obtain the optimal kernel design on FPGA.

The inter-accelerator sub-optimization consists of two steps. On the host, the invocation order of

the kernel functions for different accelerators can be interleaved to hide the kernel launch, host-device data transfer, and kernel execution overhead. Meanwhile, during the processing of each frame, the workloads for FPGA and GPU are dynamically tuned so as to balance the time consumption.

Finally, each application has its self-defined workload, such as the ROI definition in p-LDA and the RANSAC iteration in r-LDA. This type of workload is flexible and can also be regulated to enhance the runtime performance.

### 4.3.1 Profiling

To figure out the execution time distribution of the program, the high-level source code is segmented into several blocks and the execution time of each block is subsequently measured. The executions of these code blocks express the skeleton of the whole program. For each code block, time stamps are inserted before and after the execution of the code and the proportion of time cost in the total time consumption is calculated after each run. In theory, the code block that consumes the most part of the total execution time is optimized with top priority.

### 4.3.2 Compute Unit Replication (CR)

In OpenCL, high-level source code of the kernel is instantiated as a work item running on a compute unit where a group of work items can execute simultaneously to accelerate the applications. For GPU, this compute unit is mapped to a stream multi-processing unit and therefore its implementation is hardware-dependent and beyond of optimization. While on the FPGA platform, the compute unit is hardware-implemented as a circuit block and by assigning more compute units, the performance can be enhanced to a large margin as long as the peak computation capacity and resource utilization are not reached. The kernel compute unit replication increases the data throughput at the expense of memory bandwidth contention among the compute units.

The compute unit replication in this chapter is performed as follows: first it is assumed that by default, each kernel is using the most simplified configuration, i.e., setting only one compute unit for each kernel, to guarantee that the design meets the board resource limitation. Afterwards, the kernels is optimized in a step-by-step manner by assigning more and more compute units to the most time-consuming task load.

### 4.3.3 Loop Unrolling and Memory Access Coalescing (LU)

Loop unrolling is a code transformation technique used to reduce the program's execution time at the expense of its binary size, which is known as the space-time tradeoff. By unwinding the loop code

several times, the control statements are reduced or avoided so that the number of branches are minimized. On the GPU side, loop unrolling is implemented by manually replacing the loop with repeated sequential statements which eliminates the branch penalty. Loop unrolling on the FPGA board increases the length of pipeline, thus overlapping the executions of more logic units. Similar to compute unit replication, loop unrolling on FPGA provides a trade-off between the potential higher performance, due to the hidden pipeline execution time, and more intense memory bandwidth contention, due to larger resource exploitation. On both platforms, the expansion of loop size coalesces memory access as long as they have adjacent memory addresses.

Additionally, the expensive global memory access in some kernels is eliminated by using precomputed values to replace memory-reading operations with data manipulation of a fixed constant rather than a global variable.

### 4.3.4 Accelerator Execution Overlapping (EO)

As illustrated in Chapter 3, the heterogeneous implementations of the two applications are data-level parallel. Therefore each hotspot kernel is executed on both FPGA and GPU platforms. Here, there is a trade-off of how and when the kernels are invoked from the host. In general, an overall execution of an OpenCL kernel can be abstracted as the following flow: ① The input data is stored in a host buffer and then written into device memory via the function clEnqueueWriteBuffer. ② The kernel is driven via the function clEnqueueNDRangeKernel to the command queue and is ready for execution. ③ The output data is generated after the kernel is completed and the results are read back from the device to the host via function call of clEnqueueReadBuffer. ④ The data on the device and the host is synchronized over and ready for future use, which is notified by the completion of corresponding kernel events via the function clWaitForEvents. In the heterogeneous design, both FPGA and GPU would call their own OpenCL runtime libraries to execute the API functions mentioned above. It is noted that the call order of these functions should be carefully considered since not all of them are non-blocking invocations.

Figure 4.2 gives an example to illustrate how the call order of the API functions influences the time cost of executing the kernel on FPGA and GPU. On each platform, the kernel is processed with the same function call order as the aforementioned flow, while the sequence of the functions that the host invokes for different platforms may vary. In Case I, all the invocations of FPGA-related API functions are before the GPU-related counterparts as if the kernel is sequentially processed one after another on the platforms. In this case, the first GPU-related API function is invoked after the last FPGA-related API function is served and the total time cost is the sum of the execution time on FPGA and GPU. In Case II,



**Figure 4.2:** A sample heterogeneous execution with different call order of OpenCL API functions for FPGA and GPU. The blue arrows indicate the exact time point when the API function in the blue circle would actually take effect.

the first GPU-related API function is invoked immediately after the call of the FPGA-related function clEnqueueNDRangeKernel, with a subtle lag. The data read back function clEnqueueReadBuffer on GPU is called later than the completion of the kernel on FPGA. Therefore, the termination of the GPU-related function clWaitForEvents indicates the end time point of the total execution. In this case, both the kernel execution and host-device data transfer time are well overlapped. As shown in the last case, the data read back part on FPGA is executed after the GPU kernel is processed and the total execution time is longer than that in Case II, since the host-device data transfer time is not hidden.

As can be seen, calling FPGA- and GPU-related API functions in an interleaved way can overlap the inter-accelerator kernel execution and host-device data transfer time. In this way, the runtime performance can be improved.

### 4.3.5 Dynamical Workload Tuning (DT)

For ADAS applications, the input data is normally from a captured road video stream and the program needs to process the video frame by frame to extract effective environmental information so as to assist

drivers with decision making. These applications can be lane detection, pedestrian detection, traffic sign recognition, vehicle identification, etc. Consequently, the hardware accelerators need to process the workload of every image frame repeatedly, which offers the possibility of dynamically tuning the workloads among different platforms.

As FPGA and GPU show distinct computation capacities in consideration of different types of data manipulations, inspired by the work in [31], this chapter applies a dynamical tuning of the workload to ensure that the tasks can be finished within the shortest possible time. The basic idea of the dynamical workload tuning is that the workload to be assigned on a certain device should be proportional to its computation throughput. Therefore during each processing iteration of the image frame, the total workload is re-assigned to the involved accelerators based on their historical computation capacities.

Assume there are in total N accelerators in the system and in the previous iteration the *i*-th accelerator consumes an amount of workload  $W_i$  at the expense of time  $T_i$ , then the newly assigned workload  $W'_i$  for the current iteration can be calculated as

$$W'_{i} = \frac{c_{i}}{\sum_{i=1}^{N} c_{i}} \sum_{i=1}^{N} W_{i}$$

$$c_{i} = \frac{W_{i}}{T_{i}},$$
(4.1)

where  $c_i$  indicates the computation throughput of the *i*-th accelerator in the previous iteration. The newly assigned workload is a portion of the total workload, where the coefficient is calculated as the ratio of the computation throughput of the *i*-th accelerator to the computation throughput of all the accelerators in the system.

### 4.3.6 Application-oriented Optimization (AO)

Theoretically speaking, the performance can be improved as long as the amount of the total workload can be reduced while guaranteeing the accuracy of the final results. In the two case study applications, the tunable workload lies in the ROI definition and the RANSAC iteration, respectively.

### 4.3.6.1 *p*-LDA: Particle-filter-based Lane Detection Algorithm

As described in Section 3.3.1.1, only the image ROI is processed and information of pixels falling in this area is further computed. Therefore decreasing the ROI size could distinctly shrink the calculation task load and improve the performance. For this application, the optimization enables an adaptive ROI when processing the image frames iteratively. The size of the ROI is adjusted each time after the frame is processed, so that the proper ROI size for the next frame is obtained.

Algorithm 4: ROI tuning scheme for <i>p</i> -LDA
<b>Input:</b> Best line set $\mathbb{B}$ , $imgWidth$ , $initRoiStart$ , $initRoiEnd$ , $roiStart$ , $roiWidth$ <b>Output:</b> $roiStartAdapted$ , $roiWidthAdapted$
1 $T_{left} \leftarrow 1/4, T_{right} \leftarrow 3/4$
$_2 roiStartAdapted \leftarrow roiStart$
$roiEndAdapted \leftarrow roiStart + roiWidth$
4 foreach best line $b \in \mathbb{B}$ do
$roiStartAdapted \leftarrow min(roiStartAdapted, b.start)$
$6  \left[ \begin{array}{c} roiEndAdapted \leftarrow max(roiEndAdapted, \mathbf{b.end}) \end{array} \right]$
7 if $roiStartAdapted < initRoiStart$ then
$\mathbf{s}  \lfloor \ roiStartAdapted \leftarrow initRoiStart$
9 else if $roiStartAdapted > imgWidth \times T_{left}$ then
10 $roiStartAdapted \leftarrow imgWidth \times T_{left}$
11 if $roiEndAdapted > initRoiEnd$ then
12 $roiEndAdapted \leftarrow initRoiEnd$
13 else il $roiEndAdapted < imgW idth \times I_{right}$ then
$14  [ roiEndAdapted \leftarrow imgWidth \times T_{right} ]$
15 $roiWidthAdapted \leftarrow roiEndAdapted - roiStartAdapted$
16 if redetection then
17 $roiStartAdapted \leftarrow initRoiStart$
$18  \  \  \  \  \  \  \  \  \  \  \  \  \$

Algorithm 4 gives the detail of the ROI tuning scheme for *p-LDA*. First the best line set  $\mathbb{B}$ , which contains the lane positions of the current frame, is traversed to get the minimal and maximal *x*-axis coordinates of the best lines. These two coordinates are seen as the candidate start and end *x*-axis positions of the updated ROI. Then the updated ROI is upper-bounded by the start and end *x*-axis positions of the initial ROI and lower-bounded by a certain proportion of the image width (here the coefficients of proportionality are set as 1/4 and 3/4). If the redetection step is triggered, the width of the ROI is reset as the initial ROI width. This scheme ensures that the computation workload of each frame is no more than that using the initial ROI and no less than that using a region of which the width equals only half of the image width.

Note that here the optimization focuses on the regulation of the ROI width, rather than the ROI height, since the ROI height is normally fixed within a visible area of the lane markings. In addition, the coefficients of proportionality of the lower-bounded ROI are empirically set. This is to ensure that the ROI size would not collapse from a plane to a line when the detected lanes are too close, which would prevent the ROI construction and further ruin the detected results.

From Algorithm 4, it is seen that the ROI of the next frame is bounded by the positions of the lanes detected in the current frame. This indicates that the processed ROI is not subject to user interference and the detection accuracy does not suffer due to an incomplete ROI.

### 4.3.6.2 r-LDA: Ransac-based Lane Detection Algorithm

In this application the processed ROI is already adaptively bounded, based on the position of the estimated vanishing point. This drives us to turn to the optimization of the model fitting part. As is known, the number of RANSAC iterations N is determined by

$$N = \frac{\log(1-\rho)}{\log(1-\omega^{\eta})},\tag{4.2}$$

where  $\rho$  is the probability that the best fitting model can be found,  $\eta$  is the minimal number of data points needed to define the model and  $\omega$  is the probability that any selected data point is within the error tolerance of the model [48]. Since  $\omega$  is preliminarily unknown in *r*-LDA, during the evaluation *N* is first set as a considerably large value and then gradually reduced until the accuracy hits a tolerable threshold. In this way, the number of RANSAC iterations is minimized while the accuracy can be still guaranteed.

### 4.3.7 Discussion

The aforementioned optimization methods constitute a systematic procedure for improving the performance of OpenCL-based ADAS applications in FPGA-GPU heterogeneous systems. Compared with state-of-the-art, the work in this chapter targets a different scenario, i.e., the performance optimization of lane detection applications when different hardware accelerators are involved. Apart from the conventional optimization techniques, this work also takes into consideration the intra-accelerator kernel execution and give optimization methods such as accelerator execution overlapping and dynamic workload tuning. Therefore, the work in this chapter is much more comprehensive.

### 4.4 Evaluation Results

### 4.4.1 Evaluation Setup

The h<sup>2</sup>ECU presented in Chapter 2 is used as the evaluation platform and the details about the hardware specification are shown in Table 4.1. To evaluate the performance of the two case study applications, the benchmark videos from Caltech data set [60] are utilized. This data set consists of four clips on various urban street scenarios including straight and curved lanes, shadows, reflections, and street scenes to reflect real-world conditions.

During the runtime evaluation of *p*-*LDA*,  $2^{12}$  good lines and  $2^{13}$  candidate lines are used to detect 2 lane markings. As for the parameters of *r*-*LDA*, the initial value of the number of RANSAC iterations is set to 300 and the observed optimal value is 40. Each time the FPGA device is assigned the workload



Figure 4.3: Normalized execution time distribution of the profiled code blocks in *p*-LDA and *r*-LDA.

with different proportions, i.e. from 10% to 90% and vice versa, the task proportion on the GPU is from 90% to 10%, with a step of 10%. Each video is run multiple times and the overall results are finally collected and averaged.

Platform	Information		
Host CPU	Intel Core i5-3360M @ 2.80GHz 2 Cores		
Device	FPGA	GPU	
Model	Nallatech 385	Quadro K600	
Architecture	Stratix V GS	Kepler GK	
OpenCL SDK version	Intel FPGA SDK 13.1	Nvidia CUDA 8.0	
Peak GFLOPS	294.7	336.4	

**Table 4.1:** Detailed specification of the evaluation platform.

### 4.4.2 **Profiling Results**

### 4.4.2.1 *p*-LDA: Particle-filter-based Lane Detection Algorithm

This application is segmented into 7 main code blocks and the detailed description of them is shown in Table 4.2. Figure 4.3a reveals the normalized execution time of these code blocks when the workloads are distributed to FPGA and GPU with different proportions. As observed in Figure 4.3a, the time consumption of kernelLD and kernelPF accounts for a minimum of 60.71% (when the FPGA task proportion is 10%) and a maximum of 83.08% (when the FPGA task proportion is 90%) of the total execution time. These two kernels are therefore the hotspot kernels and need further optimization. Note that the execution of copyImageData also consumes a considerable amount of time. This is inevitable since the raw image data have to be read into the host memory before the pre-processing. One possible optimization of this code block is to reduce the transmitted data size, which is done by the ROI tuning scheme.

### 4.4.2.2 r-LDA: Ransac-based Lane Detection Algorithm

This application contains 5 main functional modules of which the detailed information is listed in Table 4.3 and their respective execution time distribution is shown in Figure 4.3b. kernelWPM and kernelCONV are deemed as the hotspot kernels as they occupy the majority part of the total time consumption (from 57.63% when the FPGA task proportion is 10% to 75.54% when the FPGA task proportion is 90%). Aside from them, the splineRansac task dominates the remainder of the time cost. Optimization of this part is done by reducing the number of RANSAC iterations.

### 4.4.3 Optimization Results

### 4.4.3.1 Compute Unit Replication (CR)

In this design, the code snippets of kernelLD and kernelPF in *p-LDA* are within the same OpenCL kernel function, due to their similar functionalities with minor differences, and consequently they

	No.	Name	Function Description
Γ	1	kernelRNG	random number generation
Γ	2	copyImageData	copy image matrix data into array
Γ	3	kernelPRE	pre-processing of raw image ROI
Γ	4	kernelLD	lane detection
Γ	5	extractLine	extract good and best lines
Γ	6	kernelPF	lane tracking
Γ	7	resample	particles resampling

Table 4.2: List of main code blocks in *p*-LDA.

are always replicated with the same number of compute units. As for *r*-*LDA*, kernelWPM and kernelCONV belong to two separate kernel functions and hence they can be replicated with different configurations. For brevity, we use  $\lambda_{CR}$  to denote the factor that a compute unite is replicated in the FPGA design, and  $\hat{\lambda}_{CR}$  to denote the maximum number that a compute unit can be replicated subject to a given specific constraint. The first, third, and fourth columns in Table 4.4 exhibit the detailed CR configurations of the two applications. Here the fourth column ( $\hat{\lambda}_{CR}^{conv}$ ) gives the maximal compute unit replication factor for kernelCONV when kernelWPM is replicated with the factor given in the third column ( $\lambda_{CR}^{wpm}$ ). It is seen that fewer resources can be assigned to kernelCONV when kernelWPM is replicated an increasing number of times.

For *p-LDA*, the maximum CR factor is 3 and Figure 4.4 shows the performance results. As can be seen, for all task proportion scenarios, replicating the compute unit can boost the runtime performance. This speedup becomes larger when  $\lambda_{CR}$  increases. The average speedup is  $1.13 \times$  and  $1.52 \times$ , when the compute unit is replicated 2 and 3 times, respectively.

From Table 4.4, the maximum CR factor for kernelWPM is 9 and kernelCONV can be replicated up to 7 times when  $\lambda_{CR}^{wpm}$  is no greater than 4. For clarity of description, the performance evaluation of CR optimization for *r*-LDA is conducted via the control variable method, i.e. varying either  $\lambda_{CR}^{wpm}$ 

No.	Name	<b>Function Description</b>
1	kernelWPM	warp perspective mapping
2	kernelCONV	image convolution
3	linearRansac	linear RANSAC fitting
4	splineRansac	spline RANSAC fitting
5	postProcessing	post-processing

Table 4.3: List of main code blocks in *r*-LDA.

<b>Table 4.4:</b> CR and LU configurations of the FPGA design
---

p-LDA		r-LDA		
$\lambda_{CR}$	$\widehat{\lambda}_{LU}$	$\lambda_{CR}^{wpm}$	$\widehat{\lambda}_{CR}^{conv}$	$\widehat{\lambda}_{LU}$
1	9	1	7	16
2	3	2	7	16
3	1	3	7	16
-	-	4	7	16
-	-	5	6	16
-	-	6	4	16
-	-	7	3	16
-	-	8	2	16
-	-	9	1	16



Figure 4.4: Performance comparison of *p*-LDA when replicating different number of compute units.



Figure 4.5: Performance comparison of *r*-LDA when replicating different number of compute units.

or  $\lambda_{CR}^{conv}$  while setting the other one as a constant. Figure 4.5 gives the detailed comparison results when the FPGA task proportion is 10%, 30%, 50%, 70%, and 90%. An interesting point shown in Figure 4.5a is that merely replicating kernelWPM actually degrades the runtime performance. This slowdown becomes larger when  $\lambda_{CR}^{wpm}$  gradually increases. The observed worst performance loss is 15.15% when the FPGA task proportion is 70% and  $\lambda_{CR}^{wpm} = 8$ . A possible explanation is that kernelWPM is memory-operation dominant and therefore creating multiple instances of this kernel aggravates the



Figure 4.6: Performance comparison of *p-LDA* using different loop unrolling factors.

on-board memory bandwidth contention, incurring a larger performance penalty over the benefit of computation scalability.

For kernelCONV, replicating this kernel can be expected to result in much more performance benefit, and this gain becomes even larger when more workloads are allocated on FPGA, as is clearly shown in Figure 4.5b. The observed maximum speedup is  $2.02 \times$  when 90% of the tasks are processed on FPGA, with kernelCONV replicated 7 times.

The combination of the CR optimizations of kernelWPM and kernelCONV is a trade-off between the computation- and memory-intensiveness of these two kernels. During the evaluation, the exhaustive exploration of all the fitted CR designs shows that the best case exists when  $\lambda_{CR}^{wpm} = 2$  and  $\lambda_{CR}^{conv} = 7$ , which exhibits an average  $1.55 \times$  speedup.

### 4.4.3.2 Loop Unrolling and Memory Access Coalescing (LU)

To showcase the influence of loop unrolling on the runtime performance, the fitted design space is exhaustively searched to obtain the available LU configurations. For brevity, we use  $\lambda_{LU}$  to denote the factor that a loop is unrolled, and  $\hat{\lambda}_{LU}$  to denote the maximum number that a loop can be unrolled subject to compiler setting and resource constraint. The second and fifth columns in Table 4.4 give the LU configurations for the two applications, given the pre-determined CR settings of the kernels. For *p*-*LDA*, loop unrolling works on both kernelLD and kernelPF since they share the same code snippet. With regards to *r*-*LDA*, LU optimization is only valid for kernelCONV as only this kernel contains a loop.

For *p-LDA*,  $\hat{\lambda}_{LU}$  decreases when the kernel is replicated more times. The loop can be unrolled 9 times when  $\lambda_{CR} = 1$ , while no LU optimization can be performed ( $\hat{\lambda}_{LU} = 1$ ) when replicating the compute unit three times. Figure 4.6 reveals the results of LU optimization when  $\lambda_{CR} = 1$  and a similar trend is also observed in other cases. By way of contrast, the performance result when  $\lambda_{CR} =$ 



**Figure 4.7:** Performance comparison of r-LDA using different loop unrolling factors, the FPGA task proportion is 50%.

 $3, \lambda_{LU} = 1$  is also presented, so as to compare the performance boost of CR and LU optimizations. As seen in Figure 4.6, the *p*-LDA application can only gain a subtle performance benefit when the loop is unrolled 5 or more times. However, this performance gain cannot rival the counterpart from the CR optimization, as seen from the last bar in Figure 4.6. For this application, CR optimization gains a larger performance improvement than LU optimization.

Figure 4.7 depicts the LU optimization results for r-LDA. The figure only shows the results when the FPGA task proportion is 50% and other cases turn out similar results. For comparison of CR and LU optimization, the native ( $\lambda_{CR}^{wpm} = 1, \lambda_{CR}^{conv} = 1$ ) and the best ( $\lambda_{CR}^{wpm} = 2, \lambda_{CR}^{conv} = 7$ ) CR configurations are chosen to exhibit their corresponding LU optimization results. As observed from Figure 4.7, loop unrolling results in nearly no performance gain when the CR factors are determined. This phenomenon is also demonstrated in all of the remaining CR configurations. The reason for this is that the maximum LU factor for the loop is 16 (the compiler throws out errors when setting the LU factor at any value larger than 16), while the loop itself processes an additive and multiplicative operation of an array containing 17 elements. As a result, the design space excludes the ideal LU setting and hence all the executions use non-ideal configurations and show nearly the same performance results.

#### 4.4.3.3 Accelerator Execution Overlapping (EO)

Following the configurations in Figure 4.2, the three execution scenarios with different call orders of OpenCL API functions are constructed and the resulted performance outcomes are depicted in Figure 4.8. EO optimization of the *p*-*LDA* application achieves a considerable performance boost (shown in Figure 4.8a), while the speedup for *r*-*LDA* is slightly lower (shown in Figure 4.8b). The average speedups of Case II over Case I are  $1.20 \times$  and  $1.06 \times$ , respectively for *p*-*LDA* and *r*-*LDA*. For both applications, executions of Case II always spend less time than that of Case I and III, which demonstrates



Figure 4.8: Performance comparison with different call order of OpenCL API functions.

the previous analysis in Section 4.3.4.

### 4.4.3.4 Dynamical Workload Tuning (DT)

The dynamical workload tuning mechanism illustrated in Section 4.3.5 is applied to the two case study applications and the comparison of the performance results is presented in Figure 4.9. As can be observed, DT optimization achieves many more performance gains when the task proportion on FPGA is larger. This is especially obvious for *p-LDA*, where the DT-optimized execution can improve the performance by up to 39% (when 90% of the task is initially distributed on FPGA). The reason is that the dynamical workload tuning mechanism always regulates and assigns the appropriate amount of workloads for each accelerator. In this way, the tasks are gradually migrated to GPU when the initial task proportion on FPGA becomes larger, since during the evaluation the Quadro K600 GPU has a higher computation power than the Nallatech PCIe-385N FPGA. Therefore, the performance speedup is larger when a higher quantity of workloads are initially assigned to FPGA but subsequently consumed by GPU, compared with the fixed-task-proportion executions.



Figure 4.9: Performance comparison with and without dynamical workload tuning.

### 4.4.3.5 Application-oriented Optimization (AO)

Figure 4.10 gives the performance results of using aforementioned AO optimization methods for both applications, i.e. the ROI tuning scheme for *p*-*LDA* and the RANSAC iteration reduction for *r*-*LDA*. Tuning the ROI size improves the runtime performance of *p*-*LDA* by an average of 12.86%, which reveals that shrinking the ROI size can effectively reduce the computational workload. The performance gain for *r*-*LDA*, however, is negligible, which is due to the minor proportion of RANSAC computation in the whole execution time. Hence even a huge reduction of RANSAC computation time cannot make a significant contribution to improving the overall runtime performance.

### 4.4.4 Discussion

### 4.4.4.1 Performance Benefit

Figure 4.11 shows the performance speedup of the two case study applications with the step-by-step optimizations mentioned above. Overall, the proposed optimization procedure improves the runtime performance of both applications with a large extent. During the evaluation, the observed optimal executions of p-LDA and r-LDA can improve the performance by an average of 109.21% and 83.48%



Figure 4.10: Performance comparison with and without AO optimization.

over the native parallel implementations, respectively.

As the task proportion on FPGA gradually increases, the performance speedup turns out a climbing trend as well, which is especially evident as seen from the curves of CR, EO, DT, and AO optimizations in Figure 4.11a and 4.11b. This reveals that the optimizations favor the FPGA platform and are more efficient when processing time-consuming workloads.

The LU optimization for the test applications is not very significant. We attribute this to the resource constraint (for *p-LDA*) and non-ideal compiling issue (for *r-LDA*), which is illustrated in Section 4.4.3.2. A further study on other ADAS or generic scientific computing applications may better demonstrate the effectiveness of the LU optimization. The CR optimization contributes the most part to the final performance gain, since it enables the scaling of the kernel computation in a linear manner. The EO, DT, and AO optimizations, on the other hand, further improve the runtime performance. This is extremely important since these three optimization methods are platform-independent and therefore can be seamlessly applied to other heterogeneous systems.



Figure 4.11: Performance comparison overview with step-by-step optimizations.

### 4.4.4.2 Scalability Analysis

The optimization procedure proposed in this chapter can be applied to other applications and other heterogeneous parallel systems as well. The reasons are multi-fold. First, the CR optimization is FPGA-related and the LU optimization is valid for both GPU and FPGA. As nowadays GPU and FPGA are mainstream hardware accelerators used for high performance scientific computing, these two optimization methods are applicable for any parallel applications running on GPU and FPGA platforms. Secondly, the EO and DT optimizations take effect when more than one accelerators, even multiple of the same type of processors, like either GPUs or FPGAs, are deployed for task processing. These

optimization methods are therefore suitable for general heterogeneous and reconfigurable computing. Lastly, the AO optimization is algorithm-specific and can be flexibly adapted to other applications as long as the inherent parallel workloads in the target program are tunable, which is the normal case for state-of-the-art parallel applications.

### 4.5 Summary

This chapter proposes a detailed procedure to help guide the performance optimization of parallelized ADAS applications in FPGA-GPU heterogeneous systems. The optimization procedure contains one intra-accelerator and two inter-accelerator optimization methods, as well as both FPGA-specific and application-oriented optimization strategies, to boost the program runtime performance. The optimization results are demonstrated by the evaluation with the two different lane detection applications presented in Chapter 3. Experimental results show that the procedure can effectively reduce the time consumption, and the optimal designs of the two case study applications improve the runtime performance by an average of 109.21% and 83.48% respectively, over the native parallel implementations. Moreover, the procedure can be applied to other applications and other heterogeneous parallel systems as well.

To further investigate the performance of consuming the computation workload on the hardware accelerators, the work in the next chapter uses GPU as the representative platform and proposes a novel performance estimation framework to predict the execution time of running OpenCL kernels on GPUs.

## **Chapter 5**

# Performance Estimation for OpenCL Kernels on GPUs

The studies in the previous chapters present how heterogeneous computing can be applied to the implementation of typical ADAS applications, such as LDA. It is observed that performance portability poses a big challenge to programmers for the development of parallel applications in the early design stage. Therefore, motivated by this, this chapter devises a performance modeling approach for the hardware accelerators. We choose GPU as the representative platform since GPU dominates state-of-the-art high performance computing realm. Moreover, the performance modeling work on GPU could also provide insights on similar study with other hardware accelerators.

As a mainstream accelerator, GPU plays a crucial role in scientific computing and therefore lots of research works focused on its performance analysis and prediction. To fully exploit the computing power of GPU, program developers need a deep understanding of its parallel working mechanism, in order to efficiently process the workload at runtime. This poses a challenge for non-expert users because they have no prior knowledge about elaborate parallel programming. To solve this, two approaches, namely auto-tuning and performance estimation, are used to help seek the optimal execution from the vast program design space. Traditional auto-tuning searches through either the whole [74] [75] or a sliced [76] [77] design space, which causes a considerable amount of time. Although this time cost can be reduced by optimization [78] or machine learning based algorithms [79], the relevance between the program input configuration and the resulted performance gain still remains obscure. Therefore, performance estimation is essential to crack the internal program runtime behavior so as to improve the external program execution efficiency.

State-of-the-art GPU performance estimation still suffers from several constraints. First, performance model always needs to be subtly tuned for the appropriate configurations of the target program to obtain convincing estimations. This makes it rather difficult to derive a general-purpose instead of application-oriented method. The reason is that general parallel applications intrinsically include large amounts of adjustable parameters which could individually or jointly affect the runtime performance. Secondly, performance estimation approaches can hardly keep up with the rapid architectural change of contemporary GPUs, due to the continuously promotion and upgrade of COTS products. Although machine learning based methods [80] [81] [82] are applicable to general platforms, the off-line feature sampling of the hardware counter metrics over the huge design space incurs a significant amount of time and the trained model is sensitive to unknown applications. Last but not least, there still exists possibility to improve the accuracy and usability of state-of-the-art GPU performance models [83]. Although fine-grained GPU simulators could give rather accurate estimations, the extremely large time consumption makes it unsuitable for practical use [84] [85].

### 5.1 Overview

To address the aforementioned issues, this chapter gives a hybrid framework to estimate the performance of parallel applications on the GPU. The framework targets the cross-platform OpenCL [14] workload so that it can still be applied to other accelerators. The high-level kernel source code is first transformed into LLVM [86] Intermediate Representation (IR) instructions, from which the program execution trace is generated based on GPU's philosophy of parallelism. Afterwards a lightweight simulator is developed to dynamically consume the arithmetic and memory access operations in the execution trace in granularity of 32 work items or so-called warps. The hardware specification and micro-benchmarking metrics are also fed to this simulator to obtain the estimated execution time.

In contrast to conventional analytical or machine learning based methods, the proposed framework does not require extra hardware performance counter metrics captured by a third-party profiler, or measurement results which are obtained after executing the whole or a portion of the target kernel before the estimation. Meanwhile, unlike fine-grained GPU simulators that spend simulation time in the scale of hours [87] [88], this framework can give estimation results in a few seconds. For the evaluation, the framework is validated with 20 different kernels from the Rodinia [2] benchmark. The contributions of the work in this chapter are as follows:

- This chapter proposes a hybrid framework that combines source-level analysis and trace-based simulation to predict the performance of GPU kernels. The execution trace of the target kernel is statically generated and then simulated to estimate the runtime performance.
- · A loop-based bidirectional branch search algorithm is given to extract the kernel execution trace

that models the warp execution flow of the GPU kernel.

- A lightweight simulator is developed to mimic the kernel execution and then predict the runtime performance results, taking into consideration both the IR instruction pipeline and cache modeling. The simulator can accurately predict the performance of kernels running across different GPU platforms in a few seconds.
- The accuracy and practicability of the framework is demonstrated with the Rodinia [2] benchmark and a real-world application, on four Nvidia GPUs across two generations of recent architectures.

The remainder of this chapter is organized as follows: Section 5.2 is related work and Section 5.3 gives overview of the proposed framework. Section 5.4 and Section 5.5 presents the source-level analysis and trace-based simulation, respectively. Section 5.6 gives evaluation results and Section 5.7 presents a lane detection case study. Section 5.8 concludes the work in this chapter.

### 5.2 Related Work

There exist lots of studies targeting performance estimation of applications or benchmarks [89] [90] on CPUs [91] [92]. These approaches can provide reference to the performance analysis of GPUs.

The last decade has witnessed an overwhelming amount of research work targeting the performance modeling of GPU platform. Generally speaking, GPU performance modeling techniques can be divided into four categories: analytical, machine learning based, measurement based and simulation based methods. The following paragraphs briefly review the literatures and introduce these approaches in an inductive way.

Analytical methods give an abstraction of the workload and hardware and then use equations to deduce the elapsed time of executing the workload on the target platform. Hong et al. [93] proposed a static model using memory and computation warp parallelism as metrics to estimate the kernel execution time. Kothapalli et al. [94] presented a high level prediction method based on BSP [95], PRAM [96] and QRQW [97] models. A similar work in [98] is also based on BSP [95]. Baghsorkhi et al. [99] used work flow graph and program dependency graph to abstract GPU kernels and then extracted thread- and warp-level parameters to calculate kernel execution time. Zhang et al. [100] presented a quantitative model using micro-benchmarks to obtain hardware metrics consisting of instruction pipeline and memory access time. Song et al. [101] proposed a method using similar mechanism. Wang et al. [102] presented a model involving core and memory frequency scaling. Zhou et al. [103]

proposed a performance analysis framework at assembly instruction level. Most analytical methods require hardware performance counter parameters which indicates the pre-execution of the kernel before prediction. In addition, some models are either outdated for new architectures or difficult to use due to the substantial calibration effort.

Machine learning based methods construct the training data set by sampling program- and platformrelated metric features and then use trained model to predict the runtime performance. Baldini et al. [104] used K-nearest neighbor algorithm to estimate GPU performance from multi-core CPU runs. A similar work in [80] used forward feature selection stepwise regression and ensemble prediction to predict GPU performance with CPU implementation. Wu et al. [81] estimated the performance and power of GPU using K-means clustering and neural network. O'neal et al. [82] used random forest to analyze DirectX workload in the pre-silicon design stage. Zhang et al. [105] adopted random forest to investigate performance and power consumption of ATI GPUs. Amarís et al. [106] compared the accuracy of different machine learning methods to predict the performance of Nvidia GPUs. Machine learning based methods can estimate the performance of GPU applications with fast response, since the burdensome training stage is performed off-line. However, it lacks a clear explanation of the relationship between the trained features and the predicted outcome. In addition, the indispensable feature sampling of the hardware counter values over the huge design space is tedious and violates the principle of predicting the performance before the actual execution.

*Measurement based methods* grasp the program behavior by sample running a fraction of the target workload, or the so-called mini-kernel, to seek the correlation and interference between individual work groups and then estimate the consumed time when the entire kernel is to be executed. Dao et al. [107] developed hand-crafted kernels to crack GPU's warp scheduling policies and then proposed a saturation point based linear model to estimate the kernel execution time. In general, measurement based approaches are universally applicable to different architectures, however the effort to calibrate model parameters for various applications and platforms is onerous.

Simulation based methods simulate in details how GPU processes the workloads in cycle level and reserve the intermediate status of the hardware and software functional modules during runtime. In this way, program behavior and performance can be effectively and accurately sketched. Gerum et al. [108] proposed a method for source level performance simulation of GPU. There exists some widely used simulators such as GPGPU-Sim [3], Barra [109] and Ocelot [110]. However, these simulators are either not actively maintained or subjected to out-of-date architectures. Recently a RTL-level simulator [111] is announced but still few studies are reported.

With regards to GPU simulation acceleration, there exist some research that either choose a portion



Figure 5.1: Overview of the performance estimation framework.

[112] or perform a pre-characterization [113] of target workloads and then derive the execution time from the simulation results. There are also studies that focus on the generation of GPU benchmarks [114] to reveal GPU's performance spectrum, and modeling of GPU memory systems [115]. These studies are supplementary for GPU performance estimation techniques.

Different to the methods mentioned above, the work in this chapter proposes an analytical and simulation combined framework to predict the performance of parallel workloads on GPU. The framework contains a lightweight IR-level simulator to perform a dummy execution of target kernels on GPU, which does not need any hardware performance counter values as model inputs. With this mechanism, an accurate estimation of the kernel execution time is obtained with rather little simulation time cost.

### 5.3 Framework Overview

Figure 5.1 gives the overview of the proposed performance estimation framework. The kernel source code is first processed by Clang compiler to generate the LLVM bitcode file that contains IR instructions of the target kernel. Meanwhile, the source file is passed to NVCC compiler to obtain kernel compilation information that includes the detailed runtime resource usage of the kernel, such as the number of used on-chip registers and used shared memory size. The framework mainly contains two modules, i.e. the source-level analysis and the subsequent trace-based simulation. In the source-level analysis module, the kernel bitcode file is processed by an LLVM analyzeKernel pass and the execution trace is subsequently extracted from the kernel runtime behavior analysis. The analyzeKernel pass prunes IR instructions in the basic blocks so that only the arithmetic and memory access operations, which contribute to the kernel execution time, are retained. The execution flow information, such as the loop statements and the branches, is extracted and analyzed for the following execution trace generation.

Given the Control Flow Graph (CFG) and the execution flow information, the kernel runtime be-

havior is then analyzed and the execution trace is generated in granularity of warps. The cache miss/hit information is subsequently obtained according to the cache specification and the execution trace. The simulation module mimics the kernel runtime behavior by virtue of constructing an IR instruction pipeline and consuming the execution trace iteratively. A set of micro-benchmarks are used to calibrate the target GPU to obtain the hardware metrics such as latencies of the arithmetic operations, latencies of the memory access operations, and the cache configurations. These hardware metrics, together with the hardware specification, the kernel compilation information, the kernel execution trace, and the cache miss information, are fed to the simulator to estimate the final execution time.

### 5.4 Source-level Analysis

### 5.4.1 LLVM analyzeKernel Pass

The analyzeKernel pass collects the basic blocks and builds the CFG of the target kernel. For each basic block, the IR instructions are documented to construct the intra-block execution trace. The execution flow information used to generate the execution trace is obtained via the three steps illustrated as follows.

### 5.4.1.1 IR Instruction Pruning

This work assumes that the execution time is mainly consumed by the arithmetic and memory access operations. Therefore for each basic block, the time-cost-irrelevant instructions, such as the LLVM-specific intrinsic annotations llvm.lifetime.start, llvm.lifetime.end, memory address calculation instruction getelementptr, the data type conversion instructions trunc, ext, and so on, are filtered out. Note that here these instructions are only removed from the execution trace, but are still used for the later control flow analysis.

As for function calls, it is observed that the call instruction appears only when invoking ① the OpenCL work-item built-in functions, such as get\_global\_id, get\_local\_id, etc., ② the synchronization function barrier, or ③ the LLVM intrinsic functions such as llvm.fmuladd.f32, etc. The subfunctions in the source code are replaced by detailed instructions and therefore non-existent in the bitcode file. Consequently, all the related information about these function calls is recorded to assist the execution trace generation whenever necessary. The OpenCL work-item built-in functions are highlighted because their return values typically serve as memory address indices that directly determine the memory access pattern. The synchronization function is labelled as a flag that notifies the wait signal of the warp execution in the pipeline. The LLVM intrinsic functions are also converted to the corresponding arithmetic operations in the kernel execution trace.

### 5.4.1.2 Loop Bound Analysis

Instead of deducing a precise value of the loop trip count, this work attempts to estimate the loop bound of each basic block in the loop. The reasons are multifold. First, state-of-the-art static loop analysis is still an open problem [116] and therefore it is impossible to adopt a generic method to obtain the loop trip count of arbitrary code blocks. Secondly, in general, the input of parallel applications is a regular rectangle- or cuboid-like grid that can be ideally decomposed and mapped to the threads on the GPU. The formation of the high-level loop code is regular in the majority of the cases. Lastly, the loop bound manifests an extreme case of the execution of the loop and this scenario should also be considered when analyzing the performance of the kernel executions.

The framework first uses Loopus [117] to analyze the loop bound. It is observed that Loopus can handle simple loops, i.e., when the loop induction variable is a fixed constant. For more complicated loops, the loop bound is first determined by performing an LLVM Scalar Evolution (SE) analysis [118] of the basic blocks in the loop. The SE analysis gives an explicit bound if the target basic block either is within a single-exit loop or has a predictable backedge taken count.

When both Loopus and LLVM SE analysis fail to give outputs, an extra static analysis of the loops is performed to further extract the loop bound. The main idea of this static analysis is to identify the loop induction variable and track its value at the scope of the entire kernel function. First, the exit basic blocks of the loop are collected, from which the true exit basic block is set as the loop latch block. The terminator of the true exit basic block is the loop induction instruction and it is observed that for all the test kernels this instruction is a conditional branch form of a br instruction. The conditional branch has two arguments, of which the first is either the loop induction variable or the loop induction variable updated with an increment of the loop step size, and the second is the end value, which is loop invariant, of the loop induction variable. In LLVM, the loop induction variable is represented as a Static Single Assignment (SSA) and this SSA could be: (1) binary operation such as add, mul, etc. (2) load instruction. (3) phi instruction. For case (1), all the phi nodes in the loop header block are traversed and the loop induction variable is set as the phi node of which the return value equals the updated loop induction variable, when taking the loop latch block as the incoming value. With regards to case (2), all the store instructions that write data to the pointer argument of this load instruction are tracked, by virtue of the memory dependency analysis. The memory write value of the store instruction that lies outside of and closest to the loop is deemed the start value, which is also loop invariant, of the loop induction variable. For case (3), all the phi nodes in the loop header block are also traversed and the phi node which equals the loop induction instruction is extracted. Then the updated value of the loop induction variable equals the return value of this phi node when taking the loop latch block as the incoming value. With the start value, the end value, and the step size of the loop induction variable obtained, the loop bound is calculated as the induction time of the loop induction variable within the loop:  $loopBound = \frac{endValue-startValue}{stepSize}$ .

With regards to the nest loops, the analyzed result only indicates the loop bound of the basic block at its current loop level and each of the outer loop bound values equals the loop bound value of one of the preceding basic blocks, which lies exactly at its corresponding loop level. For each basic block in the nest loop, at each upper loop level, the closest preceding basic block is recorded so that the nest loop chain is maintained, for ease of the later execution trace generation. If the deduced loop bound relies on the induction variable of the outer loop, then the different loop bound values are also recorded when the outer loop iterates. During the experiments, the aforementioned static analysis manages to give the loop bound of all the loop basic blocks in the test kernels.

### 5.4.1.3 CFG Branch Extraction

The triggering condition of each branch is extracted by analyzing the phi and br instructions within the head and tail basic blocks of that branch path. The br instruction is associated with a cmp instruction from which the branch condition can be deduced. The branch condition is an expression that contains the logical operation combination of several variables of which some are conditional variables and the other are constants. The conditional variable is represented as an SSA and it can be further refined with one or more SSAs associated with it. This is done by an iterative search, which terminates when the termination SSA is: ① a kernel argument. ② a temporary variable. ③ a memory load of the data pointed by a kernel argument, which is a pointer parameter.

### 5.4.2 Runtime Behavior Analysis

#### 5.4.2.1 Warp-based Branch Analysis

To determine whether a branch condition is hit or miss, the execution of the branch paths is evaluated in granularity of warps. As shown in Section 5.4.1.3, the values of the branch conditional variables can be classified into three cases. For case ①, this branch path is easily determined to be hit or miss since the input kernel arguments are known. In case ②, if the temporary variable is thread-ID-dependent, i.e., the variable is the return value of the aforementioned OpenCL work-item built-in functions, then this branch path can also be determined to be hit or miss, given the warp ID and the global and local work size configuration of the target kernel. If the temporary variable is the loop induction variable, this branch path can also be masked or unmasked, depending on the logical result of the branch condition at different loop iterations. For the remaining cases this branch path is assumed to be always hit. For case ③, because the value of this memory load can only be determined at runtime, for the sake of conservation this branch path is also assumed to be always hit.

### 5.4.2.2 Execution Trace Generation

Let's first consider how GPU walks along the CFG to execute the kernel. For Nvidia GPUs, each OpenCL work item instance is mapped to a thread and a group of 32 threads are bound together to execute the instance in lock-step manner. This group of threads is called a warp for Nvidia GPUs and the counterpart for AMD GPUs is termed wavefront. When there exists branch divergence within a warp, the threads would consume the instructions in both branch paths and each thread only reserves the processed result of the path where the branch condition is hit. Turning back to the CFG, the basic blocks within different branches are consecutively visited as if they are sequentially processed.

The execution trace is generated in granularity of warps. Therefore for the case when the branch condition is thread-ID-dependent, the branch miss information is transformed and associated with the warp ID, given the global and local work size configurations. The basic block is represented as the data structure shown in Listing 5.1.

struct BasicBlockInfo {
string BBName; // name of the current BB
list <int> branchMissWarpID; // IDs of the warps that trigger the branch miss</int>
// branch miss information at different loop iteration
// string: name of the basic block that triggers the branch miss
// int: the exact iteration number for basic block #string when branch miss
<pre>map<string, int=""> branchMissLoopConfig;</string,></pre>
int loopDepth; // greater than 1 when current BB is in a loop
string loopBoundExpr; // the loop bound expression
// BBs of which the loop bounds determine current BB's loop bound
vector <string> associatedBBs;</string>
string precedBB; // preceding BB closest to current BB at upper loop level
vector <int> bounds; // integer values of the loop bounds at each loop level</int>
<pre>vector<int> unvisitedCount; // store the visited counters at each loop level</int></pre>
<b>bool</b> isVisited; // true if current BB is visited over at each loop level
};
list <basicblockinfo> BBInfoList; // list of data description for BBs in the CFG</basicblockinfo>

Listing 5.1: Sample code of the basic block data description.

The information about the branch miss due to warp divergence and loop iterations is respectively stored in the branchMissWarpID and branchMissLoopConfig fields. The loopDepth field indicates the loop depth of the basic block. Particularly, this value is set to 1 if the basic block is not in a loop. The analyzed loop bound result is stored in the loopBoundExpr field. As this expression only indicates the loop bound of the basic block at its current loop level, the actual loop bound values at each loop

#### 5. PERFORMANCE ESTIMATION FOR OPENCL KERNELS ON GPUS

Algorithm 5: Execution Trace Generation Input: CFG Entry Node B, CFG Exit Node E, Backedge Set BE, Non-backedge Set ℕE, Basic Block Data Description List **BBInfoList**, Warp ID wid, Mask Array M Output: Kernel Execution Trace T 1  $\mathbf{T} \leftarrow \emptyset, \mathbb{T} \leftarrow \emptyset, \tau \leftarrow \mathbf{B}$ ▷ Initialize the execution trace with entry node B <sup>2</sup> updateExecTrace( $\tau$ ,  $\mathbb{T}$ , **BBInfoList**, wid, M)  $3 ST \leftarrow \emptyset$ > Initialize a stack to store the header nodes of multiple branch paths 4 while  $\tau \neq E \land \neg E.isVisited$  do ▷ Terminate when exit node is visited  $\tau \leftarrow \text{getTraceSuccNode}(\tau, \mathsf{B}, \textbf{BBInfoList}, \mathsf{ST}, \mathbb{T}, \mathbb{BE}, \mathbb{NE})$ updateExecTrace( $\tau$ , T, **BBInfoList**, wid, M) 6 7 for  $i \leftarrow 0$  to  $\mathbb{T}$ .size() do if M[i]! = 0 then ▷ Remove branch miss nodes from the generated trace  $\mathbf{T} \leftarrow \mathbf{T} + \{\mathbb{T}.at(i)\}$ 9 10 return T

level are calculated each time this basic block is visited and these values are stored in the bounds field. If the loop bound of the basic block is dependent on other basic blocks, these associated basic blocks are stored as well (the associatedBBs field). The preceding basic block that is closest to the current basic block but lies at the upper loop level is stored in the precedBB field so as to maintain the nest loop chain. During the execution trace generation, the visited counters of the basic block (the unvisitedCount field) are recorded to indicate the visited status of the basic block, i.e., at which loop level and with how many times the current basic block is already visited. The isVisited boolean is set to TRUE only if the basic block is visited over at each loop level with the number of times equal to the actual loop bound. Finally, the data descriptions of all the basic blocks in the CFG are stored in a list BBInfoList.

Given the kernel CFG  $G = (\mathbb{V}, \mathbb{E}, \mathsf{B}, \mathsf{E})$ , where  $\mathbb{V}$  is the set of basic block nodes,  $\mathbb{E}$  is the set of basic block connections,  $\mathsf{B}$  is the entry node and  $\mathsf{E}$  is the exit node, the kernel execution trace is generated via a loop-based bidirectional branch search shown in Algorithm 5. The CFG is first passed to a circular check to split the edge set  $\mathbb{E}$  into the backedge set  $\mathbb{BE}$  and the non-backedge set  $\mathbb{NE}$ . In this way, the CFG is transformed into a Directed Acyclic Graph (DAG) and the paths between any two nodes can be represented as finite sequences of which all the nodes belong to the non-backedge set  $\mathbb{NE}$ . By default we have the following assumption:

Denote  $\mathbb{V}_{c}$  as a set of nodes that construct a circle c in the CFG, if there exists another circle node set  $\mathbb{V}_{c'}$ , then formula  $(\mathbb{V}_{c} \subset \mathbb{V}_{c'}) \lor (\mathbb{V}_{c} \supset \mathbb{V}_{c'}) \lor (\mathbb{V}_{c} \cap \mathbb{V}_{c'} = \varnothing)$  always holds.

This assumption is reasonable for real-world program because a node in a loop can only be reached from the nodes in its surrounding loops but can never reach the nodes in another loop that is beyond all of the outer loop layers of the original loop. The above assumption ensures that no backedge would
<b>Algorithm 6:</b> updateExecTrace( $\tau$ , $\mathbb{T}$ , <b>BBInfoList</b> , wid,	<i>M</i> )
<b>Input:</b> Candidate Node $\tau$ , Candidate Trace $\mathbb{T}$ , Basic Blwid, Mask Array $M$	ock Data Description List <b>BBInfoList</b> , Warp ID
1 $\tau$ .bounds $\leftarrow$ calcLoopBound( $\tau$ , <b>BBInfoList</b> ) 2 loopLevelVisitedCount $\leftarrow$ 0, unvisitedLoopLevel $\leftarrow$ 0 3 isBranchMissWarp $\leftarrow$ FALSE, isBranchMissLoop $\leftarrow$ F/	⊳ update loop bounds
$\begin{array}{c c} \mathbf{i} & \mathbf{i} \leftarrow 0 \text{ to } f \text{ . isoppeptindo} \\ \mathbf{j} & \mathbf{i}  \mathbf{f}  \mathbf{f} \text{ . unvisitedCount} \langle i \rangle = 0 \text{ then} \\ \mathbf{i} & \mathbf{i}  \mathbf{i}$	⊳ <i>i-th loop level is visited</i>
7 else 8 unvisitedLoopLevel $\leftarrow i$ 9 break	▷ currently the trace iterates exactly at the i-th level of the loop
$ \begin{array}{c c} \textbf{if } loopLevelVisitedCount \neq \tau.loopDepth \ \textbf{then} \\ \textbf{ii} &  \textbf{for } j \leftarrow 0 \ \textbf{to } unvisitedLoopLevel \ \textbf{do} \\ \hline &  \  \  \  \  \  \  \  \  \  \  \  \  \$	⊳ reset loop bounds
14 else $\triangleright \tau$ is         15 $\lfloor \tau$ .isVisited $\leftarrow$ TRUE	visited over when the visited-loop-level count equals the loop depth
$ \begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	foList)
// set the mask value to 0 when $\tau$ is a branch miss node, otherwise set it 18 $M.add(\neg$ isBranchMissWarp $\land \neg$ isBranchMissLoop) 19 $\mathbb{T} \leftarrow \mathbb{T} + \{\tau\}$	<i>to 1</i>

wander among different circles in the CFG.

To generate the kernel execution trace, a loop-based bidirectional branch search of the CFG is performed. As shown in Algorithm 5, the execution trace starts from the entry node B and terminates when the exit node E is visited. A node stack ST is used to store the header nodes of multiple branch paths. An array M is used to store the mask values for each node in the candidate trace T. The mask value is set to 0 when the node to be appended to T is a branch miss node. For each candidate node  $\tau$ to be appended to T, a function updateExecTrace() is invoked to update the visited counters of  $\tau$  and another function getTraceSuccNode() is used to obtain the successor node of  $\tau$  to be appended to T. Finally, the branch miss nodes are removed from T, based on the mask array M, to generate the kernel execution trace T.

The implementation of function updateExecTrace() is shown in Algorithm 6. First, the loop bounds of the candidate node  $\tau$  can be determined because these values are related to the loop bound expression ( $\tau$ .loopBoundExpr) and the current loop iterations and loop bounds of the associated basic blocks ( $\tau$ .associatedBBs), and all these information can be calculated before visiting  $\tau$  at its current loop level (Line 1 in Algorithm 6). Subsequently, the visited counters of  $\tau$  are checked to determine at which loop level the node  $\tau$  is visited (Line 4–9 in Algorithm 6). Each time the unvisited count value at the innermost loop level is decreased by 1 (Line 13 in Algorithm 6). The update of the visited counters is implemented via a decrement operation with borrowing, i.e., each time the unvisited count value at loop level  $\lambda$  is reduced to zero, this value is reset to the loop bound at loop level  $\lambda$  and the unvisited count values of  $\tau$  at all loop level ( $\lambda$ +1) is decreased by 1 (Line 11–12 in Algorithm 6). If the unvisited count values of  $\tau$  at all loop levels are zero, then this node is labeled as visited (Line 15 in Algorithm 6). At last, the branch miss information is used to determine whether  $\tau$  is a branch miss mode. The corresponding mask value is written to the mask array M and node  $\tau$  is appended to the candidate trace  $\mathbb{T}$  (Line 16–19 in Algorithm 6).

Algorithm 7 gives the detailed implementation of the function getTraceSuccNode(). To find the successor node of  $\tau$  to be appended to  $\mathbb{T}$ , the backedge set  $\mathbb{BE}$  is first searched to get the destination node (element in  $\mathbb{D}_{\mathbb{BE}}$ ) of the backedge whose source node is  $\tau$  (Line 2–15 in Algorithm 7). The candidate backedge nodes (elements in  $\mathbb{D}'_{\mathbb{BE}}$ ) are chosen from the nodes in  $\mathbb{D}_{\mathbb{BE}}$  of which the unvisited count value at the innermost loop level equals neither zero nor the loop bound value (Line 4–6 in Algorithm 7). The successor node of  $\tau$  to be appended to  $\mathbb{T}$  is either itself if  $\tau$  is in  $\mathbb{D}'_{\mathbb{BE}}$  or the closest-to- $\tau$  node in the intersection set of  $\mathbb{D}'_{\mathbb{BE}}$  and the path node set  $\mathbb{P}_{\mathbb{B}}$  in which each node denotes a reachable path to  $\tau$  (Line 8–15 in Algorithm 7).

If there exists no backedge that starts from  $\tau$ , or all the backedges starting from  $\tau$  are visited N times where N is the loop bound in the innermost level, the non-backedge set  $\mathbb{NE}$  is searched to obtain the closest-to- $\tau$  non-backedge destination node set  $\mathbb{D}'_{\mathbb{NE}}$  (Line 16–38 in Algorithm 7). The first node in  $\mathbb{D}'_{\mathbb{NE}}$  is chosen as a candidate successor node  $s_{ne}$  if none of the nodes in  $\mathbb{D}'_{\mathbb{NE}}$  is a source node of a backedge, otherwise this source node becomes  $s_{ne}$  (Line 26 in Algorithm 7). If node stack ST is not empty and the stack top node ST(topElement) lies between a reachable path from the entry node B to  $s_{ne}$ , then the successor node of  $\tau$  to be appended to  $\mathbb{T}$  is  $s_{ne}$  (Line 27–33 in Algorithm 7). If ST is empty, then  $s_{ne}$  is the successor node of  $\tau$  to be appended to  $\mathbb{T}$  and the remaining nodes in  $\mathbb{D}'_{\mathbb{NE}}$  are pushed into ST (Line 35–38 in Algorithm 7).

If all the edges starting from  $\tau$  are visited, then the stack top node ST(topElement) is popped as successor node of  $\tau$  to be appended to  $\mathbb{T}$  (Line 40–41 in Algorithm 7).

#### 5.4.2.3 Cache Behavior Analysis

As modern GPUs have rather complex memory hierarchy that comprises caches, we first use microbenchmarks to obtain the cache hit and miss latencies of the local, constant, and global memory ac-

Alg	gorithm 7: getTraceSuccNode( $ au$ , B, <b>BBInfoList</b> , ST, T, $\mathbb{BE}$ ,	NE)
I	<b>nput:</b> Current Trace Tail Node $\tau$ , CFG Entry Node B, Basic Node Stack ST, Candidate Trace T, Backedge Set $\mathbb{BE}$ ,	Block Data Description List <b>BBInfoList</b> , Non-backedge Set ℕℝ
1 🛙	$\mathbb{D}_{\mathbb{BE}} \leftarrow \varnothing, \mathbb{D}'_{\mathbb{BE}} \leftarrow \varnothing, \mathbb{D}_{\mathbb{NE}} \leftarrow \varnothing, \mathbb{D}'_{\mathbb{NE}} \leftarrow \varnothing, \mathbb{S}_{\mathbb{NE}} \leftarrow \varnothing$	
- //	first try to find a candidate successor node from the backedges	
2 1	$t \exists be \in \mathbb{BE}, \tau = be.srcNode$ then	
3	$\mathbb{D}_{\mathbb{BE}} = \{ \text{be.destNode} \mid \text{be} \in \mathbb{BE}, \tau = \text{be.srcNode} \}$	
4	foreach $a_{be} \in \mathbb{D}_{\mathbb{B}\mathbb{E}}$ do	▷ get candidate nodes that are not visited over
5 6	$ \begin{array}{c} \mathbf{i} \ a_{be}.unvisited.count(0) \ & a_{be}.bounds(0) \neq 0 \ \mathbf{then} \\ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ $	
7	if $\mathbb{D}'_{\mathbb{D}\mathbb{F}} \neq \emptyset$ then	
8	$\mathbf{if} \  au \in \mathbb{D}'_{\mathbb{RF}}$ then	$\triangleright$ there is a backedge from $\tau$ to itself
9	return $ au$	$\triangleright \tau$ is not visited over at its current loop level
10		*
10	for each $d' \in \mathbb{D}'_{-}$ do	
11 12		
13	$\mathbb{I}_{\mathbb{B}\mathbb{E}} \leftarrow \mathbb{D}_{\mathbb{B}\mathbb{E}}' \cap \mathbb{P}_{\mathbb{B}}$	
14	if $\mathbb{I}_{\mathbb{B}\mathbb{E}} \neq \varnothing$ then	
15	<b>return</b> $\mathbb{I}_{\mathbb{BE}}\langle 0 \rangle$	$\triangleright$ return the closest-to- $ au$ node
- //	backedge search fails, try to find the successor node from the non-backedges	
16 <b>e</b>	<b>lse if</b> $\exists$ <i>ne</i> $\in \mathbb{NE}$ , $\tau =$ <i>ne.srcNode</i> <b>then</b>	
17	$\mathbb{D}_{\mathbb{NE}} = \{ ne.destNode \mid ne \in \mathbb{NE}, \tau = ne.srcNode \}$	
18	foreach $d_{ne} \in \mathbb{D}_{\mathbb{NE}}$ do	$\triangleright$ get the closest-to- $ au$ non-backedge nodes
19	$\mathbb{P}_{\mathbb{N}} \leftarrow \text{getNodesInPath}(\tau, d_{ne})$	
20	if $\mathbb{D}_{\mathbb{NE}} \cap \mathbb{P}_{\mathbb{N}} = \emptyset$ then	
21		
22	if $\mathbb{D}'_{\text{ME}} \neq \emptyset$ then	
23	foreach $d'_{me} \in \mathbb{D}'_{ME}$ do	⊳ get nodes in other backedges
24	<b>if</b> $\exists be^n \in \mathbb{BE}$ . $d'_{ne} = be^n$ .srcNode then	
25		
26 27	$s_{ne} = (\mathbb{S}_{\mathbb{NE}} \neq \emptyset) ? \mathbb{S}_{\mathbb{NE}} \langle 0 \rangle : \mathbb{D}'_{\mathbb{NE}} \langle 0 \rangle$ if $ST \neq \emptyset$ then	⊳ candidate successor
28	$\mathbb{P}_{\mathbb{S}} \leftarrow \text{getNodesInPath}(B, s_{ne})$	
29	if $ST\langle topElement \rangle \in \mathbb{P}_{\mathbb{S}}$ then	
30		
31	else	▷ the stack top node denotes another branch path
32	$ \begin{bmatrix} \tau \leftarrow s_{ne} \end{bmatrix} $	but the current path is not visited over
33	$return \tau$	
34	else	$\triangleright$ the current path is the last path of the current branch
35	$ \qquad \qquad$	
36	foreach $d''_{ne} \in \mathbb{D}'_{\mathbb{NE}}$ do	▷ store the remaining header nodes
37	$\Box$ ST. $push(d''_{ne})$	
38	<b>return</b> $s_{ne}$	
1	$\square$ and a starting from $\tau$ are visited, get the successor from the node stack	
39 <b>e</b>	lse	
40	$\tau \leftarrow ST(topElement), ST.pop()$	
41	return $ au$	

cesses. As the local memory in OpenCL is mapped to the GPU shared memory, notice that the local memory access has no caching issue, therefore it does not differentiate the cache hit/miss access, which is also observed and demonstrated by the micro-benchmarking results. When handling the constant and the global memory accesses, the SMs first try to fetch the data in the constant or L2 data cache and if cache miss occurs, the data are fetched again from the off-chip DRAM. To model this caching behavior, the constant data cache and the L2 cache are dissected with micro-benchmarks [119] [120] to obtain the detailed cache configurations, such as the cache size, the cache line size, and the cache associativity. In OpenCL, the observed constant memory size is 64KB and the DRAM size is obtained from the official documents. The L2 cache size is obtained from the CUDA built-in querying commands. This work assumes that all the caches use the Least Recently Used (LRU) replacement policy.

For each memory access, i.e. the load or store IR instruction in the execution trace, the memory referencing address is obtained to analyze the number of memory transactions that a warp would perform for this memory instruction, since the threads in a warp often coalesce the data fetch if the memory addresses for the threads are contiguous. As the kernel is not executed on the real platform, a virtual addressing space of the constant data cache and the L2 cache is constructed, and then the specific addresses are assigned to the constant and global variables according to their data size. In this way, the cache behavior is analyzed using the reuse distance theory and the cache hit/miss for each memory transaction is estimated given the cache configuration [121].

#### 5.4.2.4 Discussion

*Limitation.* As this framework does not use profiling or measurement results of the target kernel, the execution behavior of irregular kernels cannot be exactly determined by the static analysis. Consequently the loop bound analysis and the warp-based branch analysis produce slightly pessimistic results when the values of the loop trip count and the branch condition rely on the values of the program runtime parameters. However, the major part of the applications that can potentially benefit from GPU acceleration exhibit relatively regular shapes, i.e., the loop trip count is rather stable and the number of branches is minimized by the program developer as well. With regards to the kernels with data-dependent divergence, because the static analysis module can still extract the branch condition and loop iteration variables of the control statements, the dynamic execution flow can also be determined if all the input data are known in advance. However this needs the step-by-step simulation of the program execution, which may incur much more time consumption.

*Scalability analysis.* The proposed performance analysis framework in this chapter targets OpenCL kernels and therefore it can be extended to any platform that supports OpenCL applications. For

other parallel languages such as CUDA, since the framework takes LLVM bitcode files as input, CUDA kernels can also be analyzed if either the LLVM bitcode file of the kernel can be obtained or the CUDA kernels can be transformed into the OpenCL counterparts.

## 5.5 Trace-based Simulation

The execution trace **T** generated from the source-level analysis is warp-ID-dependent and during the simulation each warp consumes its corresponding trace. To estimate the kernel execution time with given program input and the global and local work size configurations, the framework constructs an IR instruction pipeline and then simulate the trace on the pipeline in granularity of a round of active work groups.

#### 5.5.1 IR Instruction Pipeline

#### 5.5.1.1 Determining the Number of Active Work Groups

The number of active warps can be obtained by the official CUDA occupancy calculator. For descriptive integrality, the derivation is given in details as follows. Given a kernel with NDRange configuration as global work size  $S_{global}$  and local work size  $S_{local}$ . Each work item consumes  $N_{reg}$  on-chip registers (private memory) and  $N_{sm}$  bytes shared memory (local memory). The number of active work groups  $N_{awg}$  per Streaming Multiprocessor (SM) is subject to three constraints: the architectural limit, the register limit, and the shared memory limit. The architectural limit of the allocatable work groups is

$$N_{lim\_wg\_arch} = min(B_{wg\_SM}, \lfloor \frac{B_{warp\_SM}}{N_{warp\_per\_wg}} \rfloor)$$
(5.1)

$$N_{warp\_per\_wg} = \lceil \frac{S_{local}}{T_{warp}} \rceil,$$
(5.2)

where  $N_{warp\_per\_wg}$  is the number of warps per work group,  $T_{warp}$  is the number of threads per warp,  $B_{wg\_SM}$  and  $B_{warp\_SM}$  is the maximum allocatable work groups and warps per SM, respectively. The number of total on-chip registers limits the maximum concurrent work group as

$$N_{lim\_wg\_reg} = \begin{cases} 0, & N_{reg} > B_{reg\_wi} \\ \lfloor \frac{N_{lim\_warp\_reg}}{N_{warp\_per\_wg}} \rfloor \times \lfloor \frac{B_{reg\_SM}}{B_{reg\_wg}} \rfloor, otherwise \end{cases}$$
(5.3)

$$N_{lim\_warp\_reg} = floor(\frac{B_{reg\_wg}}{ceil(N_{reg} \times T_{warp}, G_{reg})}, G_{warp}),$$
(5.4)

where  $B_{reg\_wi}$ ,  $B_{reg\_SM}$ , and  $B_{reg\_wg}$  are the maximum allocatable registers per work item, SM, and work group, respectively.  $G_{reg}$  and  $G_{warp}$  are the minimum allocation unit of register and warp, respectively.  $N_{lim\_warp\_reg}$  is the maximum number of potentially allocatable active warps subject to limited on-chip registers. ceil(x, y) and floor(x, y) are functions used to round the value x up and down to the nearest multiple of y, respectively. The number of active work groups due to shared memory limit is calculated as

$$N_{lim\_wg\_sm} = \begin{cases} 0, N_{sm\_alloc} > B_{sm\_wg} \\ \lfloor \frac{B_{sm\_SM}}{N_{sm\_alloc}} \rfloor, & otherwise \end{cases}$$
(5.5)

$$N_{sm\_alloc} = ceil(N_{sm}, G_{sm}), \tag{5.6}$$

where  $B_{sm_wg}$  and  $B_{sm_SM}$  are the maximum allocatable shared memory size per work group and SM, respectively.  $N_{sm_alloc}$  is the actual allocated shared memory size per work group and  $G_{sm}$  is the minimal shared memory allocation size.

With Equation (5.1), (5.3) and (5.5), the number of active work groups for a kernel is therefore determined as

$$N_{awg} = min(N_{lim\_wg\_arch}, N_{lim\_wg\_reg}, N_{lim\_wg\_sm}).$$
(5.7)

#### 5.5.1.2 Determining the Latencies of the Arithmetic and Memory Access Operations

The execution trace consists of the arithmetic and memory access operations to be executed on the target GPU. To obtain the latencies of these operations, a set of OpenCL micro-benchmarks is used to measure the arithmetical and memory throughput of the target GPU [122]. This work considers the basic arithmetic operations listed in Table 5.1 and the latencies of memory access from the OpenCL local, constant, and global memory. The private memory access is essentially on-chip register read/write and this memory access is deemed arithmetic operation since the pre-allocated registers are excluded by individual work item and therefore accessing them incurs no contention latency. The profiling of basic arithmetic operations is conducted over a set of computation-intensive kernels which repeatedly execute the desired operations for millions of times. To prevent the compiler optimization, the source and destination operands are exchanged after each time the operation is completed. By fine tuning the local and global work size of each kernel, the number of active warps per SM is thereupon dynami-

Table 5.1: List of profiled arithmetic operation types.

Data type	Operations
int/uint	add, sub, mul, div, rem, mad, shl, shr
float/double	add, sub, mul, div, mad
float/double	sin, cos, tan, exp, log, sqr, sqrt



Figure 5.2: Simulation of a sample execution trace on the warp pipeline.

cally regulated so as to obtain the corresponding execution latencies ranging from the minimal to the maximal attainable number of active warps.

With regards to the memory access, the framework uses pointer chasing to generate continuous data access to a large array filled in the respective memory space. To measure the cache hit and miss latencies, the pointer chasing stride offset is set to 1 and the cache line size, respectively. During the simulation, the memory latency is scaled with a factor equaling the ratio of the maximal to the actual number of active warps, since all the active warps share the memory bandwidth equally. The profiled results of the memory access characterize the average time period that starts from the memory instruction issue stage to the final data acquisition stage. We term this whole time period as the memory access "latency" and this time cost is differentiated from the time period when the data is actually read/written by the hardware control circuit, which is called memory access "delay". This work assumes that memory access delay is fixed while memory access latency varies depending on whether the access is a cache hit or miss.

#### 5.5.2 Calculating the Trace Simulation Time

Given the kernel execution trace **T**, the latencies of the arithmetic and memory access operations LAT, and the cache miss information cacheMissInfo in the trace, a lightweight simulator is developed to maneuver a dummy execution of the kernel with a round of active work groups  $N_{awg}$ . A sample simulation of this active work groups is conducted on the IR instruction pipeline and the time consumption can be denoted as  $T_{pipeline(N_{awg},\mathbf{T})}^{spec(LAT,cacheMissInfo)}$ . The estimated execution time of the kernel run is calculated as

$$T_{kernel} = T_{pipeline(N_{awg}, \mathbf{T})}^{spec(\text{LAT,cacheMissInfo})} \times \left\lceil \frac{S_{global}}{S_{local} \times N_{SM}} \right\rceil \times \frac{1}{N_{awg}},$$
(5.8)

where  $N_{SM}$  is the total number of SMs on the target GPU.

The trace simulation is implemented with a group of active warps continually consuming the arithmetic and memory access operations in presence of the shared resource and cache contention. For each memory access, it is assumed that memory read/write delay is constant while the waiting period of servicing memory read/write varies depending on whether the memory access is cache hit or miss. The latency of memory read/write is modeled as three parts: the pre-waiting latency, the read/write delay and the post-waiting latency, of which the sum is the profiled cache hit or miss latency.

For better illustration, Figure 5.2 gives an example to illustrate how an execution trace is fed into the warp pipeline. The sample trace is defined as (*comp, constMemAccess, comp, localMemAccess, barrier, comp, globalMemAccess*). The number of active work groups is 2 and each work group consists of 4 warps. Each time before a warp consumes a new operation in the trace, it will first check whether the required contention resource is idle. If so it would lock the resource and notify a value denoting the latency of consuming the current operation, otherwise it would notify a value denoting the time needed to wait until the resource is released. If the warp hits a barrier for synchronization, it will notify value 0 and wait for the other warps in the same work group to arrive at this barrier. A global timer starts at time point 0 and increases by a unit of time interval (indicated by the time point of  $t_1, t_2, t_3, \ldots$  on the Timeline-axis in Figure 5.2) when all the active warps have notified a time value. During every time interval, the timer checks the notification time of each warp and chooses the minimum positive time value as the incremental time interval. Once all the active warps finish their own traces, the global timer gives the total time of consuming the execution trace.

#### 5.5.3 Discussion and summary

As observed in Figure 5.2, the execution time of the sample trace is computation-bound and the synchronization latency is hidden by the computation pipeline. However, if there exist more memory access operations before the barrier, there would be a gap between the 2-nd and 3-rd computation component (indicated by time point  $t_{gap}$  in Figure 5.2) and in this case the synchronization latency would contribute to the final execution time. Consequently, analytical performance estimation methods are normally subject to kernel variances because the order that the computation and memory components appear in the execution trace is inconstant and unpredictable, which has a tremendous impact on calculating the consuming latency of the instruction pipeline.

Table 5.2 summarizes the parameters used in the proposed framework. As shown, this method requires neither the pre-execution of the whole or a portion of the target kernel nor the profiled results of the hardware performance counter metrics. The used information are the program configuration parameters, kernel compilation report, and the hardware specifications. The micro-benchmarking metrics are obtained by calibrating the target GPU once and these data can be reused for the performance prediction of all the kernels running on this platform. During the simulation, each kernel takes the same kernel compilation results and the same group of execution traces as inputs. For each specific run, only the corresponding global and local work size configurations are fed to the simulator to obtain the estimated results. Moreover, only a round of active work groups is actually fed to the pipeline and therefore the simulation time cost is small.

Overall speaking, compared with traditional architectural simulation methods [3], the proposed framework requires less input information and can give faster estimation outcomes. In addition, the framework does not require the instruction trace representatives generated from the kernel runs, which is subject to specific workloads and may incur substantial effort when the input parameters vary a lot.

## 5.6 Evaluation Results

#### 5.6.1 Evaluation Setup

Four COTS GPUs are used to evaluate the performance estimation framework and the detailed information is shown in Table 5.3. These GPUs are from recent Kepler and Maxwell architectures with different compute capacities so as to demonstrate the robustness of the framework. The framework is tested with 20 OpenCL kernels from the Rodinia [2] benchmark. The evaluation uses the default

Table 5.2: Summary of	f the	parameters u	ised in t	he p	erformance	estimation	framework.
-----------------------	-------	--------------	-----------	------	------------	------------	------------

No.	Parameter	Definition	Obtained
1	$S_{global}$	Number of global work size	Program configuration
2	Slocal	Number of local work size	Program configuration
3	Nreg	Number of registers used per work item	Kernel compilation
4	N <sub>sm</sub>	Bytes of shared memory used per work item	Kernel compilation
5	$B_{wg\_SM}$	Maximum allocatable work groups per SM	Hardware specification
6	$B_{warp\_SM}$	Maximum allocatable warps per SM	Hardware specification
7	$B_{reg_wi}$	Number of maximum allocatable registers per work item	Hardware specification
8	$B_{reg\_SM}$	Number of maximum allocatable registers per SM	Hardware specification
9	$B_{reg_wg}$	Number of maximum allocatable registers per work group	Hardware specification
10	$B_{sm_wg}$	Bytes of maximum allocatable shared memory per work group	Hardware specification
11	$B_{sm_{-}SM}$	Bytes of maximum allocatable shared memory per SM	Hardware specification
12	$G_{sm}$	Number of minimum allocation bytes of shared memory	Hardware specification
13	$G_{reg}$	Number of minimum allocation unit of registers	Hardware specification
14	$G_{warp}$	Number of minimum allocation unit of warps	Hardware specification
15	$FREQ_{core}$	Clock frequency of the thread core on target GPU	Hardware specification
16	$N_{SM}$	Number of SMs on target GPU	Hardware specification
17	Twarp	Number of thread cores per warp	Hardware specification
18	Nawg	Number of active work groups	Equation 5.7
19	LAT	Latencies of arithmetic and memory access operations	Micro-benchmarking
20	cacheMissInfo	Cache hit/miss information about the memory access	Cache behavior analysis
21	Т	Kernel execution trace	Algorithm 5
22	$T_{pipeline(N_{awg},\mathbf{T})}^{spec(LAT,cacheMissInfo)}$	Estimated execution time in a round of active work groups	Simulation
23	T <sub>kernel</sub>	Estimated total kernel execution time	Equation 5.8

input from the benchmarks and conduct a design space exploration that results in a total of 306,558 estimation runs. The simulation is performed on a desktop computer with an Intel<sup>®</sup> Core<sup>TM</sup> i7-3770 CPU.

#### 5.6.2 Prediction Results

#### 5.6.2.1 Accuracy

Table 5.4 presents the experimental results. The third column in Table 5.4 lists the number of total design configurations of each kernel and the fourth column indicates the average number of IR instructions in the execution trace during the simulation. The average MAPE on the four GPUs is 17.04% and on each GPU, the optimal kernel prediction can achieve an average MAPE of less than 7%. Overall, the performance estimation framework is robust and accurate.

To observe how close the predicted outcome can get to the actual measured results, the result comparison of Quadro K620 is shown in Figure 5.3 and the remaining GPUs show similar trends. To clearly

Name	Architecture	SMs/Cores	Clock freq.(MHz)
Quadro K600	Kepler GK107	1/192	876
GeForce GTX645	Kepler GK106	3/384	824
Quadro K620	Maxwell GM107	3/384	1058
GeForce 940M	Maxwell GM108	3/384	1072

Table 5.3: Hardware specification of the test GPUs.

**Table 5.4:** Accuracy and simulation time consumption of testing the performance estimation framework on the Rodinia [2] benchmark.

		Number of	Average		MAP	PE (%)		Time
Bench. name	Kernel name	total design	trace	Quadro	GeForce	Quadro	GeForce	per
		configurations	length	K600	GTX645	K620	940M	run (ms)
backprop	bpnn_adjust_weights	11450	41	24.24	24.34	22.16	22.12	23.03
Dackprop	bpnn_layerforward	11450	74	19.38	27.05	21.14	26.55	40.08
hfa	BFS_1	14028	79	11.55	7.969	10.16	20.47	60.09
015	BFS_2	14028	7	14.43	20.24	9.879	11.73	10.40
hitraa	findK	42000	100	35.68	31.12	8.941	12.86	72.93
D+tree	findRangeK	42000	163	40.63	39.80	13.42	13.42	119.66
	compute_flux	3072	616	15.32	19.81	9.077	14.41	77.55
	compute_step_factor	3072	33	12.83	27.76	43.04	3.315	14.01
cfd	initialize_variables	3072	18	11.89	9.149	29.65	7.902	15.38
	memset	12	2	8.085	25.80	6.803	18.83	7.081
	time_step	3072	31	5.191	18.38	18.04	16.20	23.78
hotspot	hotspot	1024	22093	15.36	14.21	4.325	9.389	4130.09
1	kmeans_c	40000	2338	12.95	22.99	19.06	20.37	824.60
kinearis	kmeans_swap	40000	533	10.23	19.80	15.76	17.74	219.67
lud	lud_internal	8267	108	17.41	23.18	8.278	34.18	45.10
nn	nearestNeighbor	66	9	10.89	26.84	7.090	12.38	6.030
	nw_kernel1	19408	1431	9.228	21.88	9.090	25.86	65.27
nw	nw_kernel2	19408	1431	9.239	24.69	8.551	24.87	63.99
particlefilter	particle_naive	104	52387	19.59	16.99	13.82	11.93	11751.93
pathfinder	dynproc	31025	1469	3.716	6.560	14.33	9.737	1055.97
Average		15227.0	4149.15	15.39	21.43	14.63	16.71	021 22
		15527.9	4148.15		17	.04		951.55



Figure 5.3: Comparison of the estimated and measured execution time of the test kernels (Quadro K620).

show the variation trend of the execution time, for some kernels only partial results in the whole design space are depicted because the curves become too dense if the total number of design configurations is too large. The design configuration ID on the *x*-axis represents the number of different program input and local work size settings. The execution time results are sorted in an ascending order with the global and local work size as primary and secondary key, respectively. For some kernels, the program input is also taken as the sorting key. Note that the number of total design configurations is very large and therefore is represented in the scientific notation format, except for kernel memset, nearestNeighbor, and particle\_naive. The *y*-axes of kernel findK, findRangeK, kmeans\_c, kmeans\_swap, particle\_naive, and dynproc are represented in logarithmic scale because the execution time shows several orders of magnitude difference in the absolute value. On the whole view, the predicted results accurately follow the variation trend of the actual execution time across the design space. This reveals that the execution trace and the simulation remarkably reflect the runtime behavior of the kernels, which means that the framework can also help users find the optimal execution even for a vast design space.

As observed in Figure 5.3, the MAPE turns out higher when the actual execution time is a few microseconds, particularly for kernel nw\_kernel1 and nw\_kernel2 (shown in Figure 5.3q and 5.3r). This is because in these cases the kernel overhead dominates the execution time and the predicted time is only a small portion that contributes to the final runtime performance. The kernel overhead includes prerequisite resource allocation, warp scheduling, and kernel launching, etc. The measurement of kernel overhead is infeasible as it is strongly associated with the specific kernel. A possible way is to attach a fixed threshold to the predicted outcome, but again how to set this threshold is pendent.

*backprop* The MAPEs of this application across four GPUs are quite stable (around 25% in Table 5.4). The main error source of kernel bpnn\_adjust\_weights is that there are multiple thread-ID-dependent branches and nest branches in the execution flow. The generated execution trace covers as more branches as possible if the estimated run might step into that branch, thus incurring slight over-estimation in some cases (shown in Figure 5.3a). For kernel bpnn\_layerforward, the underestimation in Figure 5.3b comes from barrier synchronization and kernel overhead.

*bfs* The prediction of this application is better than *backprop*, due to the much less branches. As seen in Figure 5.3c and 5.3d, kernel BFS\_1 suffers from larger overestimation than BFS\_2 when the work group size is very small, this is caused by the assumed more cache misses than expected.

*b+tree* The MAPEs of the kernels in this application are higher on Kepler than Maxwell GPUs. One possible explanation is that the kernels contain structure data and how these data are organized in memory varies across architectures. Moreover, the multiple runtime-dependent nest branches in the main loop body of both kernels cause workload imbalance and also deteriorate the prediction accuracy. *cfd* Estimation of kernel initialize\_variables shows slightly better accuracy in the variation amplitude (Figure 5.3i), which is the same case as kernel memset (Figure 5.3j). For the remaining three kernels, the error stems from the variant memory access behavior.

*hotspot* This application contains rather regular workload distribution across work items and the framework performs the prediction very well, as shown in Figure 5.3l. The minor underestimation is caused by the kernel overhead, because the execution time of this kernel is less than 60 us.

*kmeans* Figure 5.3m and 5.3n show that the predicted outcome of kmeans\_swap reveals larger fluctuations than kmeans\_c. We attribute this to the continuous global memory data exchange which incurs irregular memory access.

*lud & nn* These two applications exhibit rather accurate predictions since both kernels have no branch divergence and lud\_internal only has a loop with fixed bound.

nw Both nw\_kernel1 and nw\_kernel2 have several runtime-dependent branches, which makes the estimation more pessimistic. However, Figure 5.3q and 5.3r reveal counter-expectation results. The reason is that kernel overhead also contributes to the MAPE and it is nonnegligible because the total execution time is only a few microseconds. Consequently, kernel overhead compensates for the overestimation and even increases the time consumption for most cases.

*particlefilter* The predicted execution time shows overestimation for kernel particle\_naive in Figure 5.3s, because there exists runtime-dependent branches in the loop, which constructs the unevenly distributed workload across work items. The estimation always assumes the longer execution trace for all the warps and therefore is conservative.

*pathfinder* Similar to lud and nn, prediction results on this application is rather accurate, as loops are iterated with fixed times and the branches are equally visited by the warps.

To summary, the hybrid framework performs well on the test benchmarks in terms of MAPE. The variation trend of the kernel execution time in the design space is accurately captured by the estimated results. However, the influence of the kernel overhead is significant when the overall execution time is very small, i.e., a few microseconds in the test. In these cases, the dominant factor that contributes to the kernel execution time is not the computation and memory access latency but the interference from the overhead. The proposed framework may incur overestimation for irregular workloads, due to the conservative branch divergence analysis. However, note that *bfs* is also an irregular application and the framework can still give rather good estimation results.

#### 5.6.2.2 Simulation Time Cost

The last column in Table 5.4 presents the average simulation time of predicting the execution time of each kernel run. As shown, on average the framework can give prediction results within 0.931 second, which is much faster than using a fine-grained simulator [87] [88]. The consumed times of estimating kernel hotspot and particle\_naive are longer than the remaining kernels due to their extremely long execution traces.

The simulation time cost of the framework is also compared with the widely-used GPGPU-Sim [3] and Table 5.5 gives the results. As shown, the simulation cost of the proposed method is only a few seconds, while GPGPU-Sim takes time in magnitude of minutes. The framework achieves an average speedup of  $164.39 \times$  over GPGPU-Sim, in terms of the simulation time cost, on the test benchmarks.

## 5.7 Case Study with Lane Detection

To demonstrate the effectiveness of the proposed framework, the *p*-LDA presented in Chapter 3 is used as the test case. The algorithm consists of three steps, namely pre-processing, lane detection, and lane tracking. For each image frame, the pre-processing step extracts the information about the lane markings and then passes the processed image to the next step. Depending on whether the estimated positions of the lane markings in previous frame can still be applied to the current frame, the image is processed either reusing the lane detection step to detect the positions or using particle filter to track the previous positions of the lane markings. The aforementioned three steps are mapped to three kernels and Table 5.6 gives the program configuration of the application during the experiment. For  $640 \times 480$  input videos, the ROI size of KERNEL\_PRE is  $512 \times 96$  and the other two kernels are configured with global work size ranging from  $2^{10}$  to  $2^{13}$ .

The timing information of these kernels is collected for the whole video and then the averaged

Bonohmark	Sim	Snaadun		
Deficilitat K	GPGPU-Sim	Sim The proposed framework		
bfs	4517000	70.49	64080.01	
hotspot	200000	4130.09	48.43	
lud	168000	45.10	3725.06	
nn	3000	6.030	497.51	
nw	1673000	129.26	12942.91	
pathfinder	280000	1055.97	265.16	
Geo. mean	244433.52	148.69	164.39	

**Table 5.5:** Comparison of the simulation time costs of GPGPU-Sim [3] and the proposed framework in this chapter.



Figure 5.4: Comparison of the estimated and measured results of KERNEL\_PRE on different GPUs.



Figure 5.5: Comparison of the estimated and measured results of KERNEL\_LD on different GPUs.

results per frame are calculated. Figure 5.4, 5.5, and 5.6 respectively presents the results of the predicted and the measured time of KERNEL\_PRE, KERNEL\_LD, and KERNEL\_PF. As can be observed, for all the kernels across the different GPUs, the estimations keep the same variation trend with the measured

Kernel name	Global size	Local size	No. of designs
KERNEL_PRE	49152	$\{2^1, 2^2, 2^3, \dots, 2^{10}\}$	10
KERNEL_LD	$2^{10}, 2^{11}, 2^{12}, 2^{13}$	$\{2^1, 2^2, 2^3, 2^4, 2^5\}$	20
KERNEL_PF	$2^{10}, 2^{11}, 2^{12}, 2^{13}$	$\{2^1, 2^2, 2^3, 2^4, 2^5\}$	20

Table 5.6: Configuration of the lane detection kernels.

#### 5. PERFORMANCE ESTIMATION FOR OPENCL KERNELS ON GPUS



Figure 5.6: Comparison of the estimated and measured results of KERNEL\_PF on different GPUs.

results. The average MAPEs of the three kernels are 15.45%, 19.60%, and 17.10%, respectively. The average prediction error for this application is 17.38%.

### 5.8 Summary

Performance modeling of GPUs is critical for parallel program developers and end-users as the urgent need of hardware accelerators in high performance scientific computing fields. Extant work on GPU performance prediction is either out-of-date for the emerging new generations of architectures, or cumbersome to use due to the substantial effort of tedious calibration and parameter tuning on target platform and target applications. This chapter proposes an analytical and simulation combined framework to predict the performance of parallel workloads on GPUs. The hybrid framework contains a static module that analyzes high-level source code to extract kernel execution trace and a simulation module that dynamically mimics the kernel execution behavior to deduce the final kernel execution time. A software tool chain is further provided to enable the fast performance prediction of target kernels. The framework requires no prior knowledge about the hardware performance counter metrics or pre-executed measurement results. Experimental results reveal that the framework can accurately grasp the variation trend and predict the execution time in the design space with high accuracy and little time cost. Furthermore, it can help users to find the optimal execution in the vast design space.

Following the work in this chapter, the next chapter presents an approach to efficiently prune the program design space of OpenCL kernels running on GPUs.

## Chapter 6

# Design Space Pruning for OpenCL Kernels on GPUs

Chapter 5 proposed a hybrid framework to predict the performance of running OpenCL kernels on GPUs. Although this method cannot provide absolutely precise estimation results, it is capable of grasping the variation trend of the kernel execution time, which means it can help users to find the optimal execution in the vast design space. Motivated by this, the work in this chapter investigates how to efficiently prune the program design space of an OpenCL kernel so that the optimal design configuration can be quickly located.

### 6.1 Overview

Over the last decade, GPUs have attracted an overwhelming amount of attention, and utilization of GPUs has dominated state-of-the-art research about image processing, machine learning, high performance computing, and even embedded system design.

One of the critical problems for GPU programmers is how to locate the optimal configuration of a specific parallel application so that it can deliver the best runtime performance. In general, GPU applications take very large workloads as input and these workloads are evenly split and further mapped onto the numerous thread cores that handle substantial data manipulations. Given the huge workload size, the search for a proper sub-workload size that yields optimal performance is nontrivial. For instance, on Nvidia GPUs, the work-group size of an OpenCL [14] kernel in one dimension can vary from 1 to 1024, and the number of dimensions can be up to 3. Such a huge design space poses a challenge for programmers to pick a suitable configuration in a relatively short time period, especially in the early design stage.

To address the aforementioned issue, two main methodologies are adopted in state-of-the-art re-

search. The first technique is called measurement-based performance auto-tuning [78] [123], which samples a portion of the kernel executions selected from the entire design space and then tries to identify the optimal configuration with the aid of miscellaneous search strategies [78] or machine learning algorithms [79]. This approach assumes that neighboring executions are sufficiently related that the search strategy can detect a trend in the variations of the execution time to identify the optimal design. The second approach is program abstraction, which first extracts key features from the static source code [124] or dynamic kernel execution results [125], then defines metrics that are directly or indirectly correlated with the runtime performance. By optimizing these performance metrics, the optimal designs are finally derived. In this method, it is critical to deduce performance metrics that have a significant impact on the kernel runtime performance.

While the aforementioned methods are effective for finding the optimal or near-optimal configurations, there are still some drawbacks. First, performance auto-tuning depends heavily on the execution results of profiling runs on the target GPUs. This can incur substantial efforts, including program deployment, debugging, and profiling time cost, when applying the method to different platforms. Secondly, although performance metrics can reasonably reflect the kernel runtime behavior, providing a clear explanation of how these metrics can influence the kernel execution time is not straightforward. Finally, static performance metrics are often subject to specific programming language or hardware platform, so extra effort is needed when applying them to different architectures.

This chapter proposes a hybrid search framework to find the optimal work-group size for OpenCL kernels running on GPUs, given the constant and known input workload. The framework includes a static analysis module that filters out redundant designs with duplicated execution traces and inferior pipelines, and a dynamical simulation module that produces the estimated optimal design by searching the work-group sizes that yield the minimum predicted kernel execution time. Notably, the proposed framework does not require any program runs to find the optimal or near-optimal designs. The effectiveness of the framework is evaluated with a set of OpenCL kernels from the Rodinia [2] benchmark, on two Nvidia GPUs across two recent architectures (Maxwell and Pascal).

The remainder of this chapter is organized as follows: Section 6.2 is related work and Section 6.3 gives problem formulation. Section 6.4 presents the details of the hybrid search framework. Section 6.5 gives evaluation results and Section 6.6 concludes the work in this chapter.

## 6.2 Related Work

The literature on performance auto-tuning and design space exploration for parallel applications has grown over the last decade. At first, performance auto-tuning research mainly focused on commonly



Figure 6.1: Overview of the hybrid search framework.

used but computationally demanding algorithms, such as matrix multiplication [126] [127], stencil computation [128], fast Fourier transform [74], etc. The popular use of GPUs for general-purpose scientific computing has driven the emergence of auto-tuners used for generic algorithms. Measurementbased auto-tuners prune the program design space with sampling executions and then identify the optimal configuration using various search strategies [78] [79] [123]. Other studies have proposed performance metrics that are used as object function during optimization to derive the parameters related to the optimal executions [124] [125]. There are also studies that combine measurement outcomes and extracted program metrics to identify the optimal parameter settings [129].

Apart from the aforementioned studies, other researchers have proposed methods to optimize the kernel in the pre-execution stage, via code generation [130] and compiler optimization techniques [131]. These methods are orthogonal to the work in this chapter since this work assumes that the kernel source code is given. Therefore, these techniques can be applied to pre-optimize the target program before applying the framework presented in this chapter.

In this work, the kernel is analyzed using the IR instructions generated by the LLVM compiler [86]. The method applies static execution trace and pipeline analysis results to prune the program design space and then identifies the optimal or near-optimal work-group size via dynamical execution trace simulations. Therefore, the proposed framework does not require any program runs. Unlike comparable state-of-the-art methods, the framework presented in this chapter neither requires tedious profiling to obtain representative execution results, nor does it adopt performance metrics extracted from high-level kernel source code.

## 6.3 Problem Statement

In OpenCL, the input workload is represented as a number of work items and this total number of work items (or the global size, GS) can be divided into several work groups. Each group of work items with a work-group size WG, is a set of work instances mapped to a single SM on GPUs. The present work solves the following problem: Given a kernel with NDRange configuration of global size GS and a set of possible work-group sizes  $WG = \{wg_0, wg_1, \dots, wg_K\}$ , where K is the number of possible designs, find the appropriate work-group size  $wg_{opt}$  so that the kernel execution time is minimal.

### 6.4 Framework

#### 6.4.1 Framework Overview

For Nvidia GPUs, each OpenCL work item instance is mapped to the thread cores on the SM and a group of 32 threads, which is also called one warp, are bound together to execute the instance in lockstep manner. All threads in one warp consume the same instructions, while the consumed instructions in different warps may vary. Due to resource and architectural limit, given a specific work-group size (wg), the number of active warps  $(N_{aw}^{wg})$  for a kernel can be determined at compile time. In general, a larger value of  $N_{aw}^{wg}$  delivers better performance, though the best case execution does not always reveal the largest value of  $N_{aw}^{wg}$ .

Figure 6.1 gives an overview of the proposed hybrid search framework. Given the kernel source code (kernel.cl) and target GPU specifications (GPU config.), for a fixed and known input workload size, the possible design configurations can be obtained via an exhaustive traversal of the valid work-group sizes. The static analysis module contains two main steps that analyze program runtime behavior based on the execution traces that result from choosing different work-group sizes. The work-group sizes that yield the same execution traces and the same in-memory layouts for the input kernel arguments, are grouped in one batch, and only the configuration with the minimum number of rounds of active warps in each batch is chosen as a representative design. The representative designs extracted from different batches are then pruned further by filtering out inferior cases in which the lower bound of the best-case execution time is larger than the upper bound of the worst-case execution time yielded by another representative design. The pruned designs are then fed to the dynamical simulation module, in which an exhaustive search is performed to estimate the kernel execution time. Finally, the configuration with the shortest predicted execution time is chosen as the estimated optimal design.

#### 6.4.2 Static Analysis Module

An execution trace is defined as the sequence of IR instructions that one warp would consume. The static analysis module uses the loop-based bidirectional branch search algorithm from the work in Chapter 5 to obtain the execution trace of each warp. Suppose the work-group size is set as wg and the set of execution traces for a round of active warps is defined as **T**, the kernel execution time is estimated as follows:

$$t_{kernel} = \underbrace{t_{pipeline(N_{aw}^{wg}, \mathbf{T})}^{spec(\text{LAT,cacheMissInfo})}}_{\text{Sub-item }\mathbf{0}} \times \underbrace{\frac{\left\lceil \frac{GS}{wg \times N_{SM}} \right\rceil \times \left\lceil \frac{wg}{N_{warp}^{wt}} \right\rceil}{N_{aw}^{wg}}}_{\text{Sub-item }\mathbf{0}}, \tag{6.1}$$

where LAT is the latency of the arithmetic and memory access operations on the target GPU, cache-MissInfo is the cache miss information in the execution traces **T**,  $N_{SM}$  is the total number of SMs on the target GPU,  $N_{warp}^{wi}$  is the number of work items per warp (fixed to 32 for current Nvidia GPUs), and Sub-item **0** in Equation (6.1) is the time needed for a round of active warps to complete the execution traces **T**.

#### 6.4.2.1 Duplicated Trace Pruning

In Equation (6.1), the latency of the arithmetic and memory access operations (LAT), the number of work items per warp ( $N_{warp}^{wi}$ ), and the total number of SMs ( $N_{SM}$ ) are hardware-dependent and therefore remain constant when varying the work-group size. The cache miss information in the execution traces (cacheMissInfo) is determined by the in-memory layout of the input kernel arguments (denoted as argMemLayout) and the hardware specifications of the memory hierarchy (denoted as gpuMemConfig). Consequently, when varying the work-group size wg, the kernel execution time is only determined by argMemLayout,  $N_{aw}^{wg}$ , and **T**, since the remaining parameters are hardwaredependent and constant.

First of all, the details of argMemLayout and **T** for each work-group size are compared and the work-group sizes with the same contents of argMemLayout and **T** are combined into one batch. Here the same execution traces **T** means that both the execution trace for each warp and the number of active warps are identical. Then information of argMemLayout is extracted from the invoked argument list of the kernel function, and the memory size and data type of each argument is obtained from the host source code. It is observed that for most of the kernels, argMemLayout remains constant when varying the work-group size, as it is only affected by the input workload. For the cases in which the memory buffer sizes of kernel arguments are determined by the work-group size, these work-group sizes are assigned to different batches.

```
Algorithm 8: Inferior pipeline elimination
     Input: Representative design set \mathbb{WG}, Global size GS, Total number of SMs N_{SM}
     Output: Pruned design set WG
 1 WG \leftarrow \emptyset
    foreach wg \in WG do
            \mathsf{isPruned} \gets \mathsf{FALSE}
            L_B^{wg} \leftarrow \text{calcPipelineLowerBoundLatency}(wg)
           lat_{B}^{wg} \leftarrow \lceil \frac{GS}{wg \times N_{SM}} \rceil \times \lceil \frac{wg}{N_{warp}^{wi}} \rceil \times \frac{L_{B}^{wg}}{N_{aw}^{wg}}foreach wg' \in \mathbb{WG} do
  5
 6
                   L_W^{wg'} \leftarrow \mathsf{calcPipelineUpperBoundLatency}(wg')
  7
                  lat_W^{wg'} \leftarrow \left\lceil \frac{GS}{wg' \times N_{SM}} \right\rceil \times \left\lceil \frac{wg'}{N_{warp}^{wi}} \right\rceil \times \frac{L_W^{wg'}}{N_{aw}^{wg'}}
 8
                   if lat_B^{wg} < lat_W^{wg'} then
 9
                          isPruned \leftarrow TRUE
10
                          break
11
            if isPruned == FALSE then
12
              wg \leftarrow WG
13
14 return WG
```

The work-group sizes in the same batch show the same execution behavior for a round of active warps, so the values of Sub-item ① in Equation (6.1) are equivalent. Sub-item ② in Equation (6.1) indicates the number of rounds of active warps needed for the entire kernel run. Therefore, the work-group size with the lowest value of Sub-item ② in a batch reveals the minimal kernel execution time, and this design is chosen as the representative design from this batch. After all representative designs from all batches are collected, they are fed to the following pruning module.

#### 6.4.2.2 Inferior Pipeline Elimination

The duplicated trace pruning step filters out the work-group sizes that showcase the same execution behavior within a round of active warps. Afterwards, the execution times among different execution traces are analyzed, and design configurations with inferior pipelines are eliminated. Algorithm 8 gives the detail of this procedure. For each work-group size wg, the lower bound of the best-case pipeline execution latency  $(L_B^{wg})$  is deduced, and thereby the lower bound of the best-case execution time  $(lat_B^{wg})$  is calculated. If this lower bound is still larger than the upper bound of the worst-case execution time yielded by another design  $(lat_W^{wg'})$  within the representative design set, the selected design results in an inferior pipeline and is removed from the search space. As shown in Line 5 and 8 in Algorithm 8,  $lat_B^{wg}$  and  $lat_W^{wg'}$  are calculated in a similar way, i.e., by replacing Sub-item **0** in Equation (6.1) with  $L_B^{wg}$  and  $L_W^{wg'}$ , respectively. The details of how  $L_B^{wg}$  and  $L_W^{wg}$  are deduced (Line 4 and 7 in Algorithm 8) are illustrated as follows.

#### 6.4 Framework



Figure 6.2: Best case of the pipeline execution.

*Preliminaries*. For Nvidia GPUs, the resources shared by a warp pipeline are the Floating Point Unit (FPU), the Special Function Unit (SFU), and various memory load/store units. Since the OpenCL kernel execution is modeled at the IR level, the types of memory access are differentiated as memory access from Local Memory (LM), Constant Memory (CM), and Global Memory (GM). Private memory access is performed on-chip and is not mutually exclusive for the work items in one work group. Moreover, the cache accesses of CM and GM load/store are considered as memory accesses from the Constant Cache (CC) and the Global Cache (GC). For each memory access, i.e., the load/store IR instruction in the execution trace, the memory referencing addresses are extracted and thereupon the number of memory transactions and cache hit/miss accesses that a warp needs to perform when consuming the execution trace [132] are analyzed. The memory access latencies are obtained via micro-benchmarking and the latency results characterize the average time from the memory instruction issue stage to the final data acquisition stage. The memory delay is denoted as the time during which the data is read/written by the hardware control circuit. The memory latency is modeled as three parts: pre-waiting latency, memory delay (memDelay) and post-waiting latency, of which the sum is the micro-benchmarked memory latency (memLatency).

Given an arbitrary execution trace running on a warp pipeline, the mutually exclusive resources are the computation components (FPU, SFU) and the memory components (LM, CM, GM, CC, GC). Suppose the execution trace is defined as  $\mathbf{T} = \{\tau_0, \tau_1, \cdots, \tau_m\}$ , where  $\tau_i$  is the execution trace for  $N_i$ warps and  $\sum_{i=0}^m N_i = N_{aw}^{wg}$ . Let's consider the best and worst cases of the kernel execution.

Best-case analysis. In the best-case execution, computation and memory access instructions are consumed in an interleaved manner, so that the execution times are overlapped as much as possible. For instance, Figure 6.2 presents two extreme cases in which the memory access latency in Case I and the computation latency in Case II overlap perfectly. In these two cases, the overall kernel execution time is equal to either the computation latency or the memory access latency. Therefore,  $L_B^{wg}$  is



Figure 6.3: Sample cases of the memory component pipeline.

calculated as

$$L_B^{wg} = max(L_{fpu}^{N_{aw}^{wg}}, L_{sfu}^{N_{aw}^{wg}}, Lb_{lm}^{N_{aw}^{wg}}, Lb_{cm}^{N_{aw}^{wg}}, Lb_{cc}^{N_{aw}^{wg}}, Lb_{cc}^{N_{aw}^{wg}}, Lb_{gc}^{N_{aw}^{wg}}),$$
(6.2)

where the latencies of the computation components are calculated as follows:

$$L_{comp}^{N_{aw}^{wg}} = \sum_{i=0}^{m} L_{comp}^{N_i}$$
(6.3)

$$L_{comp}^{N_i} = \sum^{opType(\tau_i)} num(OP, \tau_i) \times lat(OP),$$
(6.4)

where  $comp = \{fpu, sfu\}, opType(\tau_i)$  is the number of instruction types in the execution trace  $\tau_i$ ,  $num(OP, \tau_i)$  is the number of OP instructions in the execution trace  $\tau_i$ , and lat(OP) is the microbenchmarked latency of OP instruction. Here OP refers to the basic arithmetic instructions for the FPU, and the transcendental instructions for the SFU, respectively.

With regard to the latencies of the memory components, because memDelay, instead of mem-Latency, is the main factor that stalls the memory component pipeline, the overall latency is directly related to the pipeline depth, i.e., the number of active warps running on the pipeline. Consider the two cases in Figure 6.3, where the pipeline depth d influences the latency of the memory components. In Case I, the pipeline is not deep enough, so the memory load/store delay time cannot hide the memory waiting time ( $d \times memDelay \le memLatency$ ).

Suppose each warp has  $\kappa$  memory components, the pipeline latency in this case is calculated as

$$L_I = \kappa \times memLatency + (d-1) \times memDelay.$$
(6.5)

However, as the pipeline becomes deeper, as shown in Case II, the memory delay becomes the dominant factor in the pipeline latency and the memory waiting time is totally overlapped with it ( $d \times memDelay > memLatency$ ). In this case, the pipeline latency is

$$L_{II} = \kappa \times d \times memDelay + memLatency - memDelay.$$
(6.6)

From Equation (6.5) and (6.6), the latency of each type of the memory components is

$$L_{comp}^{N_i} = \kappa^{N_i} \times l_{max}^{N_i} + l_{min}^{N_i} - memDelay_{comp}$$
(6.7)

$$l_{max}^{N_i} = max(N_i \times memDelay_{comp}, memLatency_{comp})$$
(6.8)

$$l_{min}^{N_i} = min(N_i \times memDelay_{comp}, memLatency_{comp}),$$
(6.9)

where  $comp = \{lm, cm, gm, cc, gc\}, i = 0, 1, \dots, m$ , and  $\kappa^{N_i}$  is the number of memory components in the execution trace  $\tau_i$ . The best-case memory component latency is calculated as

$$Lb_{comp}^{N_{aw}^{wg}} = max(L_{comp}^{N_{0}}, L_{comp}^{N_{1}}, \cdots, L_{comp}^{N_{m}}),$$
(6.10)

where  $comp = \{lm, cm, gm, cc, gc\}$ .

*Worst-case analysis.* In the worst-case execution, the IR instructions in the execution traces construct a permutation that the latencies of the computation and memory components barely overlap. In this work, the upper bound of the pipeline latency is derived as an extreme case in which at any time only one IR instruction in the execution trace is consumed as if there is always synchronization between each IR instruction. Consequently,  $L_W^{wg}$  is deduced as

$$L_W^{wg} = L_{fpu}^{N_{aw}^{wg}} + L_{sfu}^{N_{aw}^{wg}} + Lw_{lm}^{N_{aw}^{wg}} + Lw_{cm}^{N_{aw}^{wg}} + Lw_{gm}^{N_{aw}^{wg}} + Lw_{cc}^{N_{aw}^{wg}} + Lw_{gc}^{N_{aw}^{wg}}$$
(6.11)

$$Lw_{comp}^{N_{aw}^{wg}} = \sum_{i=0}^{m} L_{comp}^{N_i}, comp = \{lm, cm, gm, cc, gc\},$$
(6.12)

where  $L_{fpu}^{N_{aw}^{wg}}$  and  $L_{sfu}^{N_{aw}^{wg}}$  are calculated from Equation (6.3), and  $L_{comp}^{N_i}$  is calculated from Equation (6.7).

#### 6.4.3 Dynamical Simulation Module

The pruned designs output by the static analysis module are a part of the possible work-group sizes in the entire program design space. Subsequently, the dynamical simulation method from Chapter 5 is used to predict the kernel execution time needed for each design. The simulation performs a dummy execution of each IR instruction in the execution trace set **T** for a round of active warps and outputs the total time of consuming the execution traces, given LAT and cacheMissInfo. The kernel execution

time is estimated from Equation (6.1). After the exhaustive simulation search, the work-group size that produces the minimum predicted execution time is chosen as the optimal work-group size  $wg_{opt}$ .

#### 6.4.4 Discussion

The proposed hybrid search framework does not require any program runs of the target kernel on the target GPU. Although the dynamical simulation module performs an exhaustive simulation search of the pruned designs from the static analysis module, this time cost is rather small compared with the exhaustive simulation search of all the possible designs from the entire program design space, because the two-stage static pruning step filters out most of the redundant design configurations. The bound analysis of the best- and worst-case executions of the IR instruction pipeline manifests the extreme cases of the pipeline latency overlapping, given arbitrary execution traces and arbitrary pipeline depth. Although the actual execution of the pipeline can always be determined once the execution traces are fixed, this information can only be obtained through dynamical simulations. Hence, the bound estimation of the pipeline latency is intended to provide an effective filter that reduces the number of simulated designs.

## 6.5 Evaluation Results

#### 6.5.1 Evaluation Setup

Two Nvidia GPUs are used to evaluate the hybrid search framework and Table 6.1 gives the detailed hardware specifications. The proposed framework is tested with a set of OpenCL kernels from the Rodinia [2] benchmark. The detailed configuration is given in Table 6.2. The evaluation uses the default input workloads from the benchmarks and excludes the kernels whose work-group size cannot be varied when the global size is fixed. For backprop, the number of possible work-group sizes is very small because this application allocates shared memory according to the selected work-group size.

Device name	Quadro K620	Titan XP
Architecture	Maxwell GM107	Pascal GP102
Compute capacity	5.0	6.1
Number of SMs	3	30
Number of cores per SM	192	128
Clock frequency (MHz)	1058	1405
Number of cores per warp	32	32
Maximum active work groups per SM	32	32
Maximum active warps per SM	64	64

Table 6.1: Hardware specifications of the test GPUs.

Therefore, the shared memory quickly reaches the capacity limit when the work-group size is set to a large value. For kmeans, the number of features may vary even if the global size is fixed to (10000, 1, 1), therefore different cases are tested, in which the number of features was set to 16, 32, and 64, respectively. The simulations are performed on a desktop with an Intel<sup>®</sup> Core<sup>TM</sup> i7-3770 CPU.

#### 6.5.2 Results

#### 6.5.2.1 Design Space Reduction

Figure 6.4 shows the design space reduction results on the test GPUs. The x-axis represents the kernel IDs (Column 2) in Table 6.2. The bar results show the number of designs for each kernel. Specifi-

				No. of total designs		
Benchmark	Kernel ID	Kernel name	Global work size	Quadro	Titan	
				K620	ХР	
	#1	adjustWeight_1	(100, 1600, 1)	75	84	
	#2	adjustWeight_2	(100, 3200, 1)	66	78	
hadronan	#3	adjustWeight_3	(100, 6400, 1)	48	75	
баскргор	#4	layerForward_1	(100, 1600, 1)	75	84	
	#5	layerForward_2	(100, 3200, 1)	66	78	
	#6	layerForward_3	(100, 6400, 1)	48	75	
	#7	bfs1_1	(1048576, 1, 1)	1024	1024	
hfa	#8	bfs1_2	(2097152, 1, 1)	1024	1024	
DIS	#9	bfs2_1	(1048576, 1, 1)	1024	1024	
	#10	bfs2_2	(2097152, 1, 1)	1024	1024	
	#11	computeFlux_1	(97152, 1, 1)	1024	1024	
	#12	computeFlux_2	(193536, 1, 1)	1024	1024	
	#13	computeFlux_3	(232704, 1, 1)	1024	1024	
	#14	computeStepFactor_1	(97152, 1, 1)	1024	1024	
	#15	computeStepFactor_2	(193536, 1, 1)	1024	1024	
-61	#16	computeStepFactor_3	(232704, 1, 1)	1024	1024	
ciù	#17	initVariable_1	(97152, 1, 1)	1024	1024	
	#18	initVariable_2	(193536, 1, 1)	1024	1024	
	#19	initVariable_3	(232704, 1, 1)	1024	1024	
	#20	timeStep_1	(97152, 1, 1)	1024	1024	
	#21	timeStep_2	(193536, 1, 1)	1024	1024	
	#22	timeStep_3	(232704, 1, 1)	1024	1024	
	#23	fan1	(4096, 1, 1)	1024	1024	
gaussian	#24	fan2	(4096, 4096, 1)	7262	7262	
	#25	kmeansSwap_feat16	(10000, 1, 1)	1024	1024	
kmeans	#26	kmeansSwap_feat32	(10000, 1, 1)	1024	1024	
	#27	kmeansSwap_feat64	(10000, 1, 1)	1024	1024	
<u> </u>	#28	nearestNeighbor_1	(131072, 1, 1)	1024	1024	
	#29	nearestNeighbor_2	(262144, 1, 1)	1024	1024	
nn	#30	nearestNeighbor_3	(524288, 1, 1)	1024	1024	
	#31	nearestNeighbor_4	(1048576, 1, 1)	1024	1024	
particleFilter	#32	particleNaive	(2048, 1, 1)	1024	1024	

**Table 6.2:** Design configurations of the test OpenCL kernels.



#### 6. DESIGN SPACE PRUNING FOR OPENCL KERNELS ON GPUS

**Figure 6.4:** Design space reduction results of the hybrid search framework on the test GPUs. The bar results indicate the number of design configurations of the native and the pruned search. The red point values indicate the percentage of the pruned designs from the native search space.

cally, the *Native* bar represents the number of total designs and the *Pruned* bar represents the number of pruned designs yielded by the static analysis module. The red points give the design reduction percentage for each test kernel. Note that the number of total designs varies from a few to several thousand and therefore is represented in logarithmic scale.

As can be seen, the proposed approach is quite effective for most of the test kernels. Specifically, the proposed framework can prune the number of designs by more than 90%, for bfs, nn, and the kernel timeStep. On average, the static analysis module reduces the program design space by 77.81% and 68.06%, respectively, on Quadro K620 and Titan XP GPUs. For both GPUs, the limiting factor on the percentage of the program design space reduction is backprop and particleFilter. As for backprop, the number of total designs is rather small, so the number of redundant configurations are greatly outnumbered by the remaining kernels. With regard to particleFilter, the kernel execution times across all designs are quite stable, so the static analysis module is not able to significantly prune the design configurations, resulting in a still very large pruned design space. The case is the same with kmeans running on the Titan XP GPU.



Figure 6.5: Normalized execution time of the selected design on the test GPUs.

#### 6.5.2.2 Search Quality

Figure 6.5 presents the performance results on the test GPUs. The x-axis represents the kernel IDs (Column 2) in Table 6.2, and the y-axis represents the ratio of the runtime performance of the test kernels with the selected work-group size to that with the truly optimal design. On average, the performance with the selected designs is 1.062 times and 1.233 times slower than that with the truly optimal configurations, respectively for the Quadro K620 and Titan XP GPUs. For the kernel adjustWeight, the hybrid search framework manages to find the truly optimal work-group size configuration for the Quadro K620 GPU.

The worst results come from the kernel layerForward and fan2 running on the Titan XP GPU. This is due to the reason that although the dynamical simulation can give a fairly good estimation of the kernel execution time on the whole, it fails to accurately predict some extreme cases that might showcase the minimal estimated execution time. To demonstrate the effectiveness of the static analysis module, for the kernel layerForward and fan2 running on the Titan XP GPU, the test kernels with pruned designs are also exhaustively executed and the work-group size with the minimal execution time is chosen as a candidate work-group size configuration. Results show that the candidate configurations always match the truly optimal work-group size.

#### 6.5.2.3 Search Cost

The search cost is measured by recording the time needed to obtain the optimal configuration for the test kernels when using the exhaustive simulation search and the hybrid search, respectively. The results are shown in Figure 6.6. On average, the proposed hybrid search framework takes only 24.70% and 34.57% of the time required by the exhaustive simulation search to find the optimal work-group size, for the Quadro K620 and Titan XP GPUs, respectively. Similar to the percentage of the program



Figure 6.6: Normalized time costs of the exhaustive simulation search and the hybrid search on the test GPUs.

design space reduction, the limiting factor is the large search time needed for backprop, particleFilter, and kmeans on the Titan XP GPU.

## 6.6 Summary

Designing an efficient design-space exploration of parallel workloads meant for GPUs is non-trivial due to the large numbers of possible design configurations. The work in this chapter addresses the selection of work-group size for OpenCL kernels and proposes a hybrid-search framework for pruning the design space of possible work-group sizes for OpenCL kernels running on GPUs. The proposed space-search framework includes two modules. First, a static analysis module applies two stages of design-space pruning by filtering out design configurations that have duplicated execution traces and inferior pipelines. Second, a dynamical simulation module estimates the optimal design configuration by exhaustively searching the work-group sizes that yield the minimum predicted kernel execution time. The proposed framework does not require any program runs to find optimal or near-optimal work-group size configurations. Experiments show that the framework can significantly reduce the program design space and generate the estimated work-group size which can deliver runtime performance comparable to that with the truly optimal configuration.

## Chapter 7

## **Conclusion and Future Work**

This chapter makes a brief summary of the main contributions of the work presented in this thesis. Meanwhile, it will also give discussions about the main results of the thesis and then come up with the prospect of further research direction when using heterogeneous computing systems for the development of ADAS applications.

## 7.1 Main Contributions

The primary contributions of the work in this thesis lie in the investigation of applying the heterogeneous computing techniques for the development of parallel ADAS applications. The work is done in a systematic way, i.e., both the hardware architecture design and the software application implementations are carefully considered, before the detailed studies about performance analysis, optimization, estimation, and program design space exploration are conducted. Specifically, the main points illustrated in this thesis are listed as follows:

- Hardware architecture design. To cater to the requirements of high-performance-guarantee and low-energy-consumption for future ADAS applications and to tackle the problems of tedious HW/SW maintenance and low scalability existed in conventional automotive ECUs, Chapter 2 proposes to adopt the modular design philosophy for the implementation of a novel ECU architecture called h<sup>2</sup>ECU. The platform integrates multiple hardware accelerators so as to provide sufficient computing power, while traditional dedicated functionalities can be seamlessly executed on the fixed host module. The high performance, flexibility, and scalability of this architecture is demonstrated by the deployment on a modified real-life vehicle and evaluations with two customized ADAS applications.
- 2. Software application implementations. Based on the heterogeneous context, two different

approaches to realize the lane detection application are presented in Chapter 3. The comprehensive study of how to abstract, parallelize, and optimize the computation tasks using the commodity hardware accelerators provide a paradigm for deploying generic ADAS applications in the heterogeneous systems. The performance and energy efficiency of executing the applications with heterogeneous configurations are also demonstrated by a series of experiments on real-world road scenarios.

- 3. **Performance optimization procedure.** With the heterogeneous platform and the case applications in hand, Chapter 4 gives further study towards the aspect of the performance optimization. In this chapter, a detailed optimization procedure is provided for those ADAS applications which are parallelized for single-accelerator scenario, but not fully optimized for multi-accelerator heterogeneous configurations. The optimization procedure takes into consideration the perspectives from the host, intra-accelerator, inter-accelerator, accelerator-specific and algorithm-oriented executions and thus the performance enhancement is presented in a step-by-step manner. Moreover, it is applicable to generic parallel applications programmed with OpenCL, and other heterogeneous and reconfigurable computing systems.
- 4. **Hybrid performance estimation and design space pruning framework.** In Chapter 5 and 6, detailed studies about the performance estimation and design space pruning of OpenCL kernels on the representative GPU platforms are given. The work in these two chapters concentrates on a hybrid framework that combines static source code analysis and dynamical execution trace simulation approaches to model and monitor the runtime behavior of the parallel OpenCL kernels. The robustness, accuracy, and time cost of the hybrid framework are afterwards evaluated and analyzed.

## 7.2 Discussion

Heterogeneous computing is an emerging technique for the development and deployment of scientific computing applications in the scenarios where high performance needs to be guaranteed, while other expenses such as the energy, power, or thermal consumptions are expected to be minimized. The work in this thesis applies the heterogeneous computing architecture to the automotive domain and depicts relatively span-new and preliminary studies of using heterogeneous computing for the development of ADAS applications.

The work in Chapter 2 and 3 shows the possibility and feasibility of running ADAS applications on a customized heterogeneous platform. It is seen that within the heterogeneous context, the realtime performance of the ADAS applications can be effortlessly achieved, meanwhile the energy cost can also be regulated. This type of reconfigurable computing exhibits considerably high flexibility and scalability for the development of next-generation ADAS applications and the design of future automated driving module.

The work in Chapter 4 looks into the various aspects of the heterogeneous systems and the proposed optimization procedure gives insights and guidance for potential program developers who wish to maximize the performance of their projects by virtue of leveraging various hardware computation resources. The FPGA-GPU heterogeneous system studied in this chapter serves as a typical template for other reconfigurable computing systems, and the associated performance optimization methods can be expanded to other scenarios as well.

The work in Chapter 5 and 6 demonstrated that, despite the diversity of applications and architectures, the performance results are somehow predictable within tolerable error range, and the inherent vast program design space of the parallel applications can be efficiently pruned. The GPU platform studied in this chapter throws light upon the adoption of hybrid approach for the performance modeling and analysis of parallel applications on commodity hardware.

## 7.3 Future Work

The contributions in this thesis present initial research and provide partial solutions for the development and deployment of ADAS applications in heterogeneous computing systems. Possible future work regarding to this topic are listed in the following:

- Hardware design. The performance demand is considered as the primary goal for the embedded systems, especially for ADAS. The proposed h<sup>2</sup>ECU is a prototype platform for current research use. However, as a portable device, power consumption and the associated thermal management are also important topics that needs to be considered. For the real automotive products, how to address these issues simultaneously is a critical topic which deserves further study.
- Application implementation. The work in this thesis chooses LDA as the case application as it represents a category of applications which require high computing power and thus deserve well-performed parallelization. For ADAS, there exists a wide range of other applications using miscellaneous sensors and how to involve them into the heterogeneous context is also a very promising future work.
- *Analysis and optimization of other indices.* Performance analysis is the main focus of the work in this thesis and the energy efficiency is also investigated for the parallelized ADAS applications.

A potential research direction in the next step would be how to optimize other indices, such as energy, power, or both, for the workload processed in the heterogeneous systems.

• *Involvement of other accelerators.* The aim of heterogeneous computing is to foster strengths and circumvent weaknesses of various hardware accelerators to maximize the task processing efficiency. Currently, GPUs and FPGAs are two types of mainstream devices that dominate the scientific computing realm. How to model and analyze the performance of the overall system which consists of both GPUs and FPGAs, or even with other commodity hardware components, is still a rather new topic for future study.

# **List of Publications**

- [1] XIEBING WANG, LINLIN LIU, KAI HUANG, AND ALOIS KNOLL. Exploring FPGA-GPU Heterogeneous Architecture for ADAS: Towards Performance and Energy, In International Conference on Algorithms and Architectures for Parallel Processing (ICA3PP), pages 33–48. Springer, 2017.
- [2] XIEBING WANG, MINGYUE CUI, KAI HUANG, ALOIS KNOLL, AND LONG CHEN. Improving the performance of ADAS application in heterogeneous context: A case of lane detection, In IEEE 20th International Conference on Intelligent Transportation Systems (ITSC), pages 1–6. IEEE, 2017.
- [3] XIEBING WANG, CHRISTOPHER KIWUS, CANHAO WU, BIAO HU, KAI HUANG, AND ALOIS KNOLL. Implementing and Parallelizing Real-time Lane Detection on Heterogeneous Platforms, In IEEE 29th International Conference on Application-specific Systems, Architectures and Processors (ASAP), pages 1–8. IEEE, 2018.
- [4] XIEBING WANG, KAI HUANG, ALOIS KNOLL, AND XUEHAI QIAN. A Hybrid Framework for Fast and Accurate GPU Performance Estimation through Source-Level Analysis and Trace-Based Simulation, In IEEE 25th International Symposium on High-Performance Computer Architecture (HPCA), pages 506–518. IEEE, 2019.
- [5] XIEBING WANG, KAI HUANG, LONG CHEN, AND ALOIS KNOLL. h<sup>2</sup>ECU: A High-Performance and Heterogeneous Electronic Control Unit for Automated Driving, *IEEE Micro*, 38(5):53-62, 2018.
- [6] MINGCHUAN ZHOU, LONG CHENG, MANUEL DELL'ANTONIO, XIEBING WANG, ZHENSHAN BING, M ALI NASSERI, KAI HUANG, AND ALOIS KNOLL. Peak Temperature Minimization for Hard Real-Time Systems Using DVS and DPM, Journal of Circuits, Systems and Computers, 1950102, 2018.
- [7] XIEBING WANG, KAI HUANG, AND ALOIS KNOLL. Performance Optimisation of Parallelized ADAS Applications in FPGA-GPU Heterogeneous Systems: A Case Study With Lane Detection, IEEE Transactions on Intelligent Vehicles, 4(4):519–531, 2019.

#### LIST OF PUBLICATIONS

[8] XIEBING WANG, XUEHAI QIAN, ALOIS KNOLL, AND KAI HUANG. Efficient Performance Estimation and Work-group Size Pruning for OpenCL Kernels on GPUs, IEEE Transactions on Parallel and Distributed Systems, 31(5):1089–1106, 2020.
# References

- [1] TEXAS INSTRUMENTS. Advanced Driver Assistance (ADAS) Solutions Guide. https: //uk.farnell.com/wcsstore/ExtendedSitesCatalogAssetStore/cms /asset/images/europe/common/applications/automotive/pdf/ti-a das-solution-guide.pdf, 2015. xiii, 2
- [2] SHUAI CHE, MICHAEL BOYER, JIAYUAN MENG, DAVID TARJAN, JEREMY W SHEAFFER, SANG-HA LEE, AND KEVIN SKADRON. Rodinia: A benchmark suite for heterogeneous computing. In IEEE International Symposium on Workload Characterization (IISWC), pages 44–54. IEEE, 2009. xv, 78, 79, 95, 96, 104, 112
- [3] ALI BAKHODA, GEORGE L YUAN, WILSON WL FUNG, HENRY WONG, AND TOR M AAMODT. Analyzing CUDA workloads using a detailed GPU simulator. In IEEE International Symposium on Performance Analysis of Systems and Software (ISPASS), pages 163–174. IEEE, 2009. xv, 80, 95, 100
- [4] WIKIPEDIA. Advanced driver assistance systems. https://en.wikipedia.org/w iki/Advanced\_driver\_assistance\_systems, 2017. 1
- [5] MANFRED BROY, INGOLF H KRUGER, ALEXANDER PRETSCHNER, AND CHRISTIAN SALZMANN. Engineering automotive software. Proceedings of the IEEE, 95(2):356–373, 2007. 1, 3, 9
- [6] JEFFREY A COOK, ILYA V KOLMANOVSKY, DAVID MCNAMARA, EDWARD C NELSON, AND K VENKATESH PRASAD. Control, computing and communications: technologies for the twenty-first century model T. Proceedings of the IEEE, 95(2):334–355, 2007. 1
- [7] DAVID P RODGERS. Improvements in multiprocessor system design. In ACM SIGARCH Computer Architecture News, 13, pages 225–231. IEEE Computer Society Press, 1985. 2
- [8] MEMS JOURNAL. Automotive Sensors and Electronics Expo 2017. http://www.auto motivesensors2017.com/, 2017. 3

- [9] TUXERA. What does ECU consolidation mean for automotive storage? https://www. tuxera.com/blog/ecu-consolidation-mean-automotive-storage/, 2018. 3
- [10] INTEL. Intel<sup>®</sup> GO<sup>TM</sup> Automotive Solutions. https://www.intel.com/content/ www/us/en/automotive/go-automated-driving.html, 2017. 3, 11
- [11] KAI HUANG, BIAO HU, LONG CHEN, ALOIS KNOLL, AND ZHIHUA WANG. ADAS on COTS with OpenCL: a case study with lane detection. *IEEE Transactions on Computers (TC)*, 2017. 4, 57
- [12] JÖRG FICKENSCHER, SEBASTIAN REINHART, FRANK HANNIG, JÜRGEN TEICH, AND MOHAMED ES-SAYED BOUZOURAA. Convoy tracking for ADAS on embedded GPUs. In IEEE Intelligent Vehicles Symposium (IV), pages 959–965. IEEE, 2017. 4
- [13] MATINA MARIA TROMPOUKI, LEONIDAS KOSMIDIS, AND NACHO NAVARRO. An open benchmark implementation for multi-CPU multi-GPU pedestrian detection in automotive systems. In IEEE/ACM International Conference on Computer-Aided Design (ICCAD), pages 305– 312. IEEE, 2017. 4
- [14] AAFTAB MUNSHI. The OpenCL specification. In IEEE Hot Chips Symposium (HCS), pages 1–314. IEEE, 2009. 4, 78, 103
- [15] MOHAMED ZAHRAN. Heterogeneous computing: here to stay. Communications of the ACM (CACM), 60(3):42–45, 2017. 4
- [16] MAJDI GHADHAB, JÖRG KAIENBURG, MARTIN SÜSSKRAUT, AND CHRISTOF FETZER. Is Software Coded Processing an Answer to the Execution Integrity Challenge of Current and Future Automotive Software-Intensive Applications? In Advanced Microsystems for Automotive Applications, pages 263–275. Springer, 2016. 4
- [17] CONTINENTAL. Continental Strategy Focuses on Automated Driving. https://www. continental-corporation.com/en/press/press-releases/automate d-driving-128072, 2012. 9
- [18] QUALCOMM. Snapdragon 820 Automotive Platform. https://www.qualcomm.com /products/snapdragon/processors/820-automotive, 2016. 11
- [19] NXP. MPC577xK: Ultra-Reliable MPC577xK MCU for Automotive ADAS & Industrial Radar Applications. https://www.nxp.com/products/processors-and-

microcontrollers/power-architecture-processors/mpc5xxx-55xx-32-bit-mcus/ultra-reliable-mpc57xx-32-bit-automotive-indus trial-microcontrollers-mcus/ultra-reliable-mpc577xk-mcu-fo r-automotive-adas-industrial-radar-applications:MPC577xK, 2016. 11

- [20] NVIDIA. NVIDIA DRIVE PX: Scalable AI Supercomputer For Autonomous Driving. ht tps://www.nvidia.com/en-us/self-driving-cars/drive-px/, 2017. 11
- [21] FRED W RAUSKOLB, KAI BERGER, CHRISTIAN LIPSKI, MARCUS MAGNOR, KARSTEN CORNELSEN, JAN EFFERTZ, THOMAS FORM, FABIAN GRAEFE, SEBASTIAN OHL, WALTER SCHUMACHER, ET AL. Caroline: An autonomously driving vehicle for urban environments. Journal of Field Robotics (JFR), 25(9):674-724, 2008. 11
- [22] JONAS MÅRTENSSON, ASSAD ALAM, SAGAR BEHERE, MUHAMMAD ALTAMASH AHMED KHAN, JOAKIM KJELLBERG, KUO-YUN LIANG, HENRIK PETTERSSON, AND DENNIS SUNDMAN. The development of a cooperative heavy-duty vehicle for the GCDC 2011: Team Scoop. IEEE Transactions on Intelligent Transportation Systems (TITS), 13(3):1033–1049, 2012. 11
- [23] ANDREAS GEIGER, MARTIN LAUER, FRANK MOOSMANN, BENJAMIN RANFT, HOLGER RAPP, CHRISTOPH STILLER, AND JULIUS ZIEGLER. Team AnnieWAY's entry to the 2011 grand cooperative driving challenge. IEEE Transactions on Intelligent Transportation Systems (TITS), 13(3):1008–1017, 2012. 11
- [24] MICHAEL MONTEMERLO, JAN BECKER, SUHRID BHAT, HENDRIK DAHLKAMP, DMITRI DOLGOV, SCOTT ETTINGER, DIRK HAEHNEL, TIM HILDEN, GABE HOFFMANN, BURKHARD HUHNKE, ET AL. Junior: The stanford entry in the urban challenge. Journal of Field Robotics (JFR), 25(9):569– 597, 2008. 11
- [25] CHRIS URMSON, JOSHUA ANHALT, DREW BAGNELL, CHRISTOPHER BAKER, ROBERT BITTNER, MN CLARK, JOHN DOLAN, DAVE DUGGINS, TUGRUL GALATALI, CHRIS GEYER, ET AL. Autonomous driving in urban environments: Boss and the urban challenge. Journal of Field Robotics (JFR), 25(8):425-466, 2008. 11
- [26] INWOOK SHIM, JONGWON CHOI, SEUNGHAK SHIN, TAE-HYUN OH, UNGHUI LEE, BYUNGTAE AHN, DONG-GEOL CHOI, DAVID HYUNCHUL SHIM, AND IN-SO KWEON. An autonomous driving system for unknown environments using a unified map. IEEE Transactions on Intelligent Transportation Systems (TITS), 16(4):1999–2013, 2015. 11

- [27] KICHUN JO, JUNSOO KIM, DONGCHUL KIM, CHULHOON JANG, AND MYOUNGHO SUNWOO. Development of autonomous car-Part II: A case study on the implementation of an autonomous driving system based on distributed architecture. IEEE Transactions on Industrial Electronics (TIE), 62(8):5119-5132, 2015. 11
- [28] STEFANOS KOKOGIAS, LARS SVENSSON, GONÇALO COLLARES PEREIRA, RUI OLIVEIRA, XINHAI ZHANG, XINWU SONG, AND JONAS MÅRTENSSON. Development of Platform-Independent System for Cooperative Automated Driving Evaluated in GCDC 2016. IEEE Transactions on Intelligent Transportation Systems (TITS), 2017. 11
- [29] KHRONOS GROUP. OpenCL Overview. https://www.khronos.org/opencl/, 2017.13
- [30] KAI HUANG, BIAO HU, JAN BOTSCH, NIKHIL MADDURI, AND ALOIS KNOLL. A scalable lane detection algorithm on cotss with OpenCL. In Design, Automation & Test in Europe Conference & Exhibition (DATE), pages 229–232. IEEE, 2016. 17, 25, 26
- [31] XIEBING WANG, LINLIN LIU, KAI HUANG, AND ALOIS KNOLL. Exploring FPGA-GPU Heterogeneous Architecture for ADAS: Towards Performance and Energy. In International Conference on Algorithms and Architectures for Parallel Processing (ICA3PP), pages 33–48. Springer, 2017. 18, 24, 62
- [32] XIEBING WANG, CHRISTOPHER KIWUS, CANHAO WU, BIAO HU, KAI HUANG, AND ALOIS KNOLL. Implementing and Parallelizing Real-time Lane Detection on Heterogeneous Platforms. In IEEE 29th International Conference on Application-specific Systems, Architectures and Processors (ASAP), pages 1–8. IEEE, 2018. 24
- [33] ALBERT S HUANG, DAVID MOORE, MATTHEW ANTONE, EDWIN OLSON, AND SETH TELLER. Finding multiple lanes in urban road networks with vision and lidar. Autonomous Robots, 26(2):103-122, 2009. 25
- [34] QINGQUAN LI, LONG CHEN, MING LI, SHIH-LUNG SHAW, AND ANDREAS NUCHTER. A sensorfusion drivable-region and lane-detection system for autonomous vehicle navigation in challenging road scenarios. IEEE Transactions on Vehicular Technology (TVT), 63(2):540– 555, 2014. 25

- [35] JUNAED SATTAR AND JIAWEI MO. SafeDrive: A Robust Lane Tracking System for Autonomous and Assisted Driving Under Limited Visibility. arXiv preprint arXiv:1701.08449, 2017. 25
- [36] BYAMBAA DORJ AND DEOK JIN LEE. A precise lane detection algorithm based on top view image transformation and least-square approaches. *Journal of Sensors*, **2016**, 2016. 25, 26
- [37] JIANWEI NIU, JIE LU, MINGLIANG XU, PEI LV, AND XIAOKE ZHAO. Robust Lane Detection using Two-stage Feature Extraction with Curve Fitting. Pattern Recognition, 59:225–233, 2016. 25
- [38] SOMCHOK SAKJIRAPHONG, ANDRE PINHO, MATTHEW N DAILEY, MONGKOL EKPANYAPONG, AND ADRIANO TAVARES. Real-time road lane detection with commodity hardware. In Proceedings of the International Electrical Engineering Congress, pages 1–4. IEEE, 2014. 25, 26, 56, 57
- [39] SHULIANG ZHU, JIANQIANG WANG, TAO YU, AND JIAO WANG. A method of lane detection and tracking for expressway based on RANSAC. In IEEE 2nd International Conference on Image, Vision and Computing, pages 62–66. IEEE, 2017. 25, 26
- [40] HUACHUN TAN, YANG ZHOU, YONG ZHU, DANYA YAO, AND KEQIANG LI. A novel curve lane detection based on improved river flow and ransa. In IEEE 17th International Conference on Intelligent Transportation Systems (ITSC), pages 133–138. IEEE, 2014. 25, 26
- [41] HANYU XUAN, HONGZHE LIU, JIAZHENG YUAN, AND QING LI. Robust Lane-mark Extraction for Autonomous Driving under Complex Real Conditions. IEEE Access, 2017. 25, 26
- [42] JONGIN SON, HUNJAE YOO, SANGHOON KIM, AND KWANGHOON SOHN. Real-time illumination invariant lane detection for lane departure warning system. Expert Systems with Applications, 42(4):1816–1824, 2015. 25
- [43] HUNJAE YOO, UKIL YANG, AND KWANGHOON SOHN. Gradient-enhancing conversion for illumination-robust lane detection. IEEE Transactions on Intelligent Transportation Systems (TITS), 14(3):1083–1094, 2013. 25, 26
- [44] WENJIE LU, EMMANUEL SEIGNEZ, ROGER REYNAUD, ET AL. Monocular multi-kernel based lane marking detection. In IEEE 4th Annual International Conference on Cyber Technology in Automation, Control, and Intelligent Systems, pages 123–128. IEEE, 2014. 26

- [45] SEUNG-NAM KANG, SOOMOK LEE, JUNHWA HUR, AND SEUNG-WOO SEO. Multi-lane detection based on accurate geometric lane estimation in highway scenarios. In IEEE Intelligent Vehicles Symposium (IV), pages 221–226. IEEE, 2014. 26
- [46] TIN TRUNG DUONG, CUONG CAO PHAM, TAI HUU-PHUONG TRAN, TIEN PHUOC NGUYEN, AND JAE WOOK JEON. Near real-time ego-lane detection in highway and urban streets. In IEEE International Conference on Consumer Electronics-Asia, pages 1–4. IEEE, 2016. 26
- [47] RAGHURAMAN GOPALAN, TSAI HONG, MICHAEL SHNEIER, AND RAMA CHELLAPPA. A learning approach towards detection and tracking of lane markings. IEEE Transactions on Intelligent Transportation Systems (TITS), 13(3):1088–1098, 2012. 26
- [48] MARTIN A FISCHLER AND ROBERT C BOLLES. Random sample consensus: a paradigm for model fitting with applications to image analysis and automated cartography. Communications of the ACM (CACM), 24(6):381–395, 1981. 26, 64
- [49] XIANGJING AN, ERKE SHANG, JINZE SONG, JIAN LI, AND HANGEN HE. Real-time lane departure warning system based on a single FPGA. EURASIP Journal on Image and Video Processing, 2013(1):38, 2013. 26, 57
- [50] ROBERTO MARZOTTO, PAUL ZORATTI, DANIELE BAGNI, ANDREA COLOMBARI, AND VITTORIO MURINO. A real-time versatile roadway path extraction and tracking on an FPGA platform. Computer Vision and Image Understanding, 114(11):1164–1179, 2010. 26, 57
- [51] MICHAEL HAHNLE, FRERK SAXEN, MATTHIAS HISUNG, ULRICH BRUNSMANN, AND KONRAD DOLL. FPGA-based real-time pedestrian detection on high-resolution images. In Proceedings of the IEEE Conference on Computer Vision and Pattern Recognition Workshops (CVPRW), pages 629–635, 2013. 26, 56, 57
- [52] РЕТКО GEORGIEV, NICHOLAS D LANE, CECILIA MASCOLO, AND DAVID CHU. Accelerating Mobile Audio Sensing Algorithms through On-Chip GPU Offloading. In Proceedings of the 15th Annual International Conference on Mobile Systems, Applications, and Services (MobiSys), pages 306–318. ACM, 2017. 26, 56, 57
- [53] WEIJING SHI, XIN LI, ZHIYI YU, AND GARY OVERETT. An FPGA-Based Hardware Accelerator for Traffic Sign Detection. IEEE Transactions on Very Large Scale Integration Systems (TVLSI), 25(4):1362–1372, 2017. 26, 56, 57

- [54] IRVIN SOBEL. An isotropic 3× 3 image gradient operator. Machine Vision for threedemensional Sciences, 1990. 27
- [55] NEIL J GORDON, DAVID J SALMOND, AND ADRIAN FM SMITH. Novel approach to nonlinear/non-Gaussian Bayesian state estimation. In IEE Proceedings F-Radar and Signal Processing, 140, pages 107–113. IET, 1993. 29
- [56] DAVID B. THOMAS. The MWC64X Random Number Generator. http://cas.ee.ic. ac.uk/people/dt10/research/rngs-gpu-mwc64x.html, 2011. 31
- [57] MOHAMED ALY. Real time detection of lane markers in urban streets. In IEEE Intelligent Vehicles Symposium (IV), pages 7–12. IEEE, 2008. 34, 35, 36
- [58] HUI KONG, JEAN-YVES AUDIBERT, AND JEAN PONCE. General road detection from a single image. IEEE Transactions on Image Processing (TIP), 19(8):2211–2220, 2010. 35
- [59] INTEL. Intel<sup>®</sup> FPGA SDK for OpenCL<sup>TM</sup>. https://www.intel.com/content/da m/www/programmable/us/en/pdfs/literature/hb/opencl-sdk/aoclbest-practices-guide.pdf, 2017. 43
- [60] MOHAMED ALY. Caltech Lanes. http://www.vision.caltech.edu/malaa/dat asets/caltech-lanes, 2014. 43, 64
- [61] JEREMY FOWERS, GREG BROWN, PATRICK COOKE, AND GREG STITT. A performance and energy comparison of FPGAs, GPUs, and multicores for sliding-window applications. In Proceedings of the ACM/SIGDA International Symposium on Field Programmable Gate Arrays (ISF-PGA), pages 47–56. ACM, 2012. 43
- [62] INTEL. PowerPlay Early Power Estimators and Power Analyzer. https://www.inte l.com/content/www/us/en/programmable/support/support-resourc es/operation-and-testing/power/pow-powerplay.html, 2017. 43
- [63] WEIYAN WANG, YUNQUAN ZHANG, SHENGEN YAN, YING ZHANG, AND HAIPENG JIA. Parallelization and performance optimization on face detection algorithm with OpenCL: A case study. Tsinghua Science and Technology, 17(3):287–295, 2012. 56, 57
- [64] XUECHAO WEI, YUN LIANG, TAO WANG, SONGWU LU, AND JASON CONG. Throughput optimization for streaming applications on CPU-FPGA heterogeneous systems. In 22nd Asia and South Pacific Design Automation Conference (ASP-DAC), pages 488–493. IEEE, 2017. 56, 57

- [65] ROBERT DIETRICH AND RONNY TSCHÜTER. A generic infrastructure for OpenCL performance analysis. In IEEE 8th International Conference on Intelligent Data Acquisition and Advanced Computing Systems: Technology and Applications (IDAACS), 1, pages 334–341. IEEE, 2015. 57
- [66] DAVIDE GADIOLI, SIMONE LIBUTTI, GIUSEPPE MASSARI, EDOARDO PAONE, MICHELE SCANDALE, PATRICK BELLASI, GIANLUCA PALERMO, VITTORIO ZACCARIA, GIOVANNI AGOSTA, WILLIAM FOR-NACIARI, AND CRISTINA SILVANO. Opencl application auto-tuning and run-time resource management for multi-core platforms. In IEEE International Symposium on Parallel and Distributed Processing with Applications (ISPA), pages 127–133. IEEE, 2014. 57
- [67] THIBAUT LUTZ, CHRISTIAN FENSCH, AND MURRAY COLE. Helium: a transparent inter-kernel optimizer for OpenCL. In Proceedings of the 8th Workshop on General Purpose Processing using GPUs (GPGPU), pages 70–80. ACM, 2015. 57
- [68] PERHAAD MISTRY, CHRIS GREGG, NORMAN RUBIN, DAVID KAELI, AND KIM HAZELWOOD. Analyzing program flow within a many-kernel OpenCL application. In Proceedings of the 4th Workshop on General Purpose Processing on Graphics Processing Units (GPGPU), page 10. ACM, 2011. 57
- [69] JIALIANG ZHANG AND JING LI. Improving the Performance of OpenCL-based FPGA Accelerator for Convolutional Neural Network. In Proceedings of the ACM/SIGDA International Symposium on Field-Programmable Gate Arrays (ISFPGA), pages 25–34. ACM, 2017. 57
- [70] NAVEEN SUDA, VIKAS CHANDRA, GANESH DASIKA, ABINASH MOHANTY, YUFEI MA, SARMA VRUD-HULA, JAE-SUN SEO, AND YU CAO. Throughput-optimized OpenCL-based FPGA accelerator for large-scale convolutional neural networks. In Proceedings of the ACM/SIGDA International Symposium on Field-Programmable Gate Arrays (ISFPGA), pages 16–25. ACM, 2016. 57
- [71] YANG XING, CHEN LV, LONG CHEN, HUAJI WANG, HONG WANG, DONGPU CAO, EFSTATHIOS VE-LENIS, AND FEI-YUE WANG. Advances in Vision-Based Lane Detection: Algorithms, Integration, Assessment, and Perspectives on ACP-Based Parallel Vision. IEEE/CAA Journal of Automatica Sinica, 5(3):645-661, 2018. 57
- [72] CALUM BLAIR, NEIL M ROBERTSON, AND DANNY HUME. Characterizing a heterogeneous system for person detection in video using histograms of oriented gradients: Power versus speed versus accuracy. IEEE Journal on Emerging and Selected Topics in Circuits and Systems, 3(2):236-247, 2013. 57

- [73] MATTHEW YIH, JEFFREY M OTA, JOHN D OWENS, AND PINAR MUYAN-ÖZÇELIK. FPGA versus GPU for Speed-Limit-Sign Recognition. In IEEE 21st International Conference on Intelligent Transportation Systems (ITSC), pages 843–850. IEEE, 2018. 57
- [74] AKIRA NUKADA AND SATOSHI MATSUOKA. Auto-tuning 3-D FFT library for CUDA GPUs. In Proceedings of International Conference on High Performance Computing Networking, Storage and Analysis (SC), page 30. ACM, 2009. 77, 105
- [75] ALEXANDER MONAKOV, ANTON LOKHMOTOV, AND ARUTYUN AVETISYAN. Automatically Tuning Sparse Matrix-Vector Multiplication for GPU Architectures. In 5th International Conference on High-Performance Embedded Architectures and Compilers (HiPEAC), pages 111–125. Springer, 2010. 77
- [76] JEE W CHOI, AMIK SINGH, AND RICHARD W VUDUC. Model-driven autotuning of sparse matrix-vector multiply on GPUs. In ACM SIGPLAN notices, 45, pages 115–126. ACM, 2010.
   77
- [77] ANDREW DAVIDSON, YAO ZHANG, AND JOHN D OWENS. An auto-tuned method for solving large tridiagonal systems on the GPU. In IEEE 25th International Symposium on Parallel and Distributed Processing (IPDPS), pages 956–965. IEEE, 2011. 77
- [78] CEDRIC NUGTEREN AND VALERIU CODREANU. CLTune: A generic auto-tuner for OpenCL kernels. In IEEE 9th International Symposium on Embedded Multicore/Many-core Systems-on-Chip (MCSoC), pages 195–202. IEEE, 2015. 77, 104, 105
- [79] THOMAS L FALCH AND ANNE C ELSTER. Machine learning based auto-tuning for enhanced OpenCL performance portability. In IEEE International Parallel and Distributed Processing Symposium Workshop (IPDPSW), pages 1231–1240. IEEE, 2015. 77, 104, 105
- [80] NEWSHA ARDALANI, CLINT LESTOURGEON, KARTHIKEYAN SANKARALINGAM, AND XIAOJIN ZHU. Cross-architecture performance prediction (XAPP) using CPU code to predict GPU performance. In Proceedings of the 48th International Symposium on Microarchitecture (MICRO), pages 725–737. ACM, 2015. 78, 80
- [81] GENE WU, JOSEPH L GREATHOUSE, ALEXANDER LYASHEVSKY, NUWAN JAYASENA, AND DEREK CHIOU. GPGPU performance and power estimation using machine learning. In IEEE 21st International Symposium on High Performance Computer Architecture (HPCA), pages 564– 576. IEEE, 2015. 78, 80

- [82] KENNETH O'NEAL, PHILIP BRISK, AHMED ABOUSAMRA, ZACK WATERS, AND EMILY SHRIVER. GPU Performance Estimation using Software Rasterization and Machine Learning. ACM Transactions on Embedded Computing Systems (TECS), 16(5s):148, 2017. 78, 80
- [83] SOULEY MADOUGOU, ANA VARBANESCU, CEES DE LAAT, AND ROB VAN NIEUWPOORT. The landscape of GPGPU performance modeling tools. Parallel Computing, 56:18-33, 2016. 78
- [84] ZHIBIN YU, LIEVEN EECKHOUT, NILANJAN GOSWAMI, TAO LI, LIZY JOHN, HAI JIN, AND CHENGZHONG XU. Accelerating GPGPU architecture simulation. In ACM SIGMETRICS Performance Evaluation Review, 41, pages 331–332. ACM, 2013. 78
- [85] JEN-CHENG HUANG, LIFENG NAI, HYESOON KIM, AND HSIEN-HSIN S LEE. TBPoint: Reducing simulation time for large-scale GPGPU kernels. In IEEE 28th International Parallel and Distributed Processing Symposium (IPDPS), pages 437–446. IEEE, 2014. 78
- [86] CHRIS LATTNER AND VIKRAM ADVE. LLVM: A compilation framework for lifelong program analysis & transformation. In Proceedings of 2nd IEEE/ACM International Symposium on Code Generation and Optimization (CGO), page 75. IEEE Computer Society, 2004. 78, 105
- [87] SANGPIL LEE AND WON WOO RO. Parallel GPU architecture simulation framework exploiting work allocation unit parallelism. In IEEE International Symposium on Performance Analysis of Systems and Software (ISPASS), pages 107–117. IEEE, 2013. 78, 100
- [88] GEETIKA MALHOTRA, SEEP GOEL, AND SMRUTI R SARANGI. Gputejas: A parallel simulator for gpu architectures. In IEEE 21st International Conference on High Performance Computing (HiPC), pages 1–10. IEEE, 2014. 78, 100
- [89] KARTHIK GANESAN, JUNGHO JO, AND LIZY K JOHN. Synthesizing memory-level parallelism aware miniature clones for spec cpu2006 and implantbench workloads. In IEEE International Symposium on Performance Analysis of Systems & Software (ISPASS), pages 33–44. IEEE, 2010. 79
- [90] REENA PANDA, XINNIAN ZHENG, SHUANG SONG, JEE HO RYOO, MICHAEL LEBEANE, ANDREAS GERSTLAUER, AND LIZY K JOHN. Genesys: Automatically generating representative training sets for predictive benchmarking. In International Conference on Embedded Computer Systems: Architectures, Modeling and Simulation (SAMOS), pages 116–123. IEEE, 2016. 79

- [91] JIAN CHEN, LIZY KURIAN JOHN, AND DIMITRIS KASERIDIS. Modeling program resource demand using inherent program characteristics. In Proceedings of the ACM SIGMETRICS International Conference on Measurement and modeling of computer systems, pages 1–12. ACM, 2011. 79
- [92] XINNIAN ZHENG, HARIS VIKALO, SHUANG SONG, LIZY K JOHN, AND ANDREAS GERSTLAUER. Sampling-based binary-level cross-platform performance estimation. In Proceedings of the Conference on Design, Automation & Test in Europe (DATE), pages 1713–1718. European Design and Automation Association, 2017. 79
- [93] SUNPYO HONG AND HYESOON KIM. An analytical model for a GPU architecture with memory-level and thread-level parallelism awareness. In ACM SIGARCH Computer Architecture News, 37, pages 152–163. ACM, 2009. 79
- [94] KISHORE KOTHAPALLI, RISHABH MUKHERJEE, M SUHAIL REHMAN, SURYAKANT PATIDAR, PJ NARAYANAN, AND KANNAN SRINATHAN. A performance prediction model for the CUDA GPGPU platform. In IEEE 16th International Conference on High Performance Computing (HiPC), pages 463–472. IEEE, 2009. 79
- [95] LESLIE G VALIANT. A bridging model for parallel computation. Communications of the ACM (CACM), 33(8):103–111, 1990. 79
- [96] STEVEN FORTUNE AND JAMES WYLLIE. Parallelism in random access machines. In Proceedings of the 10th Annual ACM Symposium on Theory of Computing (STOC), pages 114–118. ACM, 1978. 79
- [97] PHILLIP B GIBBONS, YOSSI MATIAS, AND VIJAYA RAMACHANDRAN. The Queue-Read Queue-Write PRAM model: Accounting for contention in parallel algorithms. SIAM Journal on Computing, pages 638–648, 1997. 79
- [98] MARCOS AMARÍS, DANIEL CORDEIRO, ALFREDO GOLDMAN, AND RAPHAEL Y DE CAMARGO. A simple bsp-based model to predict execution time in gpu applications. In IEEE 22nd International Conference on High Performance Computing (HiPC), pages 285–294. IEEE, 2015. 79
- [99] SARA S BAGHSORKHI, MATTHIEU DELAHAYE, SANJAY J PATEL, WILLIAM D GROPP, AND WEN-MEI W HWU. An adaptive performance modeling tool for GPU architectures. In ACM SIGPLAN Notices, 45, pages 105–114. ACM, 2010. 79

- [100] YAO ZHANG AND JOHN D OWENS. A quantitative performance analysis model for GPU architectures. In IEEE 17th International Symposium on High Performance Computer Architecture (HPCA), pages 382–393. IEEE, 2011. 79
- [101] SHUAIWEN SONG, CHUNYI SU, BARRY ROUNTREE, AND KIRK W CAMERON. A simplified and accurate model of power-performance efficiency on emergent GPU architectures. In IEEE 27th International Symposium on Parallel and Distributed Processing (IPDPS), pages 673– 686. IEEE, 2013. 79
- [102] QIANG WANG AND XIAOWEN CHU. GPGPU performance estimation with core and memory frequency scaling. In IEEE 24th International Conference on Parallel and Distributed Systems (ICPADS), pages 417–424. IEEE, 2018. 79
- [103] KEREN ZHOU, GUANGMING TAN, XIUXIA ZHANG, CHAOWEI WANG, AND NINGHUI SUN. A performance analysis framework for exploiting GPU microarchitectural capability. In Proceedings of the International Conference on Supercomputing (ICS), page 15. ACM, 2017. 79
- [104] IOANA BALDINI, STEPHEN J FINK, AND ERIK ALTMAN. Predicting gpu performance from cpu runs using machine learning. In IEEE 26th International Symposium on Computer Architecture and High Performance Computing (SBAC-PAD), pages 254–261. IEEE, 2014. 80
- [105] YING ZHANG, YUE HU, BIN LI, AND LU PENG. Performance and power analysis of ATI GPU: A statistical approach. In IEEE 6th International Conference on Networking, Architecture and Storage (NAS), pages 149–158. IEEE, 2011. 80
- [106] MARCOS AMARÍS, RAPHAEL Y DE CAMARGO, MOHAMED DYAB, ALFREDO GOLDMAN, AND DENIS TRYSTRAM. A comparison of GPU execution time prediction using machine learning and analytical modeling. In IEEE 15th International Symposium on Network Computing and Applications (NCA), pages 326–333. IEEE, 2016. 80
- [107] THANH TUAN DAO, JUNGWON KIM, SANGMIN SEO, BERNHARD EGGER, AND JAEJIN LEE. A performance model for gpus with caches. IEEE Transactions on Parallel and Distributed Systems (TPDS), 26(7):1800–1813, 2015. 80
- [108] CHRISTOPH GERUM, OLIVER BRINGMANN, AND WOLFGANG ROSENSTIEL. Source level performance simulation of gpu cores. In Proceedings of the 2015 Design, Automation & Test in Europe Conference & Exhibition (DATE), pages 217–222. EDA Consortium, 2015. 80

- [109] SYLVAIN COLLANGE, MARC DAUMAS, DAVID DEFOUR, AND DAVID PARELLO. Barra: A parallel functional simulator for gpgpu. In 18th Annual IEEE/ACM International Symposium on Modeling, Analysis and Simulation of Computer and Telecommunication Systems (MASCOTS), pages 351–360. IEEE, 2010. 80
- [110] GREGORY FREDERICK DIAMOS, ANDREW ROBERT KERR, SUDHAKAR YALAMANCHILI, AND NATHAN CLARK. Ocelot: a dynamic optimization framework for bulk-synchronous applications in heterogeneous systems. In Proceedings of the 19th International Conference on Parallel Architectures and Compilation Techniques (PACT), pages 353–364. ACM, 2010. 80
- [111] RAGHURAMAN BALASUBRAMANIAN, VINAY GANGADHAR, ZILIANG GUO, CHEN-HAN HO, CHERIN JOSEPH, JAIKRISHNAN MENON, MARIO PAULO DRUMOND, ROBIN PAUL, SHARATH PRASAD, PRADIP VALATHOL, AND KARTHIKEYAN SANKARALINGAM. Enabling GPGPU low-level hardware explorations with MIAOW: an open-source RTL implementation of a GPGPU. ACM Transactions on Architecture and Code Optimization (TACO), 12(2):21, 2015. 80
- [112] ZHIBIN YU, LIEVEN EECKHOUT, NILANJAN GOSWAMI, TAO LI, LIZY K JOHN, HAI JIN, CHENGZHONG XU, AND JUNMIN WU. GPGPU-MiniBench: Accelerating GPGPU micro-architecture simulation. IEEE Transactions on Computers (TC), 64(11):3153–3166, 2015. 81
- [113] KISHORE PUNNIYAMURTHY, BEHZAD BOROUJERDIAN, AND ANDREAS GERSTLAUER. GATSim: abstract timing simulation of GPUs. In Proceedings of the Conference on Design, Automation & Test in Europe (DATE), pages 43–48. European Design and Automation Association, 2017. 81
- [114] JEE HO RYOO, SADDAM J QUIREM, MICHAEL LEBEANE, REENA PANDA, SHUANG SONG, AND LIZY K
  JOHN. Gpgpu benchmark suites: How well do they sample the performance spectrum?
  In 44th International Conference on Parallel Processing (ICPP), pages 320–329. IEEE, 2015. 81
- [115] REENA PANDA, XINNIAN ZHENG, JIAJUN WANG, ANDREAS GERSTLAUER, AND LIZY K JOHN. Statistical pattern based modeling of GPU memory access streams. In Proceedings of the 54th Annual Design Automation Conference (DAC), page 81. ACM, 2017. 81
- [116] XIAOFEI XIE, BIHUAN CHEN, LIANG ZOU, YANG LIU, WEI LE, AND XIAOHONG LI. Automatic Loop Summarization via Path Dependency Analysis. IEEE Transactions on Software Engineering (TSE), (1):1–1, 2017. 83

- [117] MORITZ SINN AND FLORIAN ZULEGER. Loopus: A Tool for Computing Loop Bounds for C Programs. In Proceedings of the Workshop on Invariant Generation (WING), pages 185–186, 2010. 83
- [118] ROBERT A VAN ENGELEN. Efficient symbolic analysis for optimizing compilers. In International Conference on Compiler Construction (CC), pages 118–132. Springer, 2001. 83
- [119] HENRY WONG, MISEL-MYRTO PAPADOPOULOU, MARYAM SADOOGHI-ALVANDI, AND ANDREAS MOSHOVOS. Demystifying GPU microarchitecture through microbenchmarking. In IEEE International Symposium on Performance Analysis of Systems & Software (ISPASS), pages 235–246. IEEE, 2010. 90
- [120] XINXIN MEI AND XIAOWEN CHU. Dissecting GPU memory hierarchy through microbenchmarking. IEEE Transactions on Parallel and Distributed Systems (TPDS), 28(1):72–86, 2017. 90
- [121] SIQI WANG, GUANWEN ZHONG, AND TULIKA MITRA. CGPredict: Embedded GPU Performance Estimation from Single-Threaded Applications. ACM Transactions on Embedded Computing Systems (TECS), 16(5s):146, 2017. 90
- [122] PETER THOMAN, KLAUS KOFLER, HEIKO STUDT, JOHN THOMSON, AND THOMAS FAHRINGER. Automatic OpenCL device characterization: guiding optimized kernel design. In 17th International European Conference on Parallel Processing (Euro-Par), pages 438–452. Springer, 2011.
  92
- [123] JASON ANSEL, SHOAIB KAMIL, KALYAN VEERAMACHANENI, JONATHAN RAGAN-KELLEY, JEFFREY BOSBOOM, UNA-MAY O'REILLY, AND SAMAN AMARASINGHE. Opentuner: an extensible framework for program autotuning. In Proceedings of the 23rd International Conference on Parallel Architectures and Compilation (PACT), pages 303–316. ACM, 2014. 104, 105
- [124] SHANE RYOO, CHRISTOPHER RODRIGUES, SAM STONE, SARA BAGHSORKHI, SAIN-ZEE UENG, JOHN STRATTON, AND WEN-MEI HWU. Program optimization space pruning for a multithreaded GPU. In Proceedings of the 6th Annual IEEE/ACM International Symposium on Code Generation and Optimization (CGO), pages 195–204. ACM, 2008. 104, 105
- [125] THANH TUAN DAO AND JAEJIN LEE. An Auto-Tuner for OpenCL Work-Group Size on GPUs. IEEE Transactions on Parallel & Distributed Systems (TPDS), pages 283–296, 2018. 104, 105

- [126] CHANGHAO JIANG AND MARC SNIR. Automatic tuning matrix multiplication performance on graphics hardware. In 14th International Conference on Parallel Architectures and Compilation Techniques (PACT), pages 185–194. IEEE, 2005. 105
- [127] SAMUEL WILLIAMS, LEONID OLIKER, RICHARD VUDUC, JOHN SHALF, KATHERINE YELICK, AND JAMES DEMMEL. Optimization of sparse matrix-vector multiplication on emerging multicore platforms. In Proceedings of the ACM/IEEE Conference on Supercomputing (ICS), pages 1–12. IEEE, 2007. 105
- [128] KAUSHIK DATTA, MARK MURPHY, VASILY VOLKOV, SAMUEL WILLIAMS, JONATHAN CARTER, LEONID OLIKER, DAVID PATTERSON, JOHN SHALF, AND KATHERINE YELICK. Stencil computation optimization and auto-tuning on state-of-the-art multicore architectures. In Proceedings of the ACM/IEEE Conference on Supercomputing (ICS). IEEE, 2008. 105
- [129] ROBERT LIM, BOYANA NORRIS, AND ALLEN MALONY. Autotuning GPU Kernels via Static and Predictive Analysis. In 46th International Conference on Parallel Processing (ICPP), pages 523–532. IEEE, 2017. 105
- [130] SANGMIN SEO, JUN LEE, GANGWON JO, AND JAEJIN LEE. Automatic OpenCL work-group size selection for multicore CPUs. In 22nd International Conference on Parallel Architectures and Compilation Techniques (PACT), pages 387–397. IEEE, 2013. 105
- [131] SIMON MOLL, JOHANNES DOERFERT, AND SEBASTIAN HACK. Input space splitting for OpenCL.
  In 25th International Conference on Compiler Construction (CC), pages 251–260. ACM, 2016. 105
- [132] XIEBING WANG, KAI HUANG, ALOIS KNOLL, AND XUEHAI QIAN. A Hybrid Framework for Fast and Accurate GPU Performance Estimation through Source-Level Analysis and Trace-Based Simulation. In IEEE 25th International Symposium on High Performance Computer Architecture (HPCA), pages 506–518. IEEE, 2019. 109